
Table of Contents

 

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
 

FORM 10-K
 

x  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
 

Commission File No. 0-14710
 

XOMA Ltd.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 
Bermuda  52-2154066

(State or other jurisdiction
of incorporation or organization)  

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2910 Seventh Street, Berkeley,
California 94710  (510) 204-7200

(Address of principal executive offices,
including zip code)  

(Telephone Number)

 
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

 
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Common Shares, U.S. $.0005 par value
Preference Share Purchase Rights

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the

preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days.  Yes  x    No  ¨
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).  Yes  x    No  ¨
 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  ¨
 

The approximate aggregate market value of voting shares held by non-affiliates of the registrant is $376,230,664 as of June 30, 2004.
 

Number of Common Shares outstanding as of March 9, 2005: 85,825,478
 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:
 

Portions of the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2005 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Report.
 



Table of Contents

 XOMA Ltd.
 

2004 Form 10-K Annual Report
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
 
PART I       

    Item 1.   Business   1

    Item 2.   Properties   14

    Item 3.   Legal Proceedings   15

    Item 4.   Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders   15

PART II       

    Item 5.   Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities   17

    Item 6.   Selected Financial Data   19

    Item 7.   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations   20

    Item 7A.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk   41

    Item 8.   Financial Statements and Supplementary Data   41

    Item 9.   Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure   41

    Item 9A.   Controls and Procedures   41

PART III       

    Item 10.   Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant   44

    Item 11.   Executive Compensation   44

    Item 12.   Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters   44

    Item 13.   Certain Relationships and Related Transactions   44

    Item 14.   Principal Accounting Fees and Services   44

PART IV       

    Item 15.   Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules   45

SIGNATURES   46

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   F-1

INDEX TO EXHIBITS   1
 

i



Table of Contents

PART I
 
 Item 1.    Business
 
Overview
 

XOMA Ltd. is a biopharmaceutical company that identifies, develops and manufactures antibodies and other genetically-engineered protein products to treat
immunological and inflammatory disorders, cancer and infectious diseases. We leverage our preclinical, process development, manufacturing, quality and clinical development
capabilities for development of our proprietary products and by entering into agreements to collaborate on the development of products with other companies. We also have
proprietary technologies relating to recombinant antibodies and proteins, including bacterial cell expression systems and our Human Engineering™ method for creating human-
like antibodies. These technologies are used in our own development programs and are also available for outlicensing.
 

Strategy
 

Our strategy is to develop and manufacture antibodies and other recombinant protein products to treat immunological and inflammatory disorders, cancer and infectious
diseases. In addition to developing proprietary products, we enter into collaborations with other companies and research institutions. Our objective in these collaborations is to
leverage our development infrastructure to broaden and strengthen our product pipeline beyond what we can accomplish with proprietary products by diversifying our
development risk and gaining financial support from our collaboration partners. Our goal is to achieve profitability over the next few years while continuing to strengthen our
product pipeline. We recognize the challenging nature of this goal, and the principal elements of our strategy are to:
 

 
• Continue to build a portfolio of medically-important product candidates.    We are building a pipeline of product candidates in multiple stages of clinical and

preclinical development in a variety of therapeutic areas. We believe this tactic may increase the likelihood of successful product approval and commercialization,
while reducing our exposure to the risk inherent in the development of any one drug or focusing on a single therapeutic area.

 

 
• Seek to license or acquire complementary products and technologies.    We aim to supplement our internal drug discovery efforts through the acquisition of

products and technologies that complement our internal product development strategy. We intend to continue to identify, evaluate and pursue the licensing or
acquisition of other strategically valuable products and technologies.

 

 

• Leverage our core competencies.    We believe that we have significant expertise in recombinant protein development and production, which we have used to
establish a strong platform for the development of antibody and other protein-related pharmaceutical products. Our goal is to leverage these competencies to develop
high-value products for markets with important unmet medical needs. When strategically advantageous, we may seek marketing arrangements for the further
advancement of our product candidates.

 

 
• Outlicense select product candidates.    We have additional internally developed product candidates that we will consider outlicensing when we believe that it will

bring us additional financial resources and increase the likelihood of regulatory approval and successful commercialization of such products in the United States
and internationally.

 
 • Utilize excess manufacturing capacity.    We currently have manufacturing capacity available in excess of our needs for our own proprietary and collaborative

products. We are actively seeking additional relationships that would utilize this capacity and bring us additional financial resources.
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Products
 

Below is a summary of our current products and stages of clinical development:
 

 

• RAPTIVA® (Efalizumab) with Genentech, Inc. (“Genentech”).    RAPTIVA® is a humanized therapeutic monoclonal antibody developed to treat immune
system disorders. RAPTIVA® is the first biologic therapy designed to provide long-term control of chronic moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis and can be self-
administered by patients as a single, once-weekly subcutaneous injection. On October 27, 2003, the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approved RAPTIVA®

for the treatment of adults with chronic moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy. Genentech has been
marketing RAPTIVA® in the United States since November of 2003. In September of 2004, Serono, S.A. (“Serono”), Genentech’s international marketing partner
for RAPTIVA®, announced that RAPTIVA® had received approval for use in the European Union. By the end of 2004, Serono had launched RAPTIVA® in thirteen
countries worldwide. In March of 2004, Genentech disclosed its intention to launch clinical testing of RAPTIVA® in atopic dermatitis.

 

 

• CHIR-12.12 with Chiron Corporation (“Chiron”) is an anti-CD40 antagonist antibody intended as a treatment for B-cell malignancies. This antibody has a dual
mechanism of action blocking a tumor cell growth and survival signal as well as recruiting immune effector cells to kill tumor cells. CHIR-12.12 is the first product
candidate selected under the multi-product antibody development and commercialization agreement for the treatment of cancer announced by Chiron and ourselves
in March of 2004. The first Investigative New Drug (“IND”) filing took place in December of 2004. Initial Phase I studies in B-cell malignancies are expected to
begin in the first quarter of 2005.

 
 

• NEUPREX® (rBPI21) is an injectable formulation of rBPI21, a modified recombinant fragment of human bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (“BPI”). BPI
is a human host-defense protein made by a type of white blood cell that is involved in the body’s defenses against microbial infection.

 
In October of 2003, in conjunction with Children’s Medical Center Dallas, we announced the initiation of an open-label, single center, dose escalation, investigator-
sponsored, Phase I/II clinical trial of NEUPREX® in pediatric patients with congenital heart abnormalities requiring open heart surgery associated with
cardiopulmonary bypass. The study plans to investigate dosing, efficacy endpoints and safety to assess the potential for conducting larger, additional studies.

 
We have previously tested NEUPREX® in clinical trials for several infectious and inflammatory conditions including meningococcemia and are evaluating future
options for developing the product in multiple indications.

 
In November of 2004, we entered into an exclusive worldwide licensing agreement with Zephyr Sciences, Inc. (“Zephyr”) for the research, development and
commercialization of products related to BPI, including our NEUPREX® product. Our objective is to accelerate development of these products, and the agreement
includes due diligence provisions related to their development in multiple indications with Zephyr funding all future research and development activities. The
agreement does not cover BPI-derived peptide products.

 

 

• MLN2222 (also known as CAB2) with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Millennium”).    MLN2222 is a complement inhibitor under development to
potentially reduce the incidence of complications in patients undergoing surgical procedures involving the use of cardiopulmonary bypass. In December of 2003,
we announced the initiation of a Phase I clinical program for the product that will evaluate the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic
properties of MLN2222.

 
In October of 2004, we announced the amendment of our agreements with Millennium whereby Millennium assumed responsibility for all development work and
expenses for MLN2222 upon initiation of Phase II testing. We will continue to provide quantities of bulk drug substance and services requested and paid for by
Millennium for future clinical trials.
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• Anti-gastrin Mab with Aphton Corporation (“Aphton”).    In September of 2004, we announced a worldwide collaboration to develop treatments for
gastrointestinal (“GI”) and other gastrin-sensitive cancers using anti-gastrin monoclonal antibodies. Antibodies to be developed under the collaboration will bind
and neutralize the hormone gastrin 17 that is believed to be involved in tumor progression in GI cancers. Gastrin expression and the appearance of gastrin receptors
have been associated with increasing malignant characteristics of GI tumors and with poorer prognostic outcomes. Specifically, gastrin has been shown to be
involved in the progression of colorectal, stomach, liver and pancreatic cancers and inhibiting gastrin may inhibit such growth.

 

 
• ING-1 is a Human Engineered™ monoclonal antibody developed by us to specifically target tumor cells in adenocarcinoma patients. ING-1 antibodies bind with

high affinity to the Ep-CAM antigen and recruit host immune cells to kill the cancer cell. We have completed three Phase I clinical studies of ING-1, testing both
intravenous and subcutaneous formulations in patients with advanced or refractory adenocarcinomas.

 
In October of 2004, we entered into an agreement with Triton BioSystems, Inc. (“Triton”) under which Triton has in-licensed the exclusive worldwide right to use
the ING-1 monoclonal antibody with Triton’s Targeted Nano-Therapeutics™ (“TNT™”) System. The TNT™ System is an innovative product that ablates tumors by
using tiny magnetic spheres delivered, to the tumor, systemically with antibodies and heated by means of a magnetic field directed to the tumor. The combination of
the ING-1 antibody with the TNT™ System is intended to create a novel, highly selective, safe, and effective treatment for adenocarcinomas, such as breast,
colorectal, lung, ovary and prostate. ING-1 remains available for licensing outside the field covered by the Triton license.

 

 

• XMP.629 is a topical anti-bacterial formulation of a BPI-derived peptide under development as a possible treatment for acne. Certain bacteria commonly found on
human skin are associated with inflammatory lesions in acne patients. The emergence of strains resistant to current antibiotics used to treat acne has encouraged our
researchers to review the properties of the compound for this dermatological indication. In 2003, we completed two Phase I clinical trials to evaluate skin irritation
and pharmacokinetics of the compound. In January of 2004, we announced the initiation of Phase II clinical testing in patients with mild-to-moderate acne. In
August of 2004, we announced that the results of this trial were inconclusive in demonstrating a clinical benefit of XMP.629 when compared with vehicle gel, and
we are conducting further analysis to determine whether and how to continue clinical development of the product.

 

 

• TPO mimetic antibody with Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Alexion”).    In December of 2003, we formed a collaboration with Alexion for the development
and commercialization of a rationally designed human thrombopoietin (“TPO”) mimetic antibody to treat chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia. The antibody
has been designed to mimic the activity of TPO, a naturally occurring protein responsible for platelet production, while being structurally distinct. In November of
2004, in conjunction with Alexion, we determined that the lead molecule in our TPO mimetic collaboration did not meet the criteria established in the program for
continued development. The companies are evaluating next steps for the collaboration, including a potential alternative TPO mimetic compound for development.
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The following table summarizes the products that we are currently developing or that are available for licensing, including indications, FDA regulatory status and names
of our collaborators, if any:
 

Program  Description  Indication  Status  Collaborator
     
RAPTIVA®

(Efalizumab)  
Humanized anti-CD11a monoclonal antibody

 
Moderate-to-severe
plaque psoriasis  

Marketed in U.S, Europe
and other countries.  

Genentech

     
CHIR-12.12  Humanized antibody to CD40  B-cell cancers  IND submitted  Chiron
     
NEUPREX®

(Opebacan)

 

IV formulation of rBPI21, a modified recombinant fragment of
bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (rBPI21)

 

Multiple anti-
infective and anti-
endotoxin
indications  

Phase II

 

Licensed to Zephyr

     
MLN2222
(also known as
CAB2)  

Recombinant fusion protein complement inhibitor

 

Cardiopulmonary
bypass surgeries

 

Phase I

 

Millennium

     
Gastrin  Anti-Gastrin antibody  Gastric cancers  Preclinical  Aphton
     
ING-1

 

Human Engineered™ antibody to Ep-CAM

 

Adenocarcinomas

 

Phase I

 

Licensed to
Triton for use with
TNT® technology;
otherwise available
for outlicensing

     
XMP.629  Topical formulation of BPI derived anti-microbial peptide  Acne  Under evaluation  In-house

 
Below is a summary of certain proprietary technologies used by us and available for licensing to other companies:

 

 

• Bacterial Cell Expression.    Genetically engineered bacteria can be the appropriate choice for recombinant expression of target proteins for biopharmaceutical
research and development. Reasons include the relative simplicity of gene expression in bacteria as well as many years of experience culturing such species as E.
coli in laboratories and manufacturing facilities. In support of our own biopharmaceutical development efforts, company scientists have developed efficient and
cost-effective bacterial expression technologies for producing antibodies and other recombinant protein products.

 
We have granted more than 30 licenses to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies to use our patented and proprietary technologies relating to bacterial
expression of recombinant pharmaceutical products. Bacterial antibody expression is an enabling technology for the discovery and selection, as well as the
development and manufacture, of recombinant protein pharmaceuticals, including diagnostic and therapeutic antibodies for commercial purposes. Bacterial
antibody expression is also a key technology used in multiple systems for high-throughput screening of antibody domains. Expression of antibodies by phage
display technology, for example, depends upon the expression and secretion of antibody domains from bacteria as properly folded, functional proteins.
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Current licensees include but are not limited to the following companies:
 

Active Biotech AB  Celltech Therapeutics, Limited  Genentech, Inc.

Affymax, Inc.  Centocor, Inc.  Genzyme Corporation

Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  Crucell Holland B.V.  ICOS Corporation

Applied Molecular Evolution, Inc. (AME)  Diversa Corporation  Micromet AG

Avecia Limited  Dompe, s.p.a.  MorphoSys AG

Aventis Pharma Deutschland GmbH
(Hoechst)  

Dyax Corp.
 

Invitrogen Corporation

BioInvent International AB  E.I. duPont de Nemours and Company  The Medical Research Council

Biosite Incorporated  Eli Lilly and Company  Viventia Biotech, Inc.

Cambridge Antibody Technology Limited  Enzon, Inc.  ZymoGenetics, Inc.
 

These licenses are sometimes associated with broader collaboration agreements. For example, in December of 2003, we entered into a licensing and product
development agreement with Diversa Corporation (“Diversa”). Under the terms of the agreement, Diversa received a license to use our antibody expression
technology for developing antibody products independently and with collaborators and an option to a license for the production of antibodies under our patents. We
will receive a license fee and potential future milestone and royalty payments. Under the terms of the development portion of the agreement, we will combine our
respective capabilities to discover and develop antibodies. Diversa will receive research funding from us and is entitled to receive milestones and royalties on any
drugs developed under this portion of the agreement.

 

 

• Human Engineering™ is a proprietary technology that allows modification of non-human monoclonal antibodies to reduce or eliminate detectable immunogenicity
in humans. The technology uses a unique algorithm developed by us, based on analysis of the conserved structure-function relationships among antibodies. The
method defines which residues in a non-human variable region are candidates to be modified. The result is a Human Engineered™ antibody with preserved antigen
binding, structure and function and eliminated or greatly reduced immunogenicity.

 
Human Engineering technology is used in our ING-1 anti-Ep-CAM antibody product, which targets multiple adenocarcinomas and which has been licensed to
Triton for use as a targeting antibody in their TNT™ System.

 
Financial and Legal Arrangements of Product Collaborations and Licensing Arrangements
 
Current Agreements
 

Genentech
 

In April of 1996, we entered into an agreement with Genentech for the development of RAPTIVA®. In March of 2003, we entered into amended and expanded
agreements related to all aspects of the collaboration, to reflect the then current understanding between the companies. The agreements called for us to share in the development
costs and to receive a 25% share of future U.S. operating profits and losses and a royalty on sales outside the U.S. The agreements also called for Genentech to finance our share
of development costs up until first FDA marketing approval via a convertible subordinated loan, and our share of pre-launch marketing and sales costs via an additional
commercial loan facility. Under the loan agreement, upon FDA approval of the
 

5



Table of Contents

product, which occurred October 27, 2003, we elected to pay $29.6 million of the development loan in convertible preference shares and to defer repayment of the remaining
$40.0 million as an offset against future proceeds from our 25% share of U.S. operating profits on the product. On December 22, 2003, we issued the preference shares to
Genentech which are convertible into approximately 3.8 million common shares at a price of $7.75 per common share. The $13.4 million of outstanding principal and interest
on the commercial loan was payable only in cash and was paid in January and May of 2004.
 

RAPTIVA® is licensed by Genentech outside of the United States and Japan through an agreement made with Serono in August of 2002.
 

In January of 2005, we restructured our collaboration agreement with Genentech. Key elements of the new arrangement include:
 
 • The previous cost and profit sharing arrangement in the U.S. was modified. We will earn a mid-single digit royalty on worldwide sales of RAPTIVA® with an

additional royalty rate on annual sales in the United States in excess of a specified level.
 
 • Genentech agreed to discharge our obligation to pay the $40.9 million balance outstanding under the development loan and accrued interest. We will recognize the

release of this obligation as income in our first quarter 2005 financial statements.
 
 • We will no longer be responsible for funding any development or sales and marketing activities or have the right to co-promote RAPTIVA®.
 

Either party has the right to terminate upon the breach of a material obligation by the other party. The agreement remains in effect until such time as no product which is
the subject of the agreement is being developed or commercialized anywhere in the world by Genentech, its partners outside the United States, or any sublicensees of the
foregoing. This revised agreement is effective as of January 1, 2005.
 

We are entitled to receive royalties on sales of RAPTIVA® in all indications and, in March of 2005, Genentech disclosed its intention to begin clinical testing of the drug
in patients suffering from atopic dermatitis.
 

Chiron
 

In February of 2004, we entered into an exclusive, worldwide, multi-product collaboration with Chiron to develop and commercialize antibody products for the treatment
of cancer. Under the terms of the agreement, the companies agreed to jointly research, develop, and commercialize multiple antibody product candidates. The companies share
expenses and revenues, generally on a 70-30 basis, with our share being 30%. Chiron’s profit share is subject to a limited upward adjustment, which, in turn, may be reduced if
we achieve certain milestones or if Chiron elects to extend the program from three to five years. Financial terms include initial payments to us in 2004 totaling $10.0 million
and a loan facility, secured by our interest in the collaboration, of up to $50.0 million to fund up to 75% of our share of expenses beginning in 2005. To date there have been no
draw downs under this facility.
 

In July of 2004, Chiron acquired Sagres Discovery, a privately held discovery-stage company based in Davis, California, that specializes in the discovery and validation
of oncology targets. Further review of these targets could identify additional antibody target candidates for our collaboration.
 

In December of 2004, several abstracts on the novel oncology compound CHIR-12.12, an antagonist antibody targeting CD40, the most advanced product candidate
under this collaboration, were presented at the 46th American Society of Hematology (ASH) Annual Meeting and Exposition in San Diego, California. In vitro, CHIR-12.12 has
demonstrated dual mechanisms of B-cell tumor killing: antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity of CD40-expressing tumors by immune effector cells and inhibition of CD40-
ligand mediated growth and survival. Initial Phase I studies in B-cell malignancies are expected to begin in the first quarter of 2005.
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Millennium
 

In November of 2001, in conjunction with Millennium, we announced an agreement under which we would collaborate to develop two of Millennium’s biotherapeutic
agents, MLN2222 (also known as CAB2) and MLN2201, for certain vascular inflammation indications. Under the original agreement, for each product, we were responsible for
development activities and related costs through the completion of Phase II trials and for payments to Millennium upon the achievement of certain clinical milestones. After
successful completion of Phase II trials, Millennium would have had the right to commercialize the products and we would have had the option to choose between continued
participation in the development programs and future profit sharing or being entitled to future royalty and milestone payments.
 

Under a related investment agreement, Millennium committed to purchase, at our option, up to $50.0 million worth of our common shares over three years, through a
combination of equity at prevailing market prices in return for cash and retirement of our convertible debt.
 

In October of 2003, we announced the discontinuation of development of MLN2201, based on preliminary data from a Phase I study that did not meet predefined criteria
necessary to support further product development efforts. As a result, we amended the development and investment agreements with Millennium. Under the terms of the
amended development agreement, we have no future obligations to make milestone payments to Millennium for MLN2201. Under the terms of the amended investment
agreement the then remaining funding amounts were reduced by 40% from a total of $33.5 million to a total of $20.1 million.
 

We are continuing with the development of MLN2222, a complement inhibitor for coronary artery bypass graft surgery, targeting vascular inflammation associated with
such surgery. In December of 2003, we announced the initiation of a Phase I clinical program for MLN2222 to evaluate its safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetic and
pharmacodynamic properties. In October of 2004, we announced the amendment of our agreements with Millennium whereby Millennium assumed responsibility for all
development work and expenses for MLN2222 upon initiation of Phase II testing. We are obligated to continue to provide quantities of bulk drug substance and services
requested and paid for by Millennium for future clinical trials. We will be entitled to receive an undisclosed royalty on future net sales of MLN2222, as well as payments related
to the achievement of certain clinical and regulatory milestones.
 

In July of 2004, we exercised an option to sell 920,284 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $3.7 million or $3.99 per share; in November of 2003, we exercised
an option to sell 763,719 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $5.4 million or $7.07 per share; in June of 2003, we exercised an option to sell 608,766 shares to
Millennium for gross proceeds of $4.0 million or $6.57 per share; and, in December of 2002, we exercised an option to sell 1,443,418 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds
of $7.5 million or $5.20 per share. In April of 2004, we repaid $5.0 million of convertible debt to Millennium in full in cash. In October of 2004, the investment agreement with
Millennium was terminated and there will be no further issuance of our common shares to Millennium
 

Either party has the right to terminate the development agreement upon the breach of a material obligation by the other party. Under certain circumstances, if we fail to
reach certain diligence milestones, Millennium has the right to terminate the agreement, which remains in effect until terminated.
 

Aphton
 

In September of 2004, we announced a worldwide collaboration with Aphton to develop treatments for gastrointestinal and other gastrin-sensitive cancers using anti-
gastrin monoclonal antibodies. Under the terms of the agreement, the companies agreed to share all development expenses and all commercialization profits and losses for all
product candidates on a 70/30 basis, with our share being 30%. We will have worldwide manufacturing rights for these products and the ability to share up to 30% in the
commercialization efforts in the
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United States. Aphton shares U.S. commercialization rights and is entitled to have exclusive rights to commercialize all products outside the United States. Antibodies to be
developed under the collaboration will bind and neutralize the hormone gastrin 17 that is believed to be involved in tumor progression in GI cancers. Gastrin expression and the
appearance of gastrin receptors have been associated with increasing malignant characteristics of GI tumors and with poorer prognostic outcomes. Specifically, gastrin has been
shown to be involved in the progression of colorectal, stomach, liver and pancreatic cancers and inhibiting gastrin may inhibit such growth.
 

Either party has the right to terminate the collaboration agreement without cause following six months written notice to the other party or with cause upon the breach of a
material obligation by the other party. The agreements remain in effect until all development and commercialization under the agreement has been discontinued unless sooner
terminated.
 

Alexion
 

In December of 2003, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Alexion to jointly develop and commercialize a rationally designed TPO mimetic antibody to treat
chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia. Thrombocytopenia is an abnormal blood condition in which the number of platelets is reduced, potentially leading to bleeding
complications. Under the terms of the agreement, we agreed to share development and commercialization expenses with Alexion, including preclinical development,
manufacturing and marketing costs world-wide, as well as revenues, generally on a 70-30 basis, with our share being 30%. Alexion received a payment from us tied to initiation
of the collaboration and is entitled to receive a payment tied to achievement of a regulatory milestone. We will be entitled to royalty payments and milestones related to our
bacterial expression technology. In November of 2004, in conjunction with Alexion, we determined that the lead molecule in our TPO mimetic collaboration did not meet the
criteria established in the program for continued development. The companies are evaluating next steps for the collaboration, including a potential alternative TPO mimetic
compound for development.
 

We have the right to terminate the collaboration agreement without cause following six months written notice to Alexion and either party has the right to terminate upon
the breach of a material obligation by the other party. The agreements remain in effect until all development and commercialization under the agreement has been discontinued
unless sooner terminated.
 

Zephyr
 

In November of 2004, we entered into an exclusive worldwide licensing agreement with Zephyr for the research, development and commercialization of products related
to BPI, including our NEUPREX® product which is a particular fragment of rBPI and has been tested in clinical trials in several indications. Under the terms of the agreement,
we will be entitled to receive license fees totaling up to $11.0 million and milestone payments totaling up to $61.9 million, as well as royalties on sales of future products
developed and approved under the agreement. The agreement also includes due diligence provisions related to the development of BPI in multiple indications with Zephyr
funding all future research and development activities. The agreement does not cover BPI-derived peptide products.
 

We have the right to terminate the license agreement upon the breach of a material obligation by Zephyr. Zephyr has the right to terminate the license agreement without
cause following sixty days’ written notice to us. If not terminated sooner, the agreement shall terminate, on a country-by-country basis, on the date of the last to expire claim
contained in the patent rights under the agreement or thirteen years from first commercial sale of any product under the agreement, whichever is later.
 

Triton
 

In October of 2004, we entered into an agreement with Triton under which Triton has licensed the exclusive worldwide rights from us to use our ING-1 monoclonal
antibody with Triton’s TNT™ System. The TNT™
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System is an innovative product that ablates tumors by using tiny magnetic spheres delivered, to the tumor, systemically with antibodies and heated by means of a magnetic field
directed to the tumor. The combination of the ING-1 antibody with the TNT™ System is intended to create a novel, highly selective, safe, and effective treatment for
adenocarcinomas, such as breast, colorectal, lung, ovary and prostate. The license to Triton includes U.S. and foreign patent rights related to our ING-1 and Human
Engineering™ technologies along with several pending applications. ING-1 remains available for licensing outside the field covered by the Triton license.
 

Either party has the right to terminate the agreement upon the breach of a material obligation by the other party. The licenses granted under the agreement remain in
effect until terminated.
 
Recently Terminated Agreements
 

Onyx
 

In January of 2001, we entered into a strategic process development and manufacturing agreement with Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Onyx”). The initial term was five
years, with options to extend for additional periods. Under the terms of the agreement, Onyx was obliged to pay us an initial payment as well as payments for development work
and material produced and payments upon achieving key milestones. In June of 2003, Onyx announced that it was discontinuing its therapeutic virus program to focus its
resources on its BAY 43-9006 anticancer compound. On June 23, 2003, Onyx notified us of its intention to terminate the process development and manufacturing agreement
effective 120 days from the date of notification. Onyx paid $0.5 million as a facility fee plus $1.0 million as a termination fee in the fourth quarter of 2003 and, in accordance
with our revenue recognition policy, these amounts were recognized as revenue because our service commitments were completed. Additionally, we accelerated the
amortization of $1.0 million remaining in deferred revenue over the 120-day notification period.
 

Baxter
 

In January of 2000, we entered into license and supply agreements with the Hyland Immuno division of Baxter Healthcare Corporation (“Baxter”) for NEUPREX® for
treatment of meningococcemia and substantially all future antibacterial and anti-endotoxin human clinical indications. In July of 2003, Baxter terminated the license and supply
agreements for the NEUPREX® product. Baxter agreed to make a one-time termination payment of $10.0 million to us. Until the payment was made, Baxter continued to
reimburse us for a portion of certain development expenses that we incurred. We recognized the $10.0 million termination fee as revenue in the third quarter of 2003 and wrote-
off, as research and development expense, $1.3 million related to NEUPREX® inventory on hand at the termination date. The $10.0 million termination payment was received in
January of 2004.
 

Other Products
 

We are seeking development and marketing partners for additional products in our pipeline. No assurance can be given regarding the timing or likelihood of future
collaborative arrangements or of product licensure.
 

We are also pursuing additional opportunities to further broaden our product pipeline through product development collaborations with other pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies.
 
Competition
 

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are subject to continuous and substantial technological change. Competition in the areas of recombinant DNA-based
and antibody-based technologies is intense and expected to increase as new technologies emerge and established biotechnology firms and large chemical and pharmaceutical
companies continue to advance in the field. A number of these large pharmaceutical and
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chemical companies have enhanced their capabilities by entering into arrangements with or acquiring biotechnology companies or entering into business combinations with
other large pharmaceutical companies. Many of these companies have significantly greater financial resources, larger research and development and marketing staffs and larger
production facilities than ours. Moreover, certain of these companies have extensive experience in undertaking preclinical testing and human clinical trials. These factors may
enable other companies to develop products and processes competitive with or superior to ours. In addition, a significant amount of research in biotechnology is being carried
out in universities and other non-profit research organizations. These entities are becoming increasingly interested in the commercial value of their work and may become more
aggressive in seeking patent protection and licensing arrangements. There can be no assurance that developments by others will not render our products or technologies obsolete
or uncompetitive.
 

Without limiting the foregoing, we are aware that:
 

 
• In April of 2004, Amgen Inc. and its partner Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, a division of Wyeth, announced that their rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis drug,

Enbrel®, had been approved by the FDA for the same psoriasis indication as RAPTIVA® and, in September of 2004, they announced that the product received
approval in the European Union in this same indication;

 
 • Biogen Idec Inc. has been marketing Amevive® in the U.S. to treat the same psoriasis indication as RAPTIVA® and announced in October of 2004 that it had

received approval in Canada;
 

 
• Centocor, Inc., a unit of Johnson & Johnson, has announced that it has tested its rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn’s disease drug, Remicade®, in psoriasis, showing

clinical benefits, and that the European Commission has granted approval of Remicade®, in combination with methotrexate, to treat psoriatic arthritis, in the
European Union;

 
 • Abbott Laboratories has presented data from a Phase II psoriasis trial showing clinical benefits of its rheumatoid arthritis drug Humira™;
 
 • Isotechnika has begun a Canadian Phase III trial of ISA247, a trans-isomer of a cyclosporine analog, in 400 patients with moderate to severe psoriasis; and
 
 • other companies are developing monoclonal antibody or other products for treatment of inflammatory skin disorders.
 

It is possible that other companies may be developing other products based on the same human protein as our NEUPREX® product, and these products may prove to be
more effective than NEUPREX®.
 

Amgen is developing AMG 531, a recombinant protein, for the treatment of immune thrombocytopenic purpura. This condition is related to thrombocytopenia, the
indication that is the subject of our collaboration with Alexion. AMG 531 has completed Phase I and II studies.
 

There are at least two competitors developing a complement inhibitor which may compete with MLN2222. Alexion and its partner Proctor & Gamble have initiated
enrollment in a second Phase III trial of pexelizumab, a monoclonal antibody. This study is expected to enroll approximately 4,000 patients undergoing coronary artery bypass
graft surgery. TP10 is a complement inhibitor developed by AVANT Immunotherapeutics, Inc. (“AVANT”) for applications including the limitation of complement-mediated
damage following surgery on cardiopulmonary by-pass. AVANT anticipates completing enrollment in the Phase IIb study in 200-300 women undergoing cardiac bypass
surgery as soon as possible. AVANT is also working closely with its partner, Lonza Biologics plc, to complete process development and scale-up efforts in preparation for the
production of Phase III clinical materials and the start of that trial by year-end 2005.
 

Currently, there are at least two companies developing topical peptide treatments for acne which may compete with XMP.629. Migenix Inc., formerly Micrologix
Biotech, Inc., is developing MBI 594AN, a topical peptide that has completed a Phase IIB trial for the treatment of acne, and Helix Biomedix, Inc. is developing several peptide
compounds.
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In collaboration with Chiron, we are co-developing a monoclonal antibody that targets CD40, and, at the current time, there are several CD40-related programs under
development. For example, SGN-40 is a humanized monoclonal antibody under development by Seattle Genetics, Inc. which is targeting the CD40 antigen. SGN-40 is
currently in Phase I studies in multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, with an additional Phase I study in chronic lymphocytic leukemia to begin in 2005. Another
example is 5D12, an anti-CD40 antibody under development by Tanox, Inc. for Crohn’s disease. Chiron licensed the antibody to Tanox, Inc. in 1995 and retains certain
commercialization and technology rights.
 
Regulatory
 

Our products are subject to comprehensive preclinical and clinical testing requirements and to approval processes by the FDA and by similar authorities in other
countries. Our products are primarily regulated on a product-by-product basis under the U.S. Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and Section 351(a) of the Public Health Service Act.
Most of our human therapeutic products are or will be classified as biologic products. Approval of a biologic for commercialization requires licensure of the product and the
manufacturing facilities. The review of therapeutic biologic products has been transferred within the FDA from the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research to the Center
for Drug Evaluation and Research, the body that reviews drug products. Because implementation of this plan may not be complete, we do not know when or how this change
will affect it.
 

The FDA regulatory process is carried out in several phases. Prior to beginning human clinical testing of a proposed new biologic product, an IND is filed with the FDA.
This document contains scientific information on the proposed product, including results of testing of the product in animal and laboratory models. Also included is information
on manufacture of the product and studies on toxicity in animals and a clinical protocol outlining the initial investigation in humans.
 

The initial stage of clinical testing, Phase I, ordinarily encompasses safety, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluations. Phase II testing encompasses
investigation in specific disease states designed to provide preliminary efficacy data and additional information on safety. Phase III studies are designed to further establish
clinical safety and efficacy and to provide information allowing proper labeling of the product following approval. Phase III studies are most commonly multi-center,
randomized, placebo-controlled trials in which rigorous statistical methodology is applied to clinical results. Other designs may also be appropriate in specific circumstances.
 

Following completion of clinical trials, a Biologics License Application is submitted to the FDA to request marketing approval. Internal FDA committees are formed that
evaluate the application, including scientific background information, animal and laboratory efficacy studies, toxicology, manufacturing facility and clinical data. During the
review process, a dialogue between the FDA and the applicant is established in which FDA questions are raised and additional information is submitted. During the final stages
of the approval process, the FDA generally requests presentation of clinical or other data before an FDA advisory committee, at which point, some or all of such data may
become available. Also, during the later stages of review, the FDA conducts an inspection of the manufacturing facility to establish that the product is made in conformity with
good manufacturing practice. If all outstanding issues are satisfactorily resolved and labeling established, the FDA issues a license for the product and for the manufacturing
facility, thereby authorizing commercial distribution.
 

The FDA has substantial discretion in both the product approval process and the manufacturing approval process. It is not possible to predict at what point, or whether,
the FDA will be satisfied with our submissions or whether the FDA will raise questions which may delay or preclude product approval or manufacturing facility approval. As
additional clinical data is accumulated, it will be submitted to the FDA and may have a material impact on the FDA product approval process. Given that regulatory review is
an interactive and continuous process, we have adopted a policy of limiting announcements and comments upon the specific details of the ongoing regulatory review of our
products, subject to our obligations under the securities laws, until definitive action is taken. There can be no assurance any of the products we have under development will be
developed successfully, obtain the requisite regulatory approval or be successfully manufactured or marketed.
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In Europe, most of our human therapeutic products are or will be classified as biologic and would be subject to a single European registration through a centralized
procedure. The assessment of the Marketing Authorization Application is carried out by a rapporteur and co-rapporteur appointed by the Committee for Medicinal Products for
Human Use (“CHMP”), which is the expert scientific committee of the European Medicines Evaluation Agency.
 

The rapporteur and co-rapporteur are drawn from the CHMP membership representing member states of the European Union. They liaise with the applicant on behalf of
the CHMP in an effort to provide answers to queries raised by the CHMP. Their assessment report(s) is circulated to and considered by the full CHMP membership, leading to
the production ultimately of a CHMP opinion which is transmitted to the applicant and Commission. The final decision on an application is issued by the Commission. When a
positive decision is reached, a Marketing Authorization (“MA”) will be issued. Once approval is granted, the product can be marketed under the single European MA in all
member states of the European Union. Consistent with the single MA, the labeling for Europe is identical throughout all member states except that all labeling must be
translated into the local language of the country of intended importation and in relation to the content of the so called “blue box” on the outer packaging in which locally
required information may be inserted. There can be no assurance any of our products under development will be developed successfully, obtain the requisite regulatory
approval or be successfully manufactured or marketed.
 
Patents and Trade Secrets
 

As a result of our ongoing activities, we hold and are in the process of applying for a number of patents in the United States and abroad to protect our products and
important processes. We also have obtained or have the right to obtain exclusive licenses to certain patents and applications filed by others. However, the patent position of
biotechnology companies generally is highly uncertain and no consistent policy regarding the breadth of allowed claims has emerged from the actions of the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office (“Patent Office”) with respect to biotechnology patents. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that our patents will afford protection against competitors
with similar technologies, or others will not obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patent applications.
 

We have established an extensive portfolio of patents and applications, both in the U.S. and internationally, related to our BPI-related products, including novel
compositions, their manufacture, formulation, assay and use. We are also the exclusive licensee of BPI-related patents and applications owned by New York University
(“NYU”). These include seven issued U.S. patents directed to novel BPI-related protein and DNA compositions, as well as their production and uses. U.S. Patent Nos.
5,198,541 and 5,641,874, issued to NYU, relate to the recombinant production of BPI. We believe these patents have substantial value because they cover certain production
methodologies that allow production of commercial-scale quantities of BPI for human use. In addition, the European Patent Office granted to NYU, EP 375724, with claims to
N-terminal BPI fragments and their use, alone or in conjunction with antibiotics, for the treatment of conditions associated with bacterial infections. We are also the exclusive
licensee of BPI-related patents and applications owned by Incyte Corporation (“Incyte”), including those related to endotoxin-associated uses of BPI, uses of BPI with
polymannuronic acid and LBP-BPI proteins. These patents and licenses are now sublicensed to Zephyr.
 

We have established a portfolio of patents and applications related to our LBP-related assays and products, including diagnostic and prognostic methods for measuring
LBP levels in humans. We have also acquired, from Johnson & Johnson, an exclusive sublicense to their LBP-related portfolio, including six U.S. patents issued to the
discoverers of LBP, Drs. Richard Ulevitch and Peter Tobias, at the Scripps Research Institute in San Diego.
 

We have established a portfolio of patents, both in the U.S. and internationally, related to our bacterial expression technology, including claims to novel promoter
sequences, secretion signal sequences, compositions and methods for expression and secretion of recombinant proteins from bacteria, including immunoglobulin gene products.
U.S. Patent No. 5,028,530, issued to us, is directed to expression vehicles containing an araB promoter,
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host cells and processes for regulated expression of recombinant proteins. U.S. Patent Nos. 5,576,195 and 5,846,818 are related to DNA encoding a pectate lyase signal
sequence, recombinant vectors, host cells and methods for production and externalization of recombinant proteins. U.S. Patent Nos. 5,595,898, 5,698,435 and 5,618,920 address
secretable immunoglobulin chains, DNA encoding the chains and methods for their recombinant production. U.S. Patent Nos. 5,693,493, 5,698,417 and 6,204,023 relate to
methods for recombinant production/secretion of functional immunoglobulin molecules.
 

If certain patents issued to others are upheld or if certain patent applications filed by others issue and are upheld, we may require certain licenses from others in order to
develop and commercialize certain potential products incorporating our technology. There can be no assurance that such licenses, if required, will be available on acceptable
terms.
 
Research and License Agreements
 

We have contracted with a number of academic and institutional collaborators to conduct research and development activities. Under these agreements we generally fund
either the research and development or evaluation of products, technologies or both, will own or obtain exclusive licenses to products or technologies developed and may pay
royalties on sales of products covered by certain licenses. The rates and durations of such royalty payments vary by product and institution and range, generally, for periods
from five years to indefinite duration. Aggregate expenses incurred by us under all of our research agreements were negligible for each of 2004, 2003 and 2002. We have
entered into certain license agreements with respect to the following products:
 

 

• In August of 1990, we entered into a research collaboration and license agreement with NYU whereby we obtained an exclusive license to patent rights for DNA
materials and genetic engineering methods for the production of BPI and fragments thereof. BPI is part of the body’s natural defense system against infection and
we are investigating the use of products based on BPI for various indications. We have obtained an exclusive, worldwide license for the development, manufacture,
sale and use of BPI products for all therapeutic and diagnostic uses, have paid a license fee, will make milestone payments and pay royalties to NYU on the sale of
such products. The license becomes fully paid upon the later of the expiration of the relevant patents or fifteen years after the first commercial sale, subject to
NYU’s right to terminate for certain events of default.

 
Each party has the right to terminate the agreement upon a material breach by the other party of the performance of its obligations under the agreement, subject to
customary cure periods. Upon termination of the agreement prior to the expiration of the relevant patents, all rights in and to NYU’s intellectual property revert to
NYU.

 

 

• In July of 1998, we entered into a license agreement with Incyte whereby we obtained an exclusive (even as to Incyte), freely sublicenseable, worldwide license to
all of Incyte’s patent rights relating to BPI. We will pay Incyte a royalty on sales of BPI products covered by the license, up to a maximum of $11.5 million and
made a $1.5 million advance royalty payment, one-half in cash and one-half in our common shares. We also issued warrants to Incyte to purchase 250,000 of our
common shares at $6.00 per share. As of December 31, 2004, 125,000 of these warrants remain outstanding. Due to offsets against other royalties, we may not
ultimately incur increased total BPI royalty payments as a result of this license.

 
The agreement expires in July of 2008 unless, on or prior to such date, the license granted therein becomes fully paid up in accordance with its terms. Incyte has the
right to terminate the agreement (subject to a customary cure period) upon a breach by us of any of our material obligations under the agreement.

 
International Operations
 

We believe that, because the pharmaceutical industry is global in nature, international activities will be a significant part of our future business activities and that, when
and if we are able to generate income, a
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substantial portion of that income will be derived from product sales and other activities outside the United States.
 

A number of risks are inherent in international operations. Foreign regulatory agencies often establish standards different from those in the United States. An inability to
obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis could have an adverse effect on our international business, financial condition and results of operations. International
operations may be limited or disrupted by the imposition of government controls, export license requirements, political or economic instability, trade restrictions, changes in
tariffs, restrictions on repatriating profits, taxation or difficulties in staffing and managing international operations. In addition, our business, financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully operate in any foreign market.
 

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1981 and became a Bermuda company effective December 31, 1998, when we completed a shareholder-approved corporate
reorganization, changing our legal domicile from Delaware to Bermuda and our name to XOMA Ltd. When referring to a time or period before December 31, 1998, or when
the context so requires, the terms “Company” and “XOMA” refer to XOMA Corporation, a Delaware corporation and the predecessor of XOMA Ltd.
 
Employees
 

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 220 non-unionized full-time employees at our California facilities, principally in Berkeley, California, and two employees in
Ireland. Our employees are engaged in clinical, process development and manufacturing, quality assurance and control, research and product development, and in executive,
finance and administrative positions. We consider our employee relations to be excellent.
 
Available Information
 

The following information can be found on our website at http://www.xoma.com or can be obtained free of charge by contacting our Investor Relations Department at
800-246-9662 or by sending an e-mail message to investorrelations@xoma.com:
 
 • our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable

after such material is electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;
 

 
• our policies related to corporate governance, including our Code of Ethics applying to our directors, officers and employees (including our principal executive

officer and principal financial and accounting officer) that we have adopted to meet the requirements set forth in the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission and its corporate governance principles; and

 
 • the charters of the Audit, Compensation and Nominating & Governance Committees of our Board of Directors.
 
We intend to satisfy the applicable disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of our Code of Ethics by posting such information on our
website.
 
 Item 2.    Properties
 

Our development and manufacturing facilities are located in Berkeley and Emeryville, California. We lease approximately 113,000 square feet of space including
approximately 35,000 square feet of research and development laboratories, 48,000 square feet of production and production support facilities and 30,000 square feet of office
space. A separate 17,000 square foot technology development and pilot facility is owned by us.
 

In 2004, we produced the rBPI21, MLN2222 and TPO mimetic antibody products and have previously produced NEUPREX®, RAPTIVA®, MLN2201 and ING-1 for
clinical trial and other testing needs at our
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Berkeley manufacturing facilities, pursuant to a drug manufacturing license obtained from the State of California. We base our manufacturing capability on recombinant DNA
technology, which can produce therapeutic products from either mammalian or microbial cells. We have established five fermentation trains with a maximum tank size of 2,750
liters and associated isolation and purification systems. We do our own formulation and have the capacity to fill products for clinical use, although we also contract with third
parties for final sterile filling and finishing.
 

Our principal executive offices are located at 2910 Seventh Street, Berkeley, California 94710 U.S.A. (telephone 510-204-7200).
 
 Item 3.    Legal Proceedings
 

In July of 2003, a complaint was filed in the General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division, Orange County, North Carolina, in a lawsuit captioned Hamlet v.
Genentech, Inc., et al., No. 03 CVS 1161, and was subsequently amended, by a participant in one of the Phase III clinical trials of RAPTIVA®. The complaint asserts claims for
alleged negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, misrepresentation and medical negligence against the plaintiff’s treating physician, the physician’s medical practice,
Genentech, us, the institutional review board responsible for the trial and the contract research organization retained to conduct the trial. The complaint seeks unspecified
compensatory damages alleged to be in excess of $10,000. As set forth in the complaint, the plaintiff was initially in the placebo group of this trial; he did not receive
RAPTIVA® during this time and his claims are based on his failure to receive his indicated treatment, not his receipt of RAPTIVA®. At a recent hearing, we were successful in
having all claims that allege or depend on our being a health care provider dismissed and the Court dismissed the fiduciary duty and constructive fraud claims as well. Four of
the defendants, including us, have reached agreement with the plaintiff on a settlement and a settlement agreement has been executed.
 

In November of 2004, a complaint was filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of California, in a lawsuit captioned Physicians Executive Business
Corp. v. XOMA Ltd., et al., No. C 04 4878, by an investor in our common shares. The complaint asserts claims for alleged fraud and negligent misrepresentation relating to
events preceding the announcement of Phase II trial results for XMP.629 in August of 2004. The complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages. We believe the claims
asserted to be without merit and intend to vigorously defend against them.
 
 Item 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 

No matters were brought to a vote of our shareholders in the quarter ended December 31, 2004.
 
Executive Officers
 

Our executive officers and their respective ages, as of December 31, 2004, and positions are as follows:
 

Name

  

Age

  

Title

John L. Castello   68  Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
Patrick J. Scannon, M.D., Ph.D.   57  Senior Vice President, Chief Scientific and Medical Officer and Director
Peter B. Davis   58  Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Christopher J. Margolin, Esq.   58  Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
 

The Board of Directors elects all officers annually. There is no family relationship between or among any of the officers or directors. Clarence L. Dellio, our former
Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, retired from our company effective as of December 31, 2004.
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Business Experience
 

Mr. Castello became Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer in March of 1993. From April of 1992 to March of 1993, Mr. Castello was
President, Chief Executive Officer and a director. Mr. Castello was President and Chief Operating Officer of the Ares-Serono Group from 1988 to 1991 and prior to that was
President of the Serono Diagnostics Division from 1986 to 1988. Ares-Serono Group is known in the United States for fertility drugs and it is also the manufacturer of a
bioengineered human growth hormone which is marketed primarily outside of the United States. Mr. Castello previously held senior management positions at Amersham
International plc and Abbott Laboratories. Mr. Castello is also a director of Cholestech Corporation, which is engaged in the business of developing products for the diagnostic
measurement of cholesterol and other blood components.
 

Dr. Scannon is one of our founders and has served as a director since our formation. Dr. Scannon became Chief Scientific and Medical Officer in March of 1993. He
served as our President from our formation until April of 1992 and as Vice Chairman, Scientific and Medical Affairs from April of 1992 to March of 1993. From 1998 until
2001, Dr. Scannon served as a director of NanoLogics, Inc., a software company. From 1979 until 1981, Dr. Scannon was a clinical research scientist at the Letterman Army
Institute of Research in San Francisco. A Board-certified internist, Dr. Scannon holds a Ph.D. in organic chemistry from the University of California, Berkeley and an M.D.
from the Medical College of Georgia.
 

Peter B. Davis is our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. Before joining us in 1994, he was Vice President Financial Operations for the Ares-Serono
Group. Previously, he was Chief Financial Officer of Akzo America Inc., and has also held executive financial positions with Stauffer Chemical Company and PepsiCo, Inc.
 

Christopher J. Margolin is our Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Prior to joining us in 1991, Mr. Margolin was a corporate attorney holding several
different executive legal positions for Raychem Corporation, an international high technology company, for 11 years. From 1975 to 1980, he was a division counsel for TRW
Inc. and from 1972 to 1975, he was an associate at the law firm of McCutchen, Black, Verleger and Shea in Los Angeles.
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PART II
 
 Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

Our common shares trade on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “XOMA.” The following table sets forth the quarterly range of high and low reported sale
prices of our common shares on the Nasdaq National Market for the periods indicated.
 

   

Price Range

   

High

  

Low

2004         
First Quarter   $ 7.71  $4.24
Second Quarter    5.51   3.75
Third Quarter    4.67   1.94
Fourth Quarter    3.02   1.86

2003         
First Quarter   $ 4.60  $2.84
Second Quarter    8.00   3.79
Third Quarter    10.70   5.04
Fourth Quarter    8.25   5.85

 
On March 8, 2005, there were approximately 2,913 shareholders of record of our common shares, one of which is Cede & Co., a nominee for Depository Trust Company

(“DTC”). All of the common shares held by brokerage firms, banks and other financial institutions as nominees for beneficial owners are deposited into participant accounts at
DTC and are therefore considered to be held of record by Cede & Co. as one shareholder.
 

We have not paid dividends on our common shares. We currently intend to retain any earnings for use in the development and expansion of our business. We, therefore,
do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common shares in the foreseeable future (see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Share Capital”).
 

In the first quarter of 2004, we announced the amendment of certain terms of the November 2001 investment agreement with Millennium. The key elements of the
revised investment agreement included an extension of the maturity date of the $5.0 million outstanding convertible debt to April 15, 2004, (or the third business day after the
date the related registration statement is declared effective, if later) and a re-scheduling of our decision points regarding whether to sell the remaining $14.7 million worth of
common shares to four option dates through March of 2005, at each of which we may issue up to $3,675,000 worth of common shares. In July of 2004, we exercised an option
to sell 920,284 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $3.7 million or $3.99 per share In November of 2003, we exercised an option to sell 763,719 shares to Millennium
for gross proceeds of $5.4 million or $7.07 per share. In June of 2003, we exercised an option to sell 608,766 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $4.0 million or $6.57
per share. In December of 2002, we issued 1,443,418 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $7.5 million or $5.20 per share. These sales of common shares to Millennium
were exempt from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof. In October of 2004, the investment agreement with Millennium was terminated and
there will be no further issuance of common shares to Millennium.
 

In September of 2003, we sold 9,000,000 common shares at a price of $8.00 per share in an underwritten public offering. We received approximately $67.2 million of
net proceeds during the third quarter of 2003. In October of 2003, the underwriters for the public offering exercised their option to purchase 1,350,000 common shares at $8.00
per share to cover over-allotments. We received $10.2 million in additional net cash proceeds. The proceeds are to be used for general corporate purposes.
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In December of 2003, we issued 2,959 of Series B preferred shares to Genentech in repayment of the $29.6 million outstanding balance under the convertible
subordinated debt agreement. These shares are convertible into approximately 3.8 million common shares, which represents a price of $7.75 per share.
 

In February of 2005, we issued $60.0 million of 6.5% convertible senior notes due in 2012. The notes are initially convertible into approximately 32 million common
shares at a conversion rate of 533.4756 of our common shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, which is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $1.87 per
common share. Before February 6, 2008, we may not redeem the notes. On or after February 6, 2008, we may redeem any or all of the notes at 100% of the principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if our common shares trade at 150% of the conversion price then in effect for 20 trading days in a 30 consecutive trading day period. Holders
of the notes may require us to repurchase some or all of the notes for cash at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid
interest following a fundamental change. In addition, following certain fundamental changes, we will increase the conversion rate by a number of additional common shares or,
in lieu thereof, we may, in certain circumstances, elect to adjust the conversion rate and related conversion obligation so that the notes are convertible into shares of the
acquiring, continuing or surviving company.
 

The section labeled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated
herein by reference.
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 Item 6.    Selected Financial Data
 

The following table contains our selected financial information including statement of operations and balance sheet data for the years 2000 through 2004. The selected
financial information has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The selected financial information should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8 of this report and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” included in Item 7 below. The data set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations.
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 
   (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data                      
Total revenues   $ 3,665  $ 24,412  $ 29,949  $ 17,279  $ 6,659 
Total operating costs and expenses(1)    81,761   81,950   62,026   44,610   36,075 
Other income (expense), net    (846)  (1,115)  (1,170)  (709)  4 
Net loss   $ (78,942) $ (58,653) $ (33,247) $ (28,040) $ (29,412)
Net loss per common share   $ (.93) $ (0.78) $ (0.47) $ (0.41) $ (0.45)

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 
   (In thousands)  
Balance Sheet Data                      
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,808  $ 84,812  $ 36,262  $ 67,320  $ 35,043 
Restricted cash    —     —     1,500   —     —   
Total assets    46,260   118,850   71,782   86,107   45,212 
Long-term liabilities    47,267   40,178   63,016   50,980   39,488 
Redeemable convertible preferences shares, at par value(2)    1   1   —     —     —   
Accumulated deficit    (678,471)  (599,529)  (540,876)  (507,629)  (479,589)
Total shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency)    (24,610)  48,214   (11,365)  13,619   (8,590)

(1) 2002 and 2001 include approximately $7.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively, in legal expenses related to our litigation with Biosite Incorporated and certain
shareholder litigation. The litigation matters to which these expenses related were settled or otherwise resolved in 2002. 2004, 2003 and 2002, include approximately $16.4
million, $7.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, of collaboration arrangement expenses related to our collaboration with Genentech on RAPTIVA®. This agreement has
been amended and, effective January 1, 2005, we will no longer incur these expenses.

 
(2) Aggregate liquidation preference of $29.6 million.
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
 

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.
 

   

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

 

   

Quarter Ended

 

   

March 31

  

June 30

  

September 30

  

December 31

 
   (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
2004                  
Total revenues   $ 170  $ 778  $ 559  $ 2,158 
Total operating costs and expenses    20,188   21,641   20,434   19,498 
Other expense, net    (150)  (180)  (268)  (248)
      
Net loss   $(20,168) $(21,043) $ (20,143) $ (17,588)
      
Net loss per common share   $ (0.24) $ (0.25) $ (0.24) $ (.21)
      
2003                  
Total revenues   $ 3,164  $ 2,361  $ 12,632  $ 6,255 
Total operating costs and expenses    15,887   18,200   22,199   25,664 
Other expense, net    (371)  (221)  (283)  (240)
      
Net loss   $(13,094) $(16,060) $ (9,850) $ (19,649)
      
Net loss per common share   $ (0.18) $ (0.22) $ (0.13) $ (0.24)
      
 
 Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Overview
 

We are a biopharmaceutical company that develops and manufactures antibodies and other genetically-engineered protein products to treat immunological and
inflammatory disorders, cancer and infectious diseases.
 

In the near term, our ability to achieve profitability will be highly dependent on sales levels of RAPTIVA®, which we have been developing under a collaboration
agreement with Genentech. Genentech is responsible for the manufacturing, marketing and sales effort in support of this product and we are entitled to receive royalties on
worldwide sales. RAPTIVA® has been approved in the United States and the European Union for treating patients suffering from moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis and is
being tested as a treatment for additional indications. Our near-term profits will also be influenced by our ability to generate revenues or benefit from cost-sharing arrangements,
from manufacturing or from other development activities. We are developing a number of products, both proprietary and under collaboration agreements with other companies
and may enter into additional arrangements. Our objective in development collaborations is to leverage our existing development infrastructure to broaden and strengthen our
new product pipeline beyond what we can accomplish with proprietary products, thereby diversifying our development risk and gaining financial support from our collaboration
partners.
 

We incurred a net loss in each of the past three years and expect to continue to operate at a loss until sufficient profits are generated from RAPTIVA® and various
manufacturing and development arrangements, or until we achieve additional regulatory approvals and commence commercial sales of additional products. The timing and
likelihood of additional approvals is uncertain and there can be no assurance that approvals will be granted or that revenues from product sales will be sufficient to attain
profitability.
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Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates
 

The accompanying discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements and the related
disclosures, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires
us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. On an on-going basis, we
evaluate our estimates, including those related to terms of research collaborations, investments, stock compensation, impairment issues and the estimated useful life of assets
and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
 

We believe the following policies to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial condition and results of operations because they require us to make
estimates, assumptions and judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain.
 

Revenue Recognition
 

Revenue is recognized when the related costs are incurred and the four basic criteria of revenue recognition are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2)
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the fee is fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Determination of criteria (3) and (4) are
based on management’s judgments regarding the nature of the fee charged for products or services delivered and the collectibility of those fees.
 

We recognize revenue from license and collaboration arrangements, contract services, and, to a lesser extent, product sales and royalties. Our revenue arrangements with
multiple elements are divided into separate units of accounting, if certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer and
whether there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items. The consideration we receive is allocated among the separate units based on their
respective fair values and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned are
classified as deferred revenue until earned.
 

License and Collaborative Fees
 

Revenue from non-refundable license or technology access payments under license and collaborative agreements where we have a continuing obligation to perform is
recognized as revenue over the period of the continuing performance obligation.
 

Milestone payments under collaborative arrangements are recognized as revenue upon completion of the milestone events, which represent the culmination of the
earnings process because we have no future performance obligations related to the payment. Milestone payments that require a continuing performance obligation on our part
are recognized over the period of the continuing performance obligation. Amounts received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue until the related milestone is completed.
Allowances are established for estimated uncollectible amounts, if any.
 

Contract Revenue
 

Contract revenue for research and development involves our providing research, development or manufacturing services to collaborative partners or others. We recognize
revenue under these arrangements as the related research and development costs are incurred and collectibility is reasonably assured.
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Research and Development Expenses
 

We expense research and development expense as incurred. Research and development expenses consist of direct and research-related allocated overhead costs such as
facilities costs, salaries and related personnel costs, patent costs and material and supply costs. In addition, research and development expenses include costs related to clinical
trials to validate our testing processes and procedures and related overhead expenses. Under cost sharing arrangements with collaborative partners, differences between our
actual research and development spending and our share of such spending under the collaboration agreement will also be included as a cost sharing adjustment in our research
and development expense. Expenses resulting from clinical trials are recorded when incurred based in part on estimates as to the status of the various trials. From time to time,
research and development expenses may include upfront fees and milestones paid to collaborative partners for the purchase of rights to in-process research and development.
Such amounts are expensed as incurred. The timing of upfront fees and milestone payments in the future may cause variability in our future research and development expenses.
 
Results of Operations
 

Revenues
 

Total revenues in 2004 were $3.7 million, compared with $24.4 million in 2003 and $29.9 million in 2002.
 

License and collaborative fees revenues in 2004 decreased to $3.6 million from $18.9 million in 2003 and $16.9 million in 2002. These revenues include upfront and
milestone payments related to the outlicensing of our products and technologies and other collaborative arrangements. The 2003 amount reflects a $10.0 million dollar fee from
Baxter as a result of the termination of agreements between the companies related to the licensing and development of our NEUPREX® product, as well as license fees from
several bacterial cell expression technology license arrangements. The increase of $2.0 million in 2003 as compared with 2002 consisted primarily of the $10.0 million contract
termination fee by Baxter in 2003 partially offset by the recognition of non-recurring licensing agreement fees in 2002 from MorphoSys AG and Cambridge Antibody
Technology Limited.
 

Certain of our license agreements involve continuing performance obligations for services and, in these cases, the related licensing payments received are recorded as
deferred revenue and then recognized as revenue over the period of continuing performance obligation. In 2004, this included $10.0 million in upfront payments received from
Chiron related to a collaboration agreement in oncology, which was initiated in February of 2004, and is being recognized as revenue over the five year expected term of the
agreement. Deferred revenue recognized in 2002 and 2003 related primarily to upfront payments received in prior years from Baxter and Onyx. The following table illustrates
the activity in deferred revenue for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Beginning deferred revenue   $ 90  $ 2,529  $ 6,487 
Payments received    10,000   200   1,500 
Revenue recognized    (1,757)  (2,639)  (5,458)
     
Ending deferred revenue   $ 8,333  $ 90  $ 2,529 
     

 
The $8.3 million balance in deferred revenue at December 31, 2004, is expected to be recognized as revenue largely over the next four years. Future amounts may also

be impacted by additional consideration received, if any, under existing or any future licensing or other collaborative arrangements.
 

Revenues from contract and other revenues were $0.1 million in 2004, as compared with $5.5 million in 2003 and $13.1 million in 2002. The prior years revenues
related primarily to service arrangements with Baxter
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and Onyx and the decreases reflect the impact of the winding-down and termination of agreements with Baxter and Onyx. The Baxter agreement was terminated during the third
quarter of 2003 and the Onyx agreement was effectively terminated in the fourth quarter of 2003. Baxter and Onyx represented 50% and 20%, respectively, of our total revenues
for 2003 and 25% and 35%, respectively, of our total revenues for 2002.
 

Revenues for 2005 are expected to increase as a result of royalties generated by worldwide sales of RAPTIVA®, the establishment of new manufacturing service
arrangements and license fees.
 

Research and Development Expenses
 

In 2004, research and development expenses were $49.8 million, compared with $61.1 million in 2003 and $42.8 million in 2002. The $11.3 million decrease in 2004
compared with 2003 primarily reflects reduced spending on RAPTIVA® following its approval in the United States for moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis and the
discontinuation of the Millennium collaboration product MLN2201, as well as smaller decreases in spending on MLN2222, ING-1 and NEUPREX®. These reductions were
partially offset by increased spending on our oncology collaboration with Chiron, our XMP.629 acne compound, our collaboration with Alexion on a TPO mimetic antibody,
new product research and our collaboration with Aphton on an anti-gastrin antibody. The $18.3 million increase in 2003 compared with 2002 reflects increased spending on
RAPTIVA®, MLN2201, MLN2222, XMP.629 and new product research partially offset by reduced spending on Onyx-015, NEUPREX® and ING-1.
 

Our research and development activities can be divided into earlier stage programs, which include molecular biology, process development, pilot-scale production and
preclinical testing, and later stage programs, which include clinical testing, regulatory affairs and manufacturing clinical supplies. Using the current costing methods, the costs
associated with these programs approximate the following (in thousands):
 

   

Year ended December 31,

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Earlier stage programs   $ 31,746  $ 34,061  $ 18,238
Later stage programs    18,038   27,002   24,579
       

Total   $ 49,784  $ 61,063  $ 42,817
       

 
Our research and development activities can be divided into those related to our internal projects and those projects related to collaborative arrangements. The costs

related to internal projects versus collaborative arrangements approximate the following (in thousands):
 

   

Year ended December 31,

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Internal projects   $ 29,829  $ 24,361  $ 17,873
Collaborative arrangements    19,955   36,702   24,944
       

Total   $ 49,784  $ 61,063  $ 42,817
       

 
In 2004, two development programs (XMP.629 and MLN2222) each individually accounted for more than 10% but less than 20% and no development program

accounted for more than 20% of our total research and development expenses. In 2003, one development program (MLN2222) accounted for more than 10% but less than 20%,
one development program (RAPTIVA®) accounted for more than 20% but less than 30% and no development program accounted for more than 30% of our total research and
development expenses. In 2002, two development programs (RAPTIVA® and NEUPREX®) each individually accounted for more than 10% but less than 20%, and no
development program accounted for more than 20% of our total research and development expenses.
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We currently anticipate that research and development expenses in 2005 will be lower than in 2004. We expect reduced spending on RAPTIVA® and on our XMP.629
peptide product, as well as benefits from development cost sharing arrangements. These savings will partially offset by increased spending on our oncology collaboration with
Chiron, including CHIR12.12, our anti-gastrin antibody program with Aphton and other new projects. Future research and development spending may also be impacted by
potential new licensing or collaboration arrangements. Beyond this, the scope and magnitude of future research and development expenses are difficult to predict at this time.
 

Generally speaking, biopharmaceutical development includes a series of steps, including in vitro and in vivo preclinical testing, and Phase I, II and III clinical studies in
humans. Each of these steps is typically more expensive than the previous step, but actual timing and the cost to us depends on the product being tested, the nature of the
potential disease indication and on the terms of any collaborative arrangements with other companies. After successful conclusion of all of these steps, regulatory filings for
approval to market the products must be completed, including approval of manufacturing processes and facilities for the product. Our research and development expenses
currently include costs of personnel, supplies, facilities and equipment, consultants, patent expenses and third party costs related to preclinical and clinical testing.
 

General and Administrative Expenses
 

In 2004, general and administrative expenses were $15.6 million compared with $13.4 million in 2003 and $16.5 million in 2002. The increase of $2.2 million in 2004
compared with 2003 resulted from higher business development expenses and costs associated with implementing procedures and staffing necessary to meet the requirements of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The decrease of $3.1 million in 2003 as compared with 2002 consisted primarily of reduced legal expenses related to our litigation with Biosite
Incorporated and certain shareholder litigation, which totaled approximately $7.0 million in 2002. We anticipate that general and administrative expenses will decrease in 2005
because of reductions in costs associated with the initial implementation of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act partially offset by costs related to increased business development activities.
 

Collaborative Arrangement Expenses
 

In 2004, collaborative arrangement expenses, which relate exclusively to RAPTIVA® (see Note 1) were $16.4 million compared with $7.5 million in 2003 and $2.7
million in 2002. The amounts reflect our 25% share of commercialization costs for RAPTIVA® in excess of Genentech’s revenues less cost of goods sold, research and
development cost sharing adjustments and royalties on sales outside the United States. Because of the re-structuring of our arrangement with Genentech, in the future we will
not share in operating costs or R&D expenses, but rather we are entitled to receive royalties on worldwide sales. Genentech will be responsible for all development costs and, to
the extent that we provide further clinical trial support or other development services for RAPTIVA®, we will be compensated by Genentech.
 

   

Year ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
   (in thousands)  
Net collaborative loss before R&D expense   $(15,812) $(10,834) $(2,918)
R&D co-development benefit (charge)    (758)  3,383   200 
Royalties from international sales    197   —     —   
     

Total collaboration arrangement expense   $(16,373) $ (7,451) $(2,718)
     

 
In addition to the amounts shown in the above table, we incurred research and development expenses on RAPTIVA® of $3.9 million, $14.1 million and $8.0 million in

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Investment and Interest Income
 

In 2004, investment and other income was $0.5 million compared with $0.5 million in 2003 and $0.9 million in 2002. The decrease in 2003 compared with 2002 resulted
from lower average cash investment balances and lower interest rates. Interest income is expected to increase in 2005 due to higher cash investment balances.
 

Interest Expense
 

In 2004, interest expense was $1.2 million compared with $1.9 million in 2003 and $2.0 million in 2002. Interest expense for all three years consisted primarily of
interest on the convertible notes due to Genentech and Millennium. The decrease in 2004 compared with 2003 resulted from lower interest rates and partial repayment of the
notes. The decrease in 2003 compared with 2002 was due to lower interest rates which were partially offset by higher loan balances. Interest expense is expected to increase in
2005 due to issuing $60.0 million in convertible debt with an interest rate of 6.5%, which will more than offset savings from eliminating the $40.9 million loan payable to
Genentech.
 

Other Income (Expense)
 

In 2004, other income (expense) was $(0.1) million compared with $0.3 million in 2003 and none in 2002. The 2004 expense reflected a loss on the write-off of property
and equipment. The 2003 income amount resulted from gains on sales of investments. Other income is expected to increase in 2005, reflecting the release of our obligation to
repay the $40.9 million development loan to Genentech.
 

Income Taxes
 

We have recorded cumulative net deferred tax assets of $173.2 million and $127.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, principally attributable to the
timing of the deduction of certain expenses associated with certain research and development expenses, net operating loss and other carryforwards. We also recorded
corresponding valuation allowances of $173.2 million and $127.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, to offset these deferred tax assets, as management
cannot predict with reasonable certainty that the deferred tax assets to which the valuation allowance relates will be realized.
 

As of December 31, 2004, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $225.7 million to offset future taxable income. We also had federal research
and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $12.2 million. If not utilized, these carryforwards will begin to expire in 2005. The availability of our net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to substantial limitation if it is determined that our ownership has changed by more than 50 percent over a three year period.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31, 2004, was $24.3 million compared with $85.2 million at December 31, 2003. This $60.9 million
decrease primarily reflects cash used in operations of $44.8 million, a $13.2 million payment on our short-term loan obligation to Genentech, a $5.0 million cash payment of
our convertible debt to Millennium and a $2.6 million investment in property and equipment which were partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of common shares of
$5.1 million.
 

Net cash used in operating activities was $44.8 million in 2004, compared with $47.8 million in 2003 and $34.8 million in 2002. The decrease in 2004 compared with
2003 reflected a higher net loss that was offset by $10.0 million received in January of 2004 from Baxter related to the termination of agreements, $8.3 million in deferred
revenue remaining from the $10.0 million received from Chiron in 2004 related to the initiation of an exclusive collaboration agreement in oncology in February of 2004 and a
$14.1 million increase in cash flows
 

25



Table of Contents

from accrued liabilities primarily related to amounts owed on our collaborations with Genentech and Chiron which were partially offset by a $5.0 decrease in cash flows from
accounts payable and a $7.4 million decrease in cash flows from additions to notes to a collaborative partner for cost allocations. The increase in 2003 compared with 2002
primarily reflected higher net losses as a result of higher research and development expenses, as well as marketing expenses, related to the pre-launch activities for RAPTIVA®.
 

Net cash used in investing activities for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2.6 million, $0.9 million and $11.6 million, respectively. This included capital expenditures of $2.6
million, $2.7 million and $10.1 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Capital spending in 2005 is expected to be approximately $4.0 million. Besides capital spending,
cash used in investing activities reflected a $1.5 million increase in restricted cash in 2002 which was released in 2003.
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $(13.5) million, $97.3 million and $15.4 million, respectively. Financing activities in
2004 consisted of a $13.2 million payment to retire our short-term loan obligation to Genentech, a $5.0 million payment of our convertible debt to Millennium, $0.6 million for
principal payments on capital lease obligations and $0.4 million for principal payments on a short-term loan partially offset by $1.4 million in proceeds from the sale of
common shares through share option exercises and the employee share purchase plan, $0.5 million proceeds from a short-term note and $3.7 million in proceeds from common
shares sold under our investment agreement with Millennium. Financing activities for 2003 consisted of a $10.8 million net funding from Genentech under our development
agreement, $77.1 million in net proceeds from common shares sold under a public offering, $9.4 million in proceeds from common shares sold under our investment agreement
with Millennium, $0.6 million in proceeds from the exercise of common stock warrants and $0.7 million in proceeds from the sale of common shares through share option
exercises and the employee share purchase plan. This was partially offset by principal payments of $0.8 million to retire a short-term loan obligation and $0.6 million for
principal payments on capital lease obligations. Financing activities for 2002 consisted of $7.7 million net funding by Genentech under our development agreement, $7.1
million in proceeds from common shares sold under our investment agreement with Millennium (net of $0.4 million of issuance costs), $0.6 million in proceeds from the sale of
common shares through share option exercises and the employee share purchase plan and $1.0 million in proceeds from a short-term note. This was partially offset by principal
payments of $0.2 million on the short-term note and $0.7 million for principal payments on capital lease obligations.
 

We expect our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments to increase in 2005, with the proceeds from a convertible senior notes financing concluded in February
of 2005 exceeding cash used in operations and investing activities. See “Subsequent Events” below for details of the February financing.
 

Payments by period due under contractual obligations at December 31, 2004, mature as follows (in thousands):
 

Contractual Obligations

  

Total

  

Less than
1 year

 

1 to 3
years

 

3 to 5
years

 

More than
5 years

Operating leases   $ 9,429  $ 2,777 $5,456 $973 $ 223
Capital leases    250   250  —    —    —  
Non-cancelable purchase orders for ongoing operations    —     —    —    —    —  
Notes payable    116   116  —    —    —  
Notes payable—Genentech(a)    40,934   (a)   (a)   (a)   (a)
        

Total   $50,729  $ 3,143 $5,456 $973 $ 223
        

(a) In January of 2005, our agreement with Genentech was amended and Genentech discharged this note. See “Financial and Legal Arrangements of Product Collaborations”
for further discussion of the interest bearing long-term obligation to Genentech.
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Other than the Genentech obligation and the capital lease obligations stated above, we have no other long-term obligations, nor any purchase obligations, as defined in
Item 303(a)(5) of Regulation S-K since all of our outstanding purchase obligations are cancelable.
 

In addition to a non-recurring gain of $40.9 million, which we expect to record in the first quarter of 2005, from the release of our obligation to pay the development loan
to Genentech (see “Subsequent Events”), the present outlook is for lower losses in 2005 compared with 2004. Our strategy is to attempt to continue broadening our product
pipeline through both internal development and additional collaborations such as our arrangements with Genentech, Millennium, Alexion and Chiron, and to increase revenues
or benefits from cost sharing arrangements which take advantage of our manufacturing and development capabilities.
 

Based on current spending levels, anticipated revenues, partner funding, remaining net proceeds received from our last underwritten public offering, and proceeds from
our convertible senior notes issued in February of 2005, we estimate that we have sufficient cash resources to meet our anticipated net cash needs through at least 2008. Any
significant revenue shortfalls or increases in planned spending on development programs could shorten this period. Additional licensing arrangements or collaborations or
otherwise entering into new equity or other financing arrangements could extend this period. Progress or setbacks by potentially competing products may also affect our ability
to raise new funding on acceptable terms. For a further discussion of the risks related to our business and their effects on our cash flow and ability to raise new funding on
acceptable terms, see “Forward Looking Information And Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results” included in this Item 7 below.
 

Although operations are influenced by general economic conditions, we do not believe that inflation had a material impact on financial results for the periods presented.
We believe that we are not dependent on materials or other resources that would be significantly impacted by inflation or changing economic conditions in the foreseeable
future.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In December of 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which replaces SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123”) and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R requires
all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values beginning with the
first interim or annual period after June 15, 2005, with early adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will be an
alternative to financial statement recognition. We are required to adopt SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, beginning July 1, 2005. Under SFAS 123R, we must
determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost and the transition method to be used at
date of adoption. The transition methods include prospective and retroactive adoption options. Under the retroactive option, prior periods may be restated either as of the
beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The prospective method requires that compensation expense be recorded for all unvested stock options and
restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of SFAS 123R, while the retroactive method would record compensation expense for all unvested stock options
and restricted stock beginning with the first period restated.
 

We are evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R and expect that the adoption of SFAS 123R may have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and
earnings per share. We have not yet determined the method of adoption or the effect of adopting SFAS 123R, and have not determined whether the adoption will result in
amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123.
 

Our Board of Directors has approved the acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding employee share options with an exercise price greater than $3.00 per share, to be
effective April 15, 2005, subject to the final determination of, and adjustment of the effective date and exercise price threshold by, our Chief Executive Officer.
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Subsequent Events
 

In January of 2005, we announced a re-structuring of our arrangement with Genentech on RAPTIVA®. Under the restructured arrangement, effective January 1, 2005,
we will be entitled to receive mid-single digit royalties on worldwide sales of RAPTIVA®. The previous cost and profit sharing arrangement for RAPTIVA® in the United States
was discontinued, and Genentech will be responsible for all operating and development costs associated with the product. Genentech may elect and we may agree to provide
further clinical trial or other development services at Genentech’s expense. In addition, our obligation to pay our outstanding balance to Genentech of $40.9 million under a
development loan was extinguished. In 2004, we recorded collaboration arrangement expense of $16.4 million, incurred an additional $3.9 million of RAPTIVA® costs
included in our research and development expenses and recorded $1.0 million in interest expense related to the development loan. In 2005, we expect to record other income of
$40.9 million in the first quarter related to the extinguishment of the loan obligation and expect to record revenues in accordance with royalties earned on RAPTIVA® sales and
also for any clinical trial or other development services performed for Genentech.
 

In February of 2005, we issued $60.0 million of 6.5% convertible senior notes due in 2012. The notes are initially convertible into approximately 32 million common
shares at a conversion rate of 533.4756 of our common shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, which is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $1.87 per
common share. Before February 6, 2008, we may not redeem the notes. On or after February 6, 2008, we may redeem any or all of the notes at 100% of the principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if our common shares trade at 150% of the conversion price then in effect for 20 trading days in a 30 consecutive trading day period. Holders
of the notes may require us to repurchase some or all of the notes for cash at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid
interest following a fundamental change. In addition, following certain fundamental changes, we will increase the conversion rate by a number of additional common shares or,
in lieu thereof, we may, in certain circumstances, elect to adjust the conversion rate and related conversion obligation so that the notes are convertible into shares of the
acquiring, continuing or surviving company.
 

In March of 2005, we were awarded a $15.0 million contract from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), a part of the National Institutes of
Health (NIH), to develop three anti-botulinum neurotoxin monoclonal antibody therapeutics. The contract work will be performed over an eighteen month period and will be
100% funded with Federal funds from NIAID under Contract No. HHSN266200500004C.
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Forward-Looking Information And Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results
 

Certain statements contained herein related to our potential for profitability, future sales of RAPTIVA®, the relative size of our loss for 2005, the relative levels of our
expenses and revenues for the balance of 2005, the sufficiency of our cash resources, as well as other statements related to current plans for product development and existing
and potential collaborative and licensing relationships, or that otherwise relate to future periods, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements are based on assumptions that may not prove accurate. Actual results could
differ materially from those anticipated due to certain risks inherent in the biotechnology industry and for companies engaged in the development of new products in a regulated
market. Among other things, our ability to achieve profitability will depend on the success of the sales efforts for RAPTIVA®, our ability to effectively anticipate and manage
our expenditures and the availability of capital market and other financing; the sales efforts for RAPTIVA® may not be successful if Genentech or its partner, Serono, fails to
meet its commercialization goals, due to the strength of the competition, if physicians do not adopt the product as treatment for their patients or if remaining regulatory
approvals are not obtained; the actual loss for 2005 could be higher depending on revenues from licensees and collaborators, the size and timing of expenditures and whether
there are unanticipated expenses; expenses could be higher and/or revenues could be lower depending on research and development costs, availability of licensing opportunities
and other factors; and the period for which our cash resources are sufficient could be shortened if expenditures are made earlier or in larger amounts than anticipated or are
unanticipated, if anticipated revenues or cost sharing arrangements do not materialize, or if funds are not otherwise available on acceptable terms. These and other risks,
including those related to the results of pre-clinical testing; the timing or results of pending and future clinical trials (including the design and progress of clinical trials; safety
and efficacy of the products being tested; action, inaction or delay by the FDA, European or other regulators or their advisory bodies; and analysis or interpretation by, or
submission to, these entities or others of scientific data); changes in the status of existing collaborative relationships; the ability of collaborators and other partners to meet their
obligations; competition; market demand for products; scale-up and marketing capabilities; availability of additional licensing or collaboration opportunities; international
operations; share price volatility; our financing needs and opportunities; uncertainties regarding the status of biotechnology patents; uncertainties as to the costs of protecting
intellectual property; and risks associated with our status as a Bermuda company, are described in more detail in the remainder of this section.
 

The Marketing And Sales Effort In Support Of The Only Product In Which We Have An Interest That Has Received Regulatory Approval May Not Be Successful.
 

RAPTIVA®, the only product in which we have an interest that has received regulatory approval, was approved by the FDA on October 27, 2003, for the treatment of
chronic moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis in adults who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy. Genentech and Serono, Genentech’s international marketing
partner for RAPTIVA®, are responsible for the marketing and sales effort in support of this product, and Genentech has only commenced the full intended scope of this effort in
the United States within the past year. In September of 2004, Serono announced that RAPTIVA® had received approval for use in the European Union and the product was
launched in several European Union countries in the fourth quarter of 2004. We have no role in marketing and sales efforts. Under our current arrangement with Genentech, we
are entitled to receive royalties on worldwide sales of RAPTIVA®. Successful commercialization of this product is subject to a number of risks, including Genentech’s and
Serono’s ability to implement their marketing and sales effort and achieve sales, the strength of competition from other products being marketed or developed to treat psoriasis,
physicians’ and patients’ acceptance of RAPTIVA® as a treatment for psoriasis, Genentech’s ability to provide manufacturing capacity to meet demand for the product, and
pricing and reimbursement issues. Certain of these risks are discussed in more detail below.
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Because Our Products Are Still Being Developed, We Will Require Substantial Funds To Continue; We Cannot Be Certain That Funds Will Be Available And, If They
Are Not Available, We May Have To Take Actions Which Could Adversely Affect Your Investment.

 
If adequate funds are not available, we may have to raise additional funds in a manner that may dilute or otherwise adversely affect the rights of existing shareholders,

curtail or cease operations, or file for bankruptcy protection in extreme circumstances. We have spent, and we expect to continue to spend, substantial funds in connection with:
 
 • research and development relating to our products and production technologies,
 
 • expansion of our production capabilities,
 
 • various human clinical trials, and
 
 • protection of our intellectual property.
 

Based on current spending levels, anticipated revenues, partner funding, remaining net proceeds received from our last underwritten public offering, and proceeds from
our convertible senior notes issued in February of 2005, we estimate that we have sufficient cash resources to meet our anticipated net cash needs through at least 2008. Any
significant revenue shortfalls or increases in planned spending on development programs could shorten this period. Additional licensing arrangements or collaborations or
otherwise entering into new equity or other financing arrangements could extend this period. Progress or setbacks by potentially competing products may also affect our ability
to raise new funding on acceptable terms. As a result, we do not know when or whether:
 
 • operations will generate meaningful funds,
 
 • additional agreements for product development funding can be reached,
 
 • strategic alliances can be negotiated, or
 
 • adequate additional financing will be available for us to finance our own development on acceptable terms.
 

Cash balances and operating cash flow are influenced primarily by the timing and level of payments by our licensees and development partners, as well as by our
operating costs.
 

Most Of Our Therapeutic Products Have Not Received Regulatory Approval. If These Products Do Not Receive Regulatory Approval, Neither Our Third Party
Collaborators Nor We Will Be Able To Manufacture And Market Them.

 
Our products cannot be manufactured and marketed in the United States and other countries without required regulatory approvals. Only one of our therapeutic products,

RAPTIVA®, has received regulatory approval. The United States government and governments of other countries extensively regulate many aspects of our products, including:
 
 • testing,
 
 • manufacturing,
 
 • promotion and marketing, and
 
 • exporting.
 

In the United States, the FDA regulates pharmaceutical products under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other laws, including, in the case of biologics, the
Public Health Service Act. At the present time, we believe that most of our products will be regulated by the FDA as biologics. The review of therapeutic
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biologic products has been transferred within the FDA from the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research to the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, the body that
reviews drug products. Because implementation of this plan may not be complete, we do not know when or how this change will affect us. Changes in the regulatory approval
policy during the development period, changes in, or the enactment of, additional regulations or statutes or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application
may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. Even if the FDA or other regulatory agency approves a product candidate, the approval may impose significant
restrictions on the indicated uses, conditions for use, labeling, advertising, promotion, marketing and/or production of such product. Even for approved products such as
RAPTIVA®, the FDA may impose ongoing requirements for post-approval studies, including additional research and development and clinical trials, and may subsequently
withdraw approval based on these additional trials. The FDA and other agencies also may impose various civil or criminal sanctions for failure to comply with regulatory
requirements, including withdrawal of product approval. State regulations may also affect our proposed products.
 

The FDA has substantial discretion in both the product approval process and manufacturing facility approval process and, as a result of this discretion and uncertainties
about outcomes of testing, we cannot predict at what point, or whether, the FDA will be satisfied with our or our collaborators’ submissions or whether the FDA will raise
questions which may be material and delay or preclude product approval or manufacturing facility approval. As we accumulate additional clinical data, we will submit it to the
FDA, which may have a material impact on the FDA product approval process.
 

Our potential products will require significant additional research and development, extensive preclinical studies and clinical trials and regulatory approval prior to any
commercial sales. This process is lengthy and expensive, often taking a number of years. As clinical results are frequently susceptible to varying interpretations that may delay,
limit or prevent regulatory approvals, the length of time necessary to complete clinical trials and to submit an application for marketing approval for a final decision by a
regulatory authority varies significantly. As a result, it is uncertain whether:
 
 • our future filings will be delayed,
 
 • our preclinical and clinical studies will be successful,
 
 • we will be successful in generating viable product candidates to targets,
 
 • we will be able to provide necessary additional data,
 
 • results of future clinical trials will justify further development, or
 
 • we will ultimately achieve regulatory approval for any of these products.
 

For example,
 

 

• In 1996, in conjunction with Genentech, we began testing RAPTIVA® in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis. In April of 2002, Genentech and we
announced that a pharmacokinetic study conducted on RAPTIVA® comparing XOMA-produced material and Genentech-produced material did not achieve the pre-
defined statistical definition of comparability, and the FDA requested that another Phase III study be completed before the filing of a Biologics License Application
for RAPTIVA®, delaying the filing beyond the previously-planned time frame of the summer of 2002. In March of 2003, we announced completion of enrollment
in a Phase II study of RAPTIVA® in patients suffering from rheumatoid arthritis. In May of 2003, Genentech and we announced our decision to terminate Phase II
testing of RAPTIVA® in patients suffering from rheumatoid arthritis based on an evaluation by an independent Data Safety Monitoring Board that suggested no
overall net clinical benefit in patients receiving the study drug. We also completed enrollment in a Phase II study of RAPTIVA® as a possible treatment for patients
with psoriatic arthritis. In March of 2004, we announced that the study did not reach statistical significance.

 
 • In December of 1992, we began human testing of our NEUPREX® product, a genetically engineered fragment of a particular human protein, and licensed certain

worldwide rights to Baxter in January of
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2000. In April of 2000, members of the FDA and representatives of XOMA and Baxter discussed results from the Phase III trial that tested NEUPREX® in
pediatric patients with a potentially deadly bacterial infection called meningococcemia, and senior representatives of the FDA indicated that the data presented
were not sufficient to support the filing of an application for marketing approval at that time.

 

 
• In 2003, we completed two Phase I trials of XMP.629, a BPI-derived topical peptide compound targeting acne, evaluating the safety, skin irritation and

pharmacokinetics. In January of 2004, we announced the initiation of Phase II clinical testing in patients with mild-to-moderate acne. In August of 2004, we
announced the results of a Phase II trial with XMP.629 gel. The results were inconclusive in terms of clinical benefit of XMP.629 compared with vehicle gel.

 

 
• In November of 2004, in conjunction with Alexion, we determined that the lead molecule in our TPO mimetic collaboration did not meet the criteria established in

the program for continued development. The companies are evaluating next steps for the collaboration, including a potential alternative TPO mimetic compound for
development.

 
Given that regulatory review is an interactive and continuous process, we maintain a policy of limiting announcements and comments upon the specific details of the

ongoing regulatory review of our products, subject to our obligations under the securities laws, until definitive action is taken.
 

Because All Of Our Products Are Still Being Developed, We Have Sustained Losses In The Past And We Expect To Sustain Losses In The Future.
 

We have experienced significant losses and, as of December 31, 2004, we had an accumulated deficit of $678.5 million.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we had a net loss of approximately $78.9 million, or $0.93 per common share (basic and diluted). For the year ended December
31, 2003, we had a net loss of approximately $58.7 million, or $0.78 per share (basic and diluted). We expect to incur additional losses in the future.
 

Our ability to achieve profitability is dependent in large part on the success of our development programs, obtaining regulatory approval for our products and entering
into new agreements for product development, manufacturing and commercialization, all of which are uncertain. Our ability to fund our ongoing operations is dependent on the
foregoing factors and on our ability to secure additional funds. Because all of our products are still being developed, we do not know whether we will ever achieve profitability
or whether cash flow from future operations will be sufficient to meet our needs.
 

If Third Party Collaborators And Licensees Do Not Successfully Develop And Market Our Products, We May Not Be Able To Do So On Our Own.
 

Our financial resources and our marketing experience and expertise are limited. Consequently, we depend, to a large extent, upon securing the financial resources and
marketing capabilities of third parties.
 

 

• In April of 1996, we entered into an agreement with Genentech whereby we agreed to co-develop Genentech’s humanized monoclonal antibody product
RAPTIVA®. In April of 1999, March of 2003, and January of 2005, the companies amended the agreement. In October of 2003, RAPTIVA® was approved by the
FDA for the treatment of adults with chronic moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy, and, in September of
2004, Serono announced the product’s approval in the European Union. In January of 2005, we entered into a restructuring of our collaboration agreement with
Genentech which ended our existing cost and profit sharing arrangement related to RAPTIVA® in the U.S. and entitles us to a royalty interest on worldwide net
sales.

 
 • In November of 2001, we entered into a collaboration with Millennium to develop two of Millennium’s products for certain vascular inflammation indications. In

October of 2003, we announced that we had
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 discontinued one of these products, MLN2201. In December of 2003, we announced the initiation of Phase I testing on the other product, MLN2222.
 

 
• In December of 2003, we agreed to collaborate with Alexion for the development and commercialization of an antibody to treat chemotherapy-induced

thrombocytopenia. The TPO mimetic antibody was designed to mimic the activity of human thrombopoietin, a naturally occurring protein responsible for platelet
production.

 

 
• In March of 2004, we announced we had agreed to collaborate with Chiron for the development and commercialization of antibody products for the treatment of

cancer. Under the terms of the agreement, the companies will jointly research, develop, and commercialize multiple antibody product candidates. In July of 2004,
we announced the first product candidate out of the collaboration, CHIR-12.12, an anti-CD40 antibody.

 
 • In September of 2004, we entered into a collaboration with Aphton for the treatment of gastrointestinal and other gastrin-sensitive cancers using anti-gastrin

monoclonal antibodies.
 
 • In October of 2004, we announced the licensing of our ING-1 product to Triton for use with their TNT™ System.
 
 • In November of 2004, we announced the licensing of our BPI product platform, including our NEUPREX® product, to Zephyr.
 

Because our collaborators and licensees are independent third parties, they may be subject to different risks than we are and have significant discretion in determining the
efforts and resources they will apply. We do not know whether Genentech, Millennium, Alexion, Chiron, Aphton, Triton or Zephyr will successfully develop and market any of
the products that are or may become the subject of one of our collaboration or licensing arrangements. In particular, each of these arrangements provides for either sharing of
collaboration expenses, which means that not only we but our collaborators must have sufficient available funds for the collaborations to continue, or funding solely by our
collaborators or licensees. In addition, our collaboration with Chiron provides for funding by it in the form of periodic loans, and we cannot be certain that Chiron will have the
necessary funds available when these loans are to be made.
 

Even when we have a collaborative relationship, other circumstances may prevent it from resulting in successful development of marketable products.
 
 • In January of 2000, we licensed the worldwide rights to all pharmaceutical compositions containing a particular human protein for treatment of meningococcemia

and additional potential future human clinical indications to Baxter. In July of 2003, this arrangement was terminated, and the rights returned to us.
 

 
• In January of 2001, we entered into a strategic process development and manufacturing alliance with Onyx to scale-up production to commercial volume of one of

Onyx’s cancer products. In June of 2003, Onyx notified us that it was discontinuing development of the product and terminating the agreement so that it could focus
on another of its anticancer compounds.

 
Although we continue to evaluate additional strategic alliances and potential partnerships, we do not know whether or when any such alliances or partnerships will be

entered into.
 

Certain Of Our Technologies Are Relatively New And Are In-Licensed From Third Parties, So Our Capabilities Using Them Are Unproven And Subject To Additional
Risks.

 
Primarily as a result of our bacterial cell expression licensing program, we have access to numerous phage display technologies licensed to us by other parties. However,

we have had access to these technologies for a relatively short time and, to varying degrees, are still dependent on the licensing parties for training and technical
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support for these technologies. In addition, our use of these technologies is limited by certain contractual provisions in the licenses relating to them and, although we have
obtained numerous licenses, intellectual property rights in the area of phage display are particularly complex. We cannot be certain that these restrictions or the rights of others
will not impede our ability to utilize these technologies.
 

Because We Have No History Of Profitability And Because The Biotechnology Sector Has Been Characterized By Highly Volatile Stock Prices, Announcements We
Make And General Market Conditions For Biotechnology Stocks Could Result In A Sudden Change In The Value Of Our Common Shares.

 
As a biopharmaceutical company, we have experienced significant volatility in our common shares. Fluctuations in our operating results and general market conditions

for biotechnology stocks could have a significant impact on the volatility of our common share price. From January 1, 2004 through March 9, 2005, our share price has ranged
from a high of $7.71 to a low of $1.12. On March 9, 2005, the closing price of the common shares as reported on the Nasdaq National Market was $1.15 per share. Factors
contributing to such volatility include, but are not limited to:
 
 • sales and estimated or forecasted sales of products,
 
 • results of preclinical studies and clinical trials,
 
 • information relating to the safety or efficacy of our products,
 
 • developments regarding regulatory filings,
 
 • announcements of new collaborations,
 
 • failure to enter into collaborations,
 
 • developments in existing collaborations,
 
 • our funding requirements and the terms of our financing arrangements,
 
 • announcements of technological innovations or new indications for our therapeutic products,
 
 • government regulations,
 
 • developments in patent or other proprietary rights,
 
 • the number of shares outstanding,
 
 • the number of shares trading on an average trading day,
 
 • announcements regarding other participants in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, and
 
 • market speculation regarding any of the foregoing.
 

We Or Our Third Party Collaborators Or Licensees May Not Be Able To Increase Existing Or Acquire New Manufacturing Capacity Sufficient To Meet Market
Demand.

 
Genentech is responsible for manufacturing or arranging for the manufacturing of commercial quantities of RAPTIVA®. Should Genentech have difficulty in providing

manufacturing capacity to produce RAPTIVA® in sufficient quantities, we do not know whether they will be able to meet market demand. If any of our other products are
approved, because we have never commercially introduced any pharmaceutical products, we do not know whether the capacity of our existing manufacturing facilities can be
increased to produce sufficient quantities of our products to meet market demand. Also, if we or our third party collaborators or licensees need additional manufacturing
facilities to meet market demand, we cannot predict that we will successfully obtain those facilities because we do not know whether they will be available on acceptable terms.
In addition, any manufacturing facilities acquired or used to meet market demand must meet the FDA’s quality assurance guidelines.
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We Do Not Know Whether There Will Be A Viable Market For RAPTIVA® Or Our Other Products.
 

Even though Genentech and we received FDA approval in October of 2003 to market RAPTIVA® and even if we receive regulatory approval for our other products, our
products may not be accepted in the marketplace. For example, physicians and/or patients may not accept a product for a particular indication because it has been biologically
derived (and not discovered and developed by more traditional means) or if no biologically derived products are currently in widespread use in that indication. Similarly,
physicians may not accept RAPTIVA® if they believe other products to be more effective or are more comfortable prescribing other products. Consequently, we do not know if
physicians or patients will adopt or use our products for their approved indications.
 

Other Companies May Render Some Or All Of Our Products Noncompetitive Or Obsolete.
 

Developments by others may render our products or technologies obsolete or uncompetitive. Technologies developed and utilized by the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries are continuously and substantially changing. Competition in the areas of genetically engineered DNA-based and antibody-based technologies is
intense and expected to increase in the future as a number of established biotechnology firms and large chemical and pharmaceutical companies advance in these fields. Many
of these competitors may be able to develop products and processes competitive with or superior to our own for many reasons, including that they may have:
 
 • significantly greater financial resources,
 
 • larger research and development and marketing staffs,
 
 • larger production facilities,
 
 • entered into arrangements with, or acquired, biotechnology companies to enhance their capabilities, or
 
 • extensive experience in preclinical testing and human clinical trials.
 

These factors may enable others to develop products and processes competitive with or superior to our own or those of our collaborators. In addition, a significant
amount of research in biotechnology is being carried out in universities and other non-profit research organizations. These entities are becoming increasingly interested in the
commercial value of their work and may become more aggressive in seeking patent protection and licensing arrangements.
 

Furthermore, positive or negative developments in connection with a potentially competing product may have an adverse impact on our ability to raise additional funding
on acceptable terms. For example, if another product is perceived to have a competitive advantage, or another product’s failure is perceived to increase the likelihood that our
product will fail, then investors may choose not to invest in us on terms we would accept or at all.
 

Without limiting the foregoing, we are aware that:
 

 
• In April of 2004, Amgen Inc. and its partner Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, a division of Wyeth, announced that their rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis drug,

Enbrel®, had been approved by the FDA for the same psoriasis indication as RAPTIVA® and, in September of 2004, they announced that the product received
approval in the European Union in this same indication;

 
 • Biogen Idec Inc. has been marketing Amevive® in the U.S. to treat the same psoriasis indication as RAPTIVA® and announced in October of 2004 that it had

received approval in Canada;
 

 
• Centocor, Inc., a unit of Johnson & Johnson, has announced that it has tested its rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn’s disease drug, Remicade®, in psoriasis, showing

clinical benefits, and that the European Commission has granted approval of Remicade®, in combination with methotrexate, to treat psoriatic arthritis, in the
European Union;
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 • Abbott Laboratories has presented data from a Phase II psoriasis trial showing clinical benefits of its rheumatoid arthritis drug Humira™;
 
 • Isotechnika has begun a Canadian Phase III trial of ISA247, a trans-isomer of a cyclosporine analog, in 400 patients with moderate to severe psoriasis; and
 
 • other companies are developing monoclonal antibody or other products for treatment of inflammatory skin disorders.
 

It is possible that other companies may be developing other products based on the same human protein as our NEUPREX® product, and these products may prove to be
more effective than NEUPREX®.
 

Amgen is developing AMG 531, a recombinant protein, for the treatment of immune thrombocytopenic purpura. This condition is related to thrombocytopenia, the
indication that is the subject of our collaboration with Alexion. AMG 531 has completed Phase I and II studies.
 

There are at least two competitors developing a complement inhibitor which may compete with MLN2222. Alexion and its partner Proctor & Gamble have initiated
enrollment in a second Phase III trial of pexelizumab, a monoclonal antibody. This study is expected to enroll approximately 4,000 patients undergoing coronary artery bypass
graft surgery. TP10 is a complement inhibitor developed by AVANT for applications including the limitation of complement-mediated damage following surgery on
cardiopulmonary by-pass. AVANT anticipates completing enrollment in the Phase IIb study in 200-300 women undergoing cardiac bypass surgery as soon as possible.
AVANT is also working closely with its partner, Lonza Biologics plc, to complete process development and scale-up efforts in preparation for the production of Phase III
clinical materials and the start of that trial by year-end 2005.
 

Currently, there are at least two companies developing topical peptide treatments for acne which may compete with XMP.629. Migenix Inc., formerly Micrologix
Biotech, Inc., is developing MBI 594AN, a topical peptide that has completed a Phase IIB trial for the treatment of acne, and Helix Biomedix, Inc. is developing several peptide
compounds.
 

In collaboration with Chiron, we are co-developing the monoclonal antibody target CD40, and, at the current time, there are several CD40-related programs under
development, mostly focused on the development of CD40 ligand products. For example, SGN-40 is a humanized monoclonal antibody under development by Seattle Genetics,
Inc. which is targeting CD40 antigen. SGN-40 is currently in Phase I studies in multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, with an additional Phase I study in chronic
lymphocytic leukemia to begin in 2005. Another example is 5d12, an anti-CD40 antibody under development by Tanox, Inc. for Crohn’s disease. Chiron licensed the antibody
to Tanox, Inc. in 1995 and retains some commercialization and technology rights.
 

Even If We Or Our Third Party Collaborators Or Licensees Bring Products To Market, We May Be Unable To Effectively Price Our Products Or Obtain Adequate
Reimbursement For Sales Of Our Products, Which Would Prevent Our Products From Becoming Profitable.

 
If we or our third party collaborators or licensees succeed in bringing our product candidates to the market, they may not be considered cost-effective, and

reimbursement to the patient may not be available or may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our products on a competitive basis. In both the United States and elsewhere, sales
of medical products and treatments are dependent, in part, on the availability of reimbursement to the patient from third-party payors, such as government and private insurance
plans. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for pharmaceutical products and services. Our business is affected by the efforts of government and
third-party payors to contain or reduce the cost of health care through various means. In the United States, there have been and will continue to be a number of federal and state
proposals to implement government controls on pricing. In addition, the emphasis on managed care in the United States has increased
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and will continue to increase the pressure on the pricing of pharmaceutical products. We cannot predict whether any legislative or regulatory proposals will be adopted or the
effect these proposals or managed care efforts may have on our business.
 

If Our And Our Partners’ Patent Protection For Our Principal Products And Processes Is Not Enforceable, We May Not Realize Our Profit Potential.
 

Because of the length of time and the expense associated with bringing new products to the marketplace, we and our partners hold and are in the process of applying for a
number of patents in the United States and abroad to protect our products and important processes and also have obtained or have the right to obtain exclusive licenses to certain
patents and applications filed by others. However, the patent position of biotechnology companies generally is highly uncertain and involves complex legal and factual
questions, and no consistent policy regarding the breadth of allowed claims has emerged from the actions of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office with respect to biotechnology
patents. Legal considerations surrounding the validity of biotechnology patents continue to be in transition, and historical legal standards surrounding questions of validity may
not continue to be applied, and current defenses as to issued biotechnology patents may not in fact be considered substantial in the future. These factors have contributed to
uncertainty as to:
 
 • the degree and range of protection any patents will afford against competitors with similar technologies,
 
 • if and when patents will issue,
 
 • whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patent applications, or
 
 • the extent to which we will be successful in avoiding infringement of any patents granted to others.
 

The Patent Office has issued approximately 75 patents to us related to our products based on human bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein, which we call BPI,
including novel compositions, their manufacture, formulation, assay and use. In addition, we are the exclusive licensee of BPI-related patents and applications owned by NYU
and Incyte. These patents and licenses are now licensed and sublicensed to Zephyr. The Patent Office has also issued nine patents to us related to our bacterial expression
technology.
 

If certain patents issued to others are upheld or if certain patent applications filed by others issue and are upheld, we may require licenses from others in order to develop
and commercialize certain potential products incorporating our technology or we may become involved in litigation to determine the proprietary rights of others. These licenses,
if required, may not be available on acceptable terms, and any such litigation may be costly and may have other adverse effects on our business, such as inhibiting our ability to
compete in the marketplace and absorbing significant management time.
 

Due to the uncertainties regarding biotechnology patents, we also have relied and will continue to rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological
advancement to develop and maintain our competitive position. All of our employees have signed confidentiality agreements under which they have agreed not to use or
disclose any of our proprietary information. Research and development contracts and relationships between us and our scientific consultants and potential customers provide
access to aspects of our know-how that are protected generally under confidentiality agreements. These confidentiality agreements may not be honored or may not be enforced
by a court. To the extent proprietary information is divulged to competitors or to the public generally, such disclosure may adversely affect our ability to develop or
commercialize our products by giving others a competitive advantage or by undermining our patent position.
 

Protecting Our Intellectual Property Can Be Costly And Expose Us To Risks Of Counterclaims Against Us.
 

We may be required to engage in litigation or other proceedings to protect our intellectual property. The cost to us of this litigation, even if resolved in our favor, could
be substantial. Such litigation could also divert
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management’s attention and resources. In addition, if this litigation is resolved against us, our patents may be declared invalid, and we could be held liable for significant
damages. In addition, if the litigation included a claim of infringement by us of another party’s patent that was resolved against us, we or our collaborators may be enjoined
from developing, manufacturing, selling or importing products, processes or services unless we obtain a license from the other party.
 

The Financial Terms Of Future Collaborative or Licensing Arrangements Could Result In Dilution Of Our Share Value.
 

Funding from collaboration partners and others has in the past and may in the future involve purchases of our shares. Because we do not currently have any such
arrangements, we cannot be certain how the purchase price of such shares, the relevant market price or premium, if any, will be determined or when such determinations will be
made. Any such arrangement could result in dilution in the value of our shares.
 

Because Many Of The Companies We Do Business With Are Also In The Biotechnology Sector, The Volatility Of That Sector Can Affect Us Indirectly As Well As
Directly.

 
The same factors that affect us directly because we are a biotechnology company can also adversely impact us indirectly by affecting the ability of our collaborators,

partners and others we do business with to meet their obligations to us or our ability to realize the value of the consideration provided to us by these other companies.
 

For example, in connection with our licensing transactions relating to our bacterial expression technology, we have in the past and may in the future agree to accept
equity securities of the licensee in payment of license fees. The future value of these or any other shares we receive is subject both to market risks affecting our ability to realize
the value of these shares and more generally to the business and other risks to which the issuer of these shares may be subject.
 

As We Do More Business Internationally, We Will Be Subject To Additional Political, Economic And Regulatory Uncertainties.
 

We may not be able to successfully operate in any foreign market. We believe that, because the pharmaceutical industry is global in nature, international activities will
be a significant part of our future business activities and that, when and if we are able to generate income, a substantial portion of that income will be derived from product sales
and other activities outside the United States. Foreign regulatory agencies often establish standards different from those in the United States, and an inability to obtain foreign
regulatory approvals on a timely basis could put us at a competitive disadvantage or make it uneconomical to proceed with a product’s development. International operations
may be limited or disrupted by:
 
 • imposition of government controls,
 
 • export license requirements,
 
 • political or economic instability,
 
 • trade restrictions,
 
 • changes in tariffs,
 
 • restrictions on repatriating profits,
 
 • exchange rate fluctuations,
 
 • withholding and other taxation, and
 
 • difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.
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Because We Are A Relatively Small Biopharmaceutical Company With Limited Resources, We May Not Be Able To Attract And Retain Qualified Personnel, And The
Loss Of Key Personnel Could Delay Or Prevent Achieving Our Objectives.

 
Our success in developing marketable products and achieving a competitive position will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific and

management personnel, particularly in areas requiring specific technical, scientific or medical expertise. There is intense competition for such personnel. Our research, product
development and business efforts could be adversely affected by the loss of one or more key members of our scientific or management staff, particularly our executive officers:
John L. Castello, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer; Patrick J. Scannon, M.D., Ph.D., our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and
Medical Officer; Peter B. Davis, our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer; and Christopher J. Margolin, our Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. We
have employment agreements with each of these executive officers. We currently have no key person insurance on any of our employees. Clarence L. Dellio, our former Senior
Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, retired from our company effective as of December 31, 2004.
 

We Are Exposed To An Increased Risk Of Product Liability Claims.
 

The testing, marketing and sales of medical products entails an inherent risk of allegations of product liability. We believe that we currently have adequate levels of
insurance for our development and manufacturing activities; however, in the event of one or more large, unforeseen awards, such levels may not provide adequate coverage. A
significant product liability claim for which we were not covered by insurance would have to be paid from cash or other assets. To the extent we have sufficient insurance
coverage, such a claim would result in higher subsequent insurance rates.
 

We May Be Subject To Increased Risks Because We Are A Bermuda Company.
 

Alleged abuses by certain companies that have changed their legal domicile from jurisdictions within the United States to Bermuda have created an environment where,
notwithstanding that we changed our legal domicile in a transaction that was approved by our shareholders and fully taxable to our company under U.S. law, we may be
exposed to various prejudicial actions, including:
 
 • “blacklisting” of our common shares by certain pension funds;
 
 • legislation restricting certain types of transactions; and
 
 • punitive tax legislation.
 

We do not know whether any of these things will happen, but if implemented one or more of them may have an adverse impact on our future operations or our share
price.
 

If You Were To Obtain A Judgment Against Us, It May Be Difficult To Enforce Against Us Because We Are A Foreign Entity.
 

We are a Bermuda company. All or a substantial portion of our assets, including substantially all of our intellectual property, may be located outside the United States.
As a result, it may be difficult for shareholders and others to enforce in United States courts judgments obtained against us. We have irrevocably agreed that we may be served
with process with respect to actions based on offers and sales of securities made hereby in the United States by serving Christopher J. Margolin, c/o XOMA Ltd., 2910 Seventh
Street, Berkeley, California 94710, our United States agent appointed for that purpose. Uncertainty exists as to whether Bermuda courts would enforce judgments of United
States courts obtained in actions against XOMA or our directors and officers that are predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws or entertain original
actions brought in Bermuda against XOMA or such persons predicated upon the U.S. securities laws. There is no treaty in effect between the United States and Bermuda
providing for such enforcement, and there are grounds upon
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which Bermuda courts may not enforce judgments of United States courts. Certain remedies available under the United States federal securities laws may not be allowed in
Bermuda courts as contrary to that nation’s policy.
 

Our Shareholder Rights Agreement Or Bye-laws May Prevent Transactions That Could Be Beneficial To Our Shareholders And May Insulate Our Management From
Removal.

 
In February of 2003, we adopted a new shareholder rights agreement (to replace the shareholder rights agreement that had expired), which could make it considerably

more difficult or costly for a person or group to acquire control of XOMA in a transaction that our board of directors opposes.
 

Our bye-laws:
 
 • require certain procedures to be followed and time periods to be met for any shareholder to propose matters to be considered at annual meetings of shareholders,

including nominating directors for election at those meetings;
 
 • authorize our board of directors to issue up to 1,000,000 preference shares without shareholder approval and to set the rights, preferences and other designations,

including voting rights, of those shares as the board of directors may determine; and
 
 • contain provisions, similar to those contained in the Delaware General Corporation Law that may make business combinations with interested shareholders more

difficult.
 

These provisions of our shareholders rights agreement and our bye-laws, alone or in combination with each other, may discourage transactions involving actual or
potential changes of control, including transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices to holders of common shares, could limit
the ability of shareholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best interests, and could make it considerably more difficult for a potential acquirer to
replace management.
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 Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

Interest Rate Risk
 

Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. We do not invest in derivative financial instruments. By policy,
we make our investments in high quality debt securities, limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer, limit duration by restricting the term of the instrument and hold
investments to maturity except under rare circumstances
 

We also have a long-term interest bearing obligation to Genentech at December 31, 2004. In conjunction with restructuring our agreement with Genentech, this
obligation was extinguished in January of 2005.
 

In February of 2005, we issued $60.0 million of 6.5% convertible senior notes due in 2012.
 

The table below presents the amounts and related weighted interest rates of our cash equivalents in overnight funds at December 31, 2004 and 2003:
 

   

Maturity

  

Fair Value
(in thousands)

  

Average
Interest Rate

 
December 31, 2004   Daily  $ 23,808  2.06%
December 31, 2003   Daily  $ 84,812  0.92%
 
 Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
 

The following consolidated financial statements of the registrant, related notes and report of independent registered public accounting firm are set forth beginning on
page F-1 of this report.
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial Statements   F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets   F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations   F-4
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity (Net Capital Deficiency)   F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows   F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   F-7
 
 Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

Not Applicable.
 
 Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures
 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer and our Vice
President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-14(c)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer and our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely
alerting them to material information relating to us and our consolidated subsidiaries required to be included in our periodic SEC filings.
 

In April of 2003, we implemented a new financial reporting system which represents a significant change in our internal controls. During our evaluation of internal
controls conducted for the second quarter of 2003, special procedures were performed regarding the system conversion and implementation. We concluded that the system
conversion and implementation was properly controlled to ensure accurate financial reporting. We are further
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enhancing internal financial controls and staffing consistent with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Apart from this, there were no changes in our internal
controls over financial reporting during 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial accounting.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

Management, including our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer and our Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.
 

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, Management used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment
we believe that, as of December 31, 2004, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.
 

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, has been audited by Ernst & Young, LLP, the
independent registered public accounting firm who also audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Ernst & Young’s attestation report on management’s
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting follows.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of XOMA Ltd.
 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that XOMA Ltd.
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). XOMA Ltd.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that XOMA Ltd. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, XOMA Ltd. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of XOMA
Ltd. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004, of XOMA Ltd. and our report dated March 11, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 

/s/    ERNST & YOUNG LLP
 
Palo Alto, California
March 11, 2005
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PART III
 
 Item 10.    Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
 

The section labeled “Item 1—Election of Directors” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by
reference. Certain information concerning our executive officers is set forth in Part I of this Form 10-K.
 
 Item 11.    Executive Compensation
 

The section labeled “Compensation of Executive Officers” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated
herein by reference.
 
 Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters
 

The section labeled “Share Ownership” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.
 
 Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
 

Not applicable.
 
 Item 14.    Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 

The section labeled “Item 2—Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” appearing in our proxy statement for the 2005 Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 
 Item 15.    Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
 

(a) The following documents are included as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
 

(1) Financial Statements:
 

All financial statements of the registrant referred to in Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K.
 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
 

All financial statements schedules have been omitted because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto or is
not applicable or required.

 
(3) Exhibits:

 
See “Index to Exhibits.”
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 SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this 14th day of March 2005.
 

XOMA LTD.

By:
 

/S/    JOHN L. CASTELLO        

  John L. Castello
 

 
Chairman of the Board, President

and Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature

  

Title

 

Date

/S/    JOHN L. CASTELLO        

(John L. Castello)   

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

 

March 14, 2005

/S/     PATRICK J. SCANNON        

(Patrick J. Scannon)   

Director, Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and
Medical Officer

 

March 14, 2005

/S/     PETER B. DAVIS        

(Peter B. Davis)   

Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

 

March 14, 2005

/S/     JAMES G. ANDRESS        

(James G. Andress)   

Director

 

March 14, 2005

/S/     WILLIAM K. BOWES, JR.        

(William K. Bowes, Jr.)   

Director

 

March 14, 2005

/S/    ARTHUR KORNBERG        

(Arthur Kornberg)   

Director

 

March 14, 2005

/S/    STEVEN C. MENDELL        

(Steven C. Mendell)   

Director

 

March 14, 2005

/S/    W. DENMAN VAN NESS        

(W. Denman Van Ness)   

Director

 

March 14, 2005

/S/    PATRICK J. ZENNER        

(Patrick J. Zenner)   

Director

 

March 14, 2005
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 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of XOMA Ltd.
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XOMA Ltd. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of XOMA Ltd. at December 31, 2004
and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of XOMA Ltd.’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 11, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 

/s/    ERNST & YOUNG LLP
 
Palo Alto, California
March 11, 2005
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 XOMA Ltd.
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
ASSETS        

Current assets:          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,808  $ 84,812 
Short-term investments    511   436 
Receivables    707   10,625 
Related party receivables    167   94 
Prepaid expenses    1,414   1,267 

    
Total current assets    26,607   97,234 

Property and equipment, net    19,306   21,337 
Related party receivables—long-term    188   120 
Deposits    159   159 
    

Total assets   $ 46,260  $ 118,850 
    

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
(NET CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)        

Current liabilities:          
Accounts payable   $ 1,919  $ 5,058 
Accrued liabilities    19,331   6,163 
Notes payable    116   13,343 
Capital lease obligations    237   520 
Deferred revenue    2,000   90 
Convertible note    —     5,284 

    
Total current liabilities    23,603   30,458 

Capital lease obligations—long-term    —     272 
Deferred revenue—long-term    6,333   —   
Interest bearing obligation—long-term    40,934   39,906 
    

Total liabilities    70,870   70,636 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)          

Shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency):          
Preference shares, $.05 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized          

Series A, 135,000 designated, no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003    —     —   
Series B, 8,000 designated, 2,959 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003; aggregate liquidation

preference of $29.6 million    1   1 
Common shares, $.0005 par value, 135,000,000 shares authorized, 85,587,174 and 83,998,697 shares outstanding at December 31,

2004 and 2003, respectively    43   42 
Additional paid-in capital    653,537   647,534 
Accumulated comprehensive income    280   166 
Accumulated deficit    (678,471)  (599,529)

    
Total shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency)    (24,610)  48,214 

    
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency)   $ 46,260  $ 118,850 

    
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 XOMA Ltd.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Revenues:              

License and collaborative fees   $ 3,573  $ 18,946  $ 16,850 
Contract and other revenues    92   5,466   13,099 

     
Total revenues    3,665   24,412   29,949 

     
Operating costs and expenses:              

Research and development    49,784   61,063   42,817 
General and administrative    15,604   13,436   16,491 
Collaboration arrangement    16,373   7,451   2,718 

     
Total operating costs and expenses    81,761   81,950   62,026 

     
Loss from operations    (78,096)  (57,538)  (32,077)

Other income (expense):              
Investment and interest income    499   461   871 
Interest expense    (1,229)  (1,875)  (2,041)
Other income (expense)    (116)  299   —   

     
Net loss   $ (78,942) $ (58,653) $ (33,247)

     

Basic and diluted net loss per common share   $ (0.93) $ (0.78) $ (0.47)
     
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share    84,857   75,070   70,355 
     
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 XOMA Ltd.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(NET CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)

(in thousands)
 
          

Paid-In
Capital

 

Accumulated
Comprehensive

Income

 

Accumulated
Deficit

 

 Total
Shareholders’

Equity (Net
Capital

Deficiency)

 

  

Preferred Shares

 

Common Shares

    

  

Shares

 

Amount

 

Shares

 

Amount

    
Balance, December 31, 2001  —   $ —   70,184 $ 35 $521,163 $ 50 $ (507,629) $ 13,619 
Exercise of share options, contributions to 401(k) and incentive plans  —    —   167  —    1,050  —    —     1,050 
Sale of common shares (net)  —    —   1,443  1  7,141  —    —     7,142 
Comprehensive loss:                         

Unrealized gain on investments  —    —   —    —    —    71  —     71 
Net loss  —    —   —    —    —    —    (33,247)  (33,247)

                      
Comprehensive loss                       (33,176)

         
Balance, December 31, 2002  —    —   71,794  36  529,354  121  (540,876)  (11,365)
Exercise of share options, contributions to 401(k) and incentive plans  —    —   383  —    1,482  —    —     1,482 
Sale of common shares (net)  —    —   11,722  6  86,524  —    —     86,530 
Issuance of preferred shares  3  1 —    —    29,589  —    —     29,590 
Exercise of warrants  —    —   100  —    585  —    —     585 
Comprehensive loss:                         

Unrealized gain on investments  —    —   —    —    —    45  —     45 
Net loss  —    —   —    —    —    —    (58,653)  (58,653)

                      
Comprehensive loss                       (58,608)

         
Balance, December 31, 2003  3  1 83,999  42  647,534  166  (599,529)  48,214 
Exercise of share options, contributions to 401(k) and incentive plans  —    —   653  —    2,328  —    —     2,328 
Sale of common shares (net)  —    —   920  1  3,675  —    —     3,676 
Exercise of warrants  —    —   15  —    —    —    —     —   
Comprehensive loss:                         

Unrealized gain on investments  —    —   —    —    —    114  —     114 
Net loss  —    —   —    —    —    —    (78,942)  (78,942)

                      
Comprehensive loss                       (78,828)

         
Balance, December 31, 2004  3 $ 1 85,587 $ 43 $653,537 $ 280 $ (678,471) $ (24,610)

         
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 XOMA Ltd.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Cash flows from operating activities:              

Net loss   $ (78,942) $ (58,653) $ (33,247)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              

Depreciation and amortization    4,553   3,991   2,118 
Common shares contribution to 401(k) and management incentive plans    926   754   541 
Increase in notes to a collaborative partner for cost allocations    —     7,445   2,718 
Accrued interest on convertible notes and other interest bearing obligations    578   1,729   1,779 
Loss on disposal/retirement of property and equipment    121   —     10 
(Gain) loss on sale of investments    35   (299)  —   

Changes in assets and liabilities:              
Receivables and related party receivables    9,777   (1,787)  (6,972)
Inventory    —     1,306   (7)
Prepaid expenses    (147)  (818)  (200)
Deposits    —     13   22 
Accounts payable    (3,139)  1,858   (319)
Accrued liabilities    13,168   (936)  2,674 
Deferred revenue    8,243   (2,439)  (3,958)

     
Net cash used in operating activities    (44,827)  (47,836)  (34,841)

     
Cash flows from investing activities:              

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments    5   4,299   —   
Purchase of short-term investments    —     (4,000)  —   
Transfer of restricted cash    —     1,500   (1,500)
Purchase of property and equipment    (2,643)  (2,678)  (10,133)

     
Net cash used in investing activities    (2,638)  (879)  (11,633)

     
Cash flows from financing activities:              

Proceeds from short-term loan    508   —     1,000 
Principal payments of short-term loan    (13,570)  (763)  (237)
Payments under capital lease obligations    (555)  (603)  (670)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes    —     10,787   7,672 
Principal payments of convertible notes    (5,000)  —     —   
Proceeds from issuance of common shares    5,078   87,844   7,651 

     
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (13,539)  97,265   15,416 

     
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (61,004)  48,550   (31,058)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period    84,812   36,262   67,320 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   $ 23,808  $ 84,812  $ 36,262 
     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 XOMA Ltd.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
1.    Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Business
 

XOMA Ltd. (“XOMA” or the “Company”), a Bermuda company, is a biopharmaceutical company that develops for commercialization antibodies and other genetically-
engineered protein products to treat immunological and inflammatory disorders, cancer and infectious diseases. The Company’s products are presently in various stages of
development and most are subject to regulatory approval before they can be introduced commercially. The Company has one approved product, RAPTIVA®, which is marketed
in the United States and Europe, for the treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis under a collaboration agreement with Genentech, Inc. (“Genentech”). XOMA’s
pipeline includes both proprietary products and collaborative programs at various stages of preclinical and clinical development.
 
Consolidation
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, if any, at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
 
Concentration of Risk
 

Cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable are financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk.
The Company maintains money market funds and short-term investments that bear minimal risk. The Company has not experienced any significant credit losses and does not
generally require collateral on receivables. In 2004, three customers represented 45%, 14% and 14% of total revenues and as of December 31, 2004, and there were billed and
unbilled receivables of $250,000 outstanding from one of these customers. In 2003, two customers represented 50% and 20% of total revenues and as of December 31, 2003,
there were billed and unbilled receivables of $10.0 million outstanding from one of these customers.
 
Reclassifications
 

Certain items previously reported in specific financial statement captions have been reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2004 presentation. Such reclassifications have
not impacted previously reported revenues, operating loss or net loss.
 

Collaboration arrangement
 

Beginning in 2004, the Company reported its RAPTIVA® collaboration profit or loss as a single line item to reflect the terms of the agreement with Genentech, which
includes XOMA’s share of Genentech’s operating profit or loss before research and development expenses from RAPTIVA® sales in the United States, royalty income on sales
of RAPTIVA® outside of the United States and any research and development cost sharing
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XOMA Ltd.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 
adjustments between the companies. Collaboration activity each quarter through 2004 has resulted in a loss, and has been included in operating expenses. Research and
development costs incurred directly by the Company related to RAPTIVA® continued to be included in research and development expense.
 

In connection with the revised presentation of RAPTIVA® collaboration profit or loss, the Company reclassified the following amounts (in thousands):
 

   

Year ended December 31,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 

   

Revised

  

Original

  

Reclassified

  

Revised

  

Original

  

Reclassified

 
Research and development   $ 61,063  $ 57,461  $ 3,602  $ 42,817  $ 42,621  $ 196 
General and administrative*    13,436   24,489   (11,053)  16,491   19,405   (2,914)
Collaboration arrangement    7,451   —     7,451   2,718   —     2,718 
            

Total operating costs and expenses   $ 81,950  $ 81,950  $ —    $ 62,026  $ 62,026  $ —   
            

* Shown as “Marketing, general and administrative” in prior years.
 

Beginning January 1, 2005, the collaboration arrangement has been re-structured to eliminate the cost and profit sharing arrangement in the United States. XOMA is
entitled to receive a royalty on worldwide sales of RAPTIVA® and Genentech will be responsible for all operating and development costs. As a result, the collaboration
arrangement line item will not be used in the 2005 financial results. XOMA expects to record revenue for worldwide royalties as earned and for any clinical trial or other
development services which it provides and is compensated for by Genentech.
 
Critical Accounting Policies
 

The Company believes the following policies to be the most critical to an understanding of its financial condition and results of operations because they require it to
make estimates, assumptions and judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain.
 

Revenue Recognition
 

Revenue is recognized when the related costs are incurred and the four basic criteria of revenue recognition are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2)
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the fee is fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Determination of criteria (3) and (4) are
based on management’s judgments regarding the nature of the fee charged for products or services delivered and the collectibility of those fees.
 

The Company recognizes revenue from its license and collaboration arrangements, contract services and, to a lesser extent, product sales and royalties. Revenue
arrangements with multiple elements are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the
customer and whether there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items. The consideration received is allocated among the separate units based
on their respective fair values and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned
are classified as deferred revenue until earned.
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XOMA Ltd.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 

License and Collaborative Fees
 

Revenue from non-refundable license or technology access payments under license and collaborative agreements where the Company has a continuing obligation to
perform is recognized as revenue over the period of the continuing performance obligation.
 

Milestone payments under collaborative arrangements are recognized as revenue upon completion of the milestone events, which represent the culmination of the
earnings process because the Company has no future performance obligations related to the payment. Milestone payments that require a continuing performance obligation on
the part of the Company are recognized over the period of the continuing performance obligation. Amounts received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue until the
related milestone is completed. Allowances are established for estimated uncollectible amounts, if any.
 

Contract Revenue
 

Contract revenue for research and development involves the Company providing research, development or manufacturing services to collaborative partners or others. The
Company recognizes revenue under these arrangements as the related research and development costs are incurred and collectibility is reasonably assured.
 

Research and Development
 

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred. Research and development expenses consist of direct and research-related allocated overhead costs
such as facilities costs, salaries and related personnel costs, patent costs and material and supply costs. In addition, research and development expenses include costs related to
clinical trials to validate the Company’s testing processes and procedures and related overhead expenses. Under cost sharing arrangements with collaborative partners,
differences between the Company’s actual research and development spending and its share of such spending under the collaboration agreement will also be included as a cost
sharing adjustment in its research and development expense. Expenses resulting from clinical trials are recorded when incurred based in part on estimates as to the status of the
various trials From time to time, research and development expenses may include upfront fees and milestones paid to collaborative partners for the purchase of rights to in-
process research and development. Such amounts are expensed as incurred.
 
Share-Based Compensation
 

In accordance with the provisions of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), as amended
by Financial Accounting Standards No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of SFAS No. 123,” the Company has
elected to continue to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and related interpretations and to adopt the
“disclosure only” alternative described in SFAS 123. Under APB 25, if the exercise price of the Company’s employee share options equals or exceeds the fair market value on
the date of the grant or the fair value of the underlying shares on the date of the grant as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, no compensation expense is
recognized. Accordingly, the financial statements reflect amortization of compensation resulting from options granted at exercise prices which were below market price at the
grant date. Had compensation cost for the Company’s share-based compensation plans been based on the fair value method at the grant dates for awards under these plans
consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123, the Company’s net loss and net loss per share
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would have been increased to the pro forma amounts indicated below for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
 

   

Year ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Net loss—as reported   $(78,942) $(58,653) $(33,247)
Deduct—Total share-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value method    (3,640)  (3,305)  (3,812)
     
Pro forma net loss   $(82,582) $(61,958) $(37,059)
     
Net loss per common share:              

Basic and diluted—as reported   $ (0.93) $ (0.78) $ (0.47)
Basic and diluted—pro forma   $ (0.97) $ (0.83) $ (0.53)

 
The fair value of each option grant under these plans is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average

assumptions used for grants during the years indicated below:
 

   

Year ended December 31,

 

   

    2004    

  

    2003    

  

    2002    

 
Dividend yield   0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility   1.01% 87% 99%
Risk-free interest rate   1.71% 1.24% 1.50%
Expected life   4.5 years  5.1 years  6.2 years 

 
In December of 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which

replaces SFAS 123 and supercedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
financial statements based on their fair values beginning with the first interim or annual period after June 15, 2005, with early adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures
previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will be an alternative to financial statement recognition. For a more complete discussion of SFAS 123R, refer to “Recent
Accounting Pronouncements” at the end of Note 1.
 
Income Taxes
 

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between
the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation allowance is provided for the amount
of deferred tax assets that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.
 
Net Loss Per Common Share
 

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
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The following potentially dilutive outstanding securities were not considered in the computation of diluted net loss per share because they would be antidilutive for each
of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands):
 

   

Year ended December 31,

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Options for common shares   5,790  5,545  4,769
Warrants for common shares   375  600  700
Convertible preference shares, notes, debentures and related interest, as if converted   3,818  12,896  14,917

 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
 

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with maturities of three months or less at the time the Company acquires them to be cash equivalents. Short-
term investments include equity securities classified as available-for-sale.
 

Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, if any, reported in other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains
and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale securities are included in investment and other income. The cost of investments sold is
based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are also included in investment and other income.
 
Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment, including equipment under capital leases, are stated at cost. Equipment depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets (three to seven years). Leasehold improvements, buildings and building improvements are amortized and depreciated using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the lease terms or the useful lives (one to fifteen years).
 

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Furniture and equipment   $ 20,632  $ 27,271 
Land    310   310 
Buildings, leasehold and building improvements    15,288   33,164 
    
    36,230   60,745 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization    (16,924)  (39,408)
    
Property and equipment, net   $ 19,306  $ 21,337 
    

 
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, property and equipment includes equipment acquired under capital lease obligations which had a cost of approximately $1.1 million

and $2.4 million, respectively, and accumulated amortization of $0.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively.
 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $4.6 million, $4.0 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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During 2004, the Company completed a fixed asset inventory in which it identified and wrote-off obsolete and missing fixed assets with an original cost of $23.2 million
and a net book value of $0.1 million.
 
Long-lived Assets
 

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” which superseded FASB Statement No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of,” the Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in
operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the
carrying amounts of those assets.
 
Deferred Revenue
 

Certain of the Company’s license agreements involve continuing performance obligations for services and, in these cases, the related licensing payments received are
recorded as deferred revenue and then recognized as revenue over the period of continuing performance obligation. In 2004, this included $10.0 million in upfront payments
received from Chiron Corporation (“Chiron”) related to a collaboration agreement in oncology, which was initiated in February of 2004, and is being recognized as revenue
over the five year expected term of the agreement. Deferred revenue recognized in 2003 and 2002 related primarily to upfront payments received in prior years from Baxter
Healthcare Corporation (“Baxter”) and Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Onyx”). The following table illustrates the activity in deferred revenue for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Beginning deferred revenue   $ 90  $ 2,529 
Payments received    10,000   200 
Revenue recognized    (1,757)  (2,639)
    
Ending deferred revenue   $ 8,333  $ 90 
    

 
The $8.3 million balance in deferred revenue at December 31, 2004, is expected to be recognized as revenue largely over the next four years. Future amounts may also

be impacted by additional consideration received, if any, under existing or any future licensing or other collaborative arrangements.
 
Accrued Liabilities
 

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

   

2004

  

2003

Accrued collaboration arrangement   $ 9,144  $ —  
Accrued payroll costs    4,804   4,290
Accrued co-development, net    3,361   —  
Accrued legal fees    1,176   1,035
Accrued clinical trial costs    214   451
Other    632   387
     

Total   $ 19,331  $ 6,163
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The fair value of marketable debt and equity securities is based on quoted market prices. The carrying value of these securities approximates their fair value.
 

The fair value of notes is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the current interest rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar
credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities. The carrying values of these obligations approximate their respective fair values.
 

The fair value of capital lease obligations is estimated based on current interest rates available to the Company for debt instruments with similar terms, degrees of risk
and remaining maturities. The carrying values of these obligations approximate their respective fair values.
 
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
 

Cash paid for interest was $0.7 million, $0.1 million and $0.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, there were no
dividends paid on common shares during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
 

Non-cash transactions from financing activities included the conversion of convertible subordinated notes held by Genentech to equity of zero, $29.6 million and zero
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 
Segment Information
 

The Company currently operates in a single business segment as there is only one measurement of profit (loss) for its operations. Revenues attributed to the following
countries for each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, are as follows (in thousands):
 

   

Year ended December 31,

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

United States   $ 1,757  $ 10,788  $ 14,259
Ireland    1,794   13,511   15,616
Others    114   113   74
       

Total   $ 3,665  $ 24,412  $ 29,949
       

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In December of 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”, which replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values beginning with the first interim or annual period after June 15, 2005,
with early adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will be an alternative to financial statement recognition. XOMA is
required to adopt SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, beginning July 1, 2005. Under SFAS 123R, the Company must determine the appropriate fair value model to be
used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost and the transition method to be used at date of adoption. The transition methods include
prospective and retroactive adoption options. Under the retroactive
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option, prior periods may be restated either as of the beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The prospective method requires that compensation expense
be recorded for all unvested stock options and restricted stock at the beginning of the first quarter of adoption of SFAS 123R, while the retroactive method would record
compensation expense for all unvested stock options and restricted stock beginning with the first period restated.
 

The Company is evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R and expects that the adoption of SFAS 123R may have a material impact on its consolidated results of
operations and earnings per share. The Company has not yet determined the method of adoption or the effect of adopting SFAS 123R, and has not determined whether the
adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123.
 

The Company’s Board of Directors has approved the acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding employee share options with an exercise price greater than $3.00 per
share, to be effective April 15, 2005, subject to the final determination of, and adjustment of the effective date and exercise price threshold by, its Chief Executive Officer.
 
2.    Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, cash and cash equivalents consisted of money market funds and overnight deposits and are reported at fair value. These investments are
short term and are classified as available for sale. The carrying value of short-term investments was $0.5 million at December 31, 2004, and $0.4 million at December 31, 2003.
Short-term investments consist of only equity securities at December 31, 2004 and 2003. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were zero, $0.3
million and zero realized gains on short-term investments. Gains and losses are determined on a specific identification basis.
 
3.    Short-term Loan
 

In March of 2002, the Company entered into a secured loan agreement that was collateralized by equipment and property improvements with an annual interest rate of
11.1%. The balance of the loan at December 31, 2002, was $0.8 million and was paid off in February of 2003.
 
4.    License Agreements
 

XOMA has granted more than 30 licenses to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies for use of patented and proprietary technologies relating to bacterial
expression of recombinant pharmaceutical products.
 

In 2003 and 2002, XOMA entered into thirteen antibody-related license arrangements. Six of these were cross-license arrangements related to the use of XOMA’s
bacterial cell expression system technology in phage display. Under the agreements, MorphoSys AG, Biosite Incorporated, Dyax Corp., Cambridge Antibody Technology
Limited, BioInvent International AB and Diversa Corporation received licenses to use XOMA’s antibody expression technology for developing products using phage display-
based antibody libraries. XOMA, in exchange, receives license and other fees as well as access to these companies’ antibody display libraries, intellectual property and/or
services that complement XOMA’s existing development capabilities and helps support the Company’s own antibody product development pipeline.
 

These agreements also generally provide releases of the licensee companies and their collaborators from claims under the XOMA patents arising from past activities
using the companies’ respective technologies to the extent they also used XOMA’s antibody expression technology. Licensees are generally also allowed to use XOMA’s
technology in combination with their own technology in future collaborations.
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5.    Collaborative and Licensing Agreements
 

Total research and development expenses incurred related to the Company’s collaborative agreements were approximately $20.0 million, $36.7 million and $24.9
million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 

Genentech
 

In April of 1996, the Company entered into an agreement with Genentech whereby it agreed to co-develop Genentech’s humanized monoclonal antibody product
RAPTIVA®. In connection with the agreement, Genentech purchased 1.5 million common shares for approximately $9.0 million and agreed to fund the Company’s
development costs for RAPTIVA® until first Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval. This funding was through a series of convertible subordinated notes due at the
earlier of April of 2005 or upon regulatory approval of RAPTIVA®. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company was entitled to receive 25% of U.S. operating profits or
losses from RAPTIVA® in all indications and a royalty on sales outside the U.S. The Company granted Genentech a security interest in its profit share on RAPTIVA® as
collateral against any unpaid past due amounts of these loans.
 

Under the convertible loan agreement, upon FDA approval of the product, which occurred October 27, 2003, the Company elected to defer repayment of approximately
$40.0 million as an offset against future proceeds from its 25% share of U.S. operating profits and, on December 22, 2003, the Company issued 2,959 preference shares to
Genentech, convertible into 3.8 million common shares, to repay the remaining outstanding balance of the development loan of $29.6 million. The Company received zero and
$10.8 million net funding from Genentech under this agreement for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively
 

An additional debt facility was established to finance the Company’s share of U.S. commercialization costs prior to FDA approval. Under the terms of the agreement, the
outstanding balance under the commercial loan of $3.0 million related to 2002 commercialization costs was repaid in cash in January of 2004 and the remaining balance of
$10.2 million, which relates to 2003 commercialization costs, was repaid in cash in May of 2004.
 

The agreement was amended in January of 2005, wherein the cost and profit sharing arrangement was terminated. XOMA is now entitled to earn a mid-digit royalty on
worldwide sales of RAPTIVA® with an additional royalty rate on annual sales in the U.S. in excess of a specified level. Additionally, Genentech agreed to extinguish the
Company’s obligation to pay the remaining outstanding balance of $40.9 million under the development loan and related accrued interest.
 

See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the financing arrangement between XOMA and Genentech.
 

Chiron
 

In February of 2004, XOMA entered into an exclusive multi-product collaboration agreement with Chiron for the development and commercialization of antibody
products for the treatment of cancer. Under the terms of the agreement, the companies agreed to share costs and profits on a 70-30 basis, with XOMA’s share being 30%.
XOMA is entitled to initial payments totaling $10.0 million, which were received in March and June of 2004. This initial $10.0 million is being recognized ratably over sixty
months, the expected term of the agreement, as license and collaborative fees.
 

A loan facility of up to $50.0 million will be available to the Company to fund up to 75% of it’s share of development expenses to be incurred beginning in 2005. As of
December 31, 2004, the Company has not drawn
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on this loan facility. Chiron’s profit share is subject to a limited upward adjustment, which, in turn, may be reduced if the Company achieves certain milestones or if Chiron
elects to extend the program from three to five years.
 

Millennium
 

In November of 2001, XOMA announced its agreement with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Millennium”) to develop two of Millennium’s biotherapeutic agents,
MLN2222 (also known as CAB2) and MLN2201, for certain vascular inflammation indications. Under the original agreement, for each product, the Company was responsible
for development activities and related costs through the completion of Phase II trials and for payments to Millennium upon the achievement of certain clinical milestones. After
successful completion of Phase II trials, Millennium would have had the right to commercialize the products and XOMA would have had the option to choose between
continued participation in the development programs and future profit sharing or being entitled to future royalty and milestone payments.
 

In October of 2003, the companies announced the discontinuation of development of MLN2201, based on preliminary data from a Phase I study that did not meet
predefined criteria necessary to support further product development efforts. As a result, XOMA amended the development agreement with Millennium. Under the terms of the
amended development agreement, the Company has no future obligations to make milestone payments to Millennium for MLN2201.
 

XOMA and Millennium are continuing with the development of MLN2222, a complement inhibitor for coronary artery bypass graft surgery, targeting vascular
inflammation associated with such surgery. In December of 2003, the Company announced the initiation of a Phase I clinical program for MLN2222 to evaluate its safety,
tolerability, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties. In October of 2004, the Company announced an amendment to its agreements with Millennium whereby
Millennium assumed responsibility for all subsequent development work and expenses for MLN2222 upon initiation of Phase II testing. XOMA is obligated to continue to
provide quantities of bulk drug substance and services requested and paid for by Millennium for future clinical trials. The Company will be entitled to receive an undisclosed
royalty on future net sales of MLN2222, as well as payments related to the achievement of clinical and regulatory milestones.
 

See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the related financing arrangement between XOMA and Millennium.
 

Aphton
 

In September of 2004, XOMA announced a worldwide collaboration with Aphton Corporation (“Aphton”) to develop treatments for gastrointestinal and other gastrin-
sensitive cancers using anti-gastrin monoclonal antibodies. Under the terms of the agreement, the companies agreed to share all development expenses and all
commercialization profits and losses for all product candidates on a 70/30 basis, with the Company’s share being 30%. XOMA is entitled to have worldwide manufacturing
rights for these products and the ability to share up to 30% in the commercialization efforts in the United States. Aphton shares U.S. commercialization rights and is entitled to
have exclusive rights to commercialize all products outside the United States.
 

Alexion
 

In December of 2003, XOMA entered into a collaboration agreement with Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Alexion”) to jointly develop and commercialize a rationally
designed human thrombopoietin (“TPO”) mimetic
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antibody to treat chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia. Under the terms of the agreement, Alexion and XOMA agreed to share development and commercialization
expenses, including preclinical development, manufacturing and marketing costs world-wide, as well as revenues, generally on a 70-30 basis, with XOMA’s share being 30%.
XOMA paid Alexion a fee at the initiation of the collaboration and may owe additional amounts based on the achievement of regulatory milestones. XOMA is entitled to
royalty payments and milestones related to its bacterial expression technology. In November of 2004, XOMA and Alexion determined that the lead molecule in their TPO
mimetic collaboration did not meet the criteria established in the program for continued development. The companies are evaluating next steps for the collaboration, including a
potential alternative TPO mimetic compound for development.
 

Zephyr
 

In November of 2004, the Company entered into an exclusive worldwide licensing agreement with Zephyr Sciences, Inc. (“Zephyr”) for the research, development and
commercialization of products related to bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (“BPI”), including its NEUPREX® product which is a particular fragment of rBPI and has
been tested in clinical trials in several indications. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will be entitled to receive license fees totaling up to $11.0 million and
milestone payments totaling up to $61.9 million, as well as royalties on sales of future products developed and approved under the agreement. The agreement also includes due
diligence provisions related to the development of BPI in multiple indications with Zephyr funding all future research and development activities. The agreement does not cover
BPI-derived peptide products.
 

Triton
 

In October of 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with Triton BioSystems, Inc. (“Triton”) under which Triton licensed from XOMA the exclusive worldwide
right to use the Company’s ING-1 monoclonal antibody with Triton’s Targeted Nano-Therapeutics™ System. The license to Triton includes U.S. and foreign patent rights
related to the Company’s ING-1 and Human Engineering™ technologies along with several pending applications. ING-1 remains available for licensing outside the field covered
by the Triton license.
 

Onyx
 

In January of 2001, XOMA signed a strategic process development and manufacturing agreement with Onyx for its ONYX-015 product. The initial term was five years,
with options to extend for additional periods. Under the terms of the agreement, Onyx was obliged to pay the Company an initial payment as well as payments for development
work and material produced and payments upon achieving key milestones. In June of 2003, Onyx announced that it was discontinuing its therapeutic virus program to focus its
resources on its BAY 43-9006 anticancer compound. Onyx notified XOMA on June 23, 2003, of its intention to terminate the Company’s related process development and
manufacturing agreement effective 120 days from the date of notification. Under the terms of the agreement, Onyx paid $0.5 million as a facility fee plus $1.0 million as a
termination fee in the fourth quarter of 2003 and, in accordance with XOMA’s revenue recognition policy, these amounts were recognized primarily in the fourth quarter of 2003
as the Company’s service commitments were completed at that time. Additionally, the Company accelerated the amortization of $1.0 million remaining in deferred revenue
over the 120-day notification period.
 

Baxter
 

In January of 2000, Baxter’s Hyland Immuno division acquired the worldwide rights to XOMA’s NEUPREX® (rBPI21) for development in antibacterial and anti-
endotoxin indications. XOMA received initial
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non-refundable license and signing fees of $10.0 million. In July of 2003, the Company and Baxter terminated the license and supply agreements for the NEUPREX® product.
XOMA received a one-time termination payment of $10.0 million in January of 2004. Until such payment was made, Baxter continued to reimburse the Company for a portion
of certain development expenses as they were incurred. The Company recognized the $10.0 million termination fee as revenue at the time of the termination in the third quarter
of 2003. In addition, XOMA recorded a charge of $1.3 million related to the Baxter inventory, which would no longer have net realizable value following the Baxter agreement
termination. Due to the nature of the inventory, the $1.3 million charge was recorded in research and development expense.
 
6.    Convertible Notes and Other Arrangements
 

Genentech
 

Under an arrangement with Genentech (see Note 5), the Company received financing for its share of RAPTIVA® development costs through the issuance of convertible
subordinated notes due at the earlier of April of 2005 or upon first regulatory approval of RAPTIVA®, which occurred on October 27, 2003. The notes bear interest at rates of
LIBOR plus 1% (2.9% at December 31, 2004) compounded and reset at the end of June and December each year. Interest is payable at maturity.
 

The agreement was amended March 31, 2003, to provide the following terms:
 

 

• The credit limit under the convertible subordinated debt agreement to finance XOMA’s share of development costs was increased to $80.0 million. The convertible
subordinated note was to mature upon the earlier of (a) April of 2005, except for advances made after April of 2003, in which case payment would be due on the
second anniversary date(s) of such advances or (b) within 90 days after first product approval which occurred on October 27, 2003. At XOMA’s election, the
convertible subordinated note was to be repaid in cash or with shares with the conversion price to be calculated at the time of payment based on the fair market value
at the time of election. If repayment were triggered by product approval, XOMA could elect to defer payment of up to $40.0 million as an offset against the
Company’s proceeds from its 25% share of U.S. operating profits on the product. Following product approval, on November 3, 2003, XOMA announced its
election to defer payment of approximately $40.0 million of this debt as provided above and on December 22, 2003, the Company issued 2,959 of convertible
preference shares to repay the approximately $29.6 million remaining outstanding balance.

 

 

• An additional $15.0 million debt facility was established to finance XOMA’s share of U.S. commercialization costs. The note payable was to mature upon the
earlier of (a) April of 2005, except for advances made after April of 2003 in which case payment will be due on the second anniversary date(s) of such advances or
(b) within 90 days after first product approval by the FDA which occurred on October 27, 2003. At December 31, 2003, the outstanding balance under this note
totaled approximately $13.2 million. Under the terms of the agreement, the outstanding balance of $3.0 million related to 2002 commercialization costs was repaid
in cash in January of 2004. The balance of $10.2 million which relates to 2003 commercialization costs was repaid in cash in May of 2004.

 
 • XOMA granted Genentech a security interest in the Company’s profit share on RAPTIVA® as collateral against any unpaid past due amounts of the loans.
 

The agreement was further amended in January of 2005, wherein XOMA’s liability for the remaining $40.9 million balance outstanding under the development loan,
including accrued interest, was extinguished and the profit sharing arrangement was terminated. The Company has no further obligation under the loan arrangement.
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Millennium
 

In November of 2001, in conjunction with the Millennium development agreement (see Note 5), Millennium committed to purchase, at XOMA’s option, up to $50.0
million worth of the Company’s common shares over three years, through a combination of equity at prevailing market prices in return for cash and retirement of XOMA’s
convertible debt. In October of 2003, in conjunction with discontinuing development of MLN2201, the investment agreement was amended and the remaining funding amounts
were reduced by 40% from a total of $33.5 million to a total of $20.1 million.
 

In February of 2004, the investment agreement was further revised to extend the maturity date of the $5.0 million outstanding convertible debt to April 15, 2004, and to
re-schedule the Company’s decision points regarding whether to sell the remaining $14.7 million worth of common shares to four option dates through March of 2005, at each
of which the Company could issue up to $3,675,000 worth of common shares. In October of 2004, the investment agreement with Millennium was terminated and there will be
no further issuance of the Company’s common shares to Millennium.
 

In July of 2004, the Company exercised its option to sell 920,284 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $3.7 million or $3.99 per share. In November of 2003, the
Company exercised its option to sell 763,719 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $5.4 million or $7.07 per share. In June of 2003, the Company exercised its option to
sell 608,766 shares to Millennium for gross proceeds of $4.0 million or $6.57 per share. In April of 2004, XOMA repaid the $5.0 of convertible debt to Millennium in full in
cash.
 
7.    Share Capital
 
Common Shares
 

In July of 2004, the Company issued 920,284 common shares for net proceeds of $3.7 million related to the investment agreement with Millennium.
 

In June and November of 2003, the Company issued a total of 1,372,485 common shares for net proceeds of $9.4 million related to the investment agreement with
Millennium.
 

In September of 2003, the Company sold 9,000,000 common shares at a price of $8.00 per share in an underwritten public offering. The Company received
approximately $67.2 million of net proceeds during the third quarter of 2003. In October of 2003, the underwriters for the public offering exercised their option to purchase
1,350,000 common shares at $8.00 per share to cover over-allotments. The Company received $10.2 million in additional net cash proceeds.
 

In December of 2002, the Company issued 1,443,418 common shares for net proceeds of $7.1 million related to the investment agreement with Millennium.
 
Preference Shares
 

As of December 31, 2004, the Company has the authority to issue 1,000,000 preference shares, par value $.05 per share. Of these, 135,000 preference shares have been
designated Series A Preference Shares and 8,000 preference shares have been designated Series B Preference Shares.
 
 • Series A:    As of December 31, 2004, the Company has authorized 135,000 Series A Preference Shares of which none were outstanding at December 31, 2004,

2003 and 2002. (See “Shareholder Rights Plan” below.)
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• Series B:    As of December 31, 2004, the Company has authorized 8,000 Series B Preference Shares. In December of 2003, the Company issued 2,959 of the
Series B preference shares to Genentech in repayment of $29.6 million of the outstanding balance under the convertible subordinated debt agreement. Pursuant to
the rights of the Series B preference shares, the holders of Series B preference shares will not be entitled to receive any dividends on the Series B preference shares.
The Series B preference shares will rank senior with respect to rights on liquidation, winding-up and dissolution of XOMA to all classes of common shares. Upon
any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of XOMA, holders of Series B preference shares will be entitled to receive $10,000 per share of
Series B preference shares before any distribution is made on the common shares. The holder of the Series B preference shares has no voting rights, except as
required under Bermuda law.

 
The holder of Series B preference shares has the right to convert Series B preference shares into common shares at a conversion price equal to $7.75 per common
share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. Accordingly, the 2,959 issued Series B preference shares are convertible into approximately 3,818,000
common shares.

 
The Series B preference shares will be automatically converted into common shares at its then effective conversion rate immediately upon the transfer by the initial
holder to any third party which is not an affiliate of such holder. The Company will have the right, at any time and from time to time, to redeem any or all Series B
preference shares for cash in an amount equal to the conversion price multiplied by the number of common shares into which each such share of Series B preference
shares would then be convertible.

 
See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Convertible Notes and Other Arrangements”.

 
Management Incentive Compensation Plans
 

The Board of Directors of the Company established a Management Incentive Compensation Plan (“MICP”) effective July 1, 1993, in which management employees
(other than the Chief Executive Officer), as well as certain additional discretionary participants chosen by the Chief Executive Officer, are eligible to participate. The Chief
Executive Officer is covered under a CEO Incentive Compensation Plan (“CICP”) which was established by the Board of Directors of the Company effective January 1, 2004.
 

As of January 1, 2004, awards earned under the MICP and CICP vest immediately upon the distribution date which occurs during the first quarter of the following fiscal
year with half of the award payable in cash and half in common shares, so long as the participant remains an employee of the Company.
 

Awards earned under the MICP prior to 2004 vest over a three-year period with 50% of each award payable during the first quarter of the following fiscal year and 25%
payable on each of the next two annual distribution dates, so long as the participant remains an employee of the Company. The 50% on the first distribution date is payable half
in cash and half in common shares. The balance on the next two annual distribution dates is payable, at the election of the participant, all in cash, all in common shares or half in
cash and half in common shares or, for elections not made in a timely manner, all in common shares.
 

The maximum number of common shares issuable pursuant to awards made for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, under the two plans were 371,274 and
165,822, respectively, and these shares have been reserved under the Restricted Plan (as defined below).
 

The amounts charged to expense under the MICP and CICP were $2.3 million, $1.6 million and $1.0 million for the plan years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of
December 31, 2004, $2.4 million was accrued related to these plans.
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Employee Share Purchase Plan
 

In 1998, the shareholders approved the 1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan (“Share Purchase Plan”) which provides employees of the Company the opportunity to
purchase common shares through payroll deductions. The Company has reserved 1,500,000 common shares for issuance under the Share Purchase Plan. An employee may
elect to have payroll deductions made under the Share Purchase Plan for the purchase of common shares in an amount not to exceed 15% of the employee’s compensation.
 

Prior to December 31, 2004, the purchase price per common share was either (i) an amount equal to 85% of the fair market value of a common share on the first day of a
24-month offering period or on the last day of such offering period, whichever was lower, or (ii) such higher price as may be set by the Compensation Committee of the Board at
the beginning of such offering period.
 

Effective January 1, 2005 the plan was amended to reduce future offering periods to three months and to change the purchase price per common share to 95% of the
closing price of XOMA shares on the exercise date.
 

In 2004 and 2003, employees purchased 254,258 and 43,246 common shares, respectively under the Share Purchase Plan. Payroll deductions under the Share Purchase
Plan totaled $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 
Shareholder Rights Plan
 

On February 26, 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors unanimously adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (“Rights Plan”), which is designed to extend the provisions of
a similar rights plan originally adopted in October of 1993. Under the Rights Plan, Preference Share Purchase Rights (“Rights”) will be authorized and granted at the rate of one
Right for each common share held of record as of the close of business on April 2, 2003. Each Right entitles the registered holder of common shares to buy a fraction of a share
of the new series of Preference Shares (“Series A Preference Shares”) at an exercise price of $30.00, subject to adjustment. The Rights will be exercisable and will detach from
the common share, only if a person or group acquires 20 percent or more of the common shares, announces a tender or exchange offer that if consummated will result in a
person or group beneficially owning 20 percent or more of the common shares or if the Board of Directors declares a person or group owning 10 percent or more of the
outstanding common shares to be an Adverse Person (as defined in the Rights Plan). Once exercisable, each Right will entitle the holder (other than the acquiring person) to
purchase units of Series A Preference Share (or, in certain circumstances, common shares of the acquiring person) with a value of twice the Rights exercise price. The Company
will generally be entitled to redeem the Rights at $.001 per Right at any time until the close of business on the tenth day after the Rights become exercisable. The Rights will
expire at the close of business on February 26, 2013.
 
Shares Reserved for Future Issuance
 

The Company has reserved common shares for future issuance as of December 31, 2004, as follows:
 

Share option plans   9,075,964
Convertible preference shares   3,818,065
Employee share purchase plan   919,522
Warrants   375,000
   

Total   14,188,551
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The Series B preference shares are convertible into common shares. On December 22, 2003, the Company issued 2,959 shares to Genentech in payment of the $29.6
million outstanding balance under the convertible subordinated note agreement.
 
Share Options and Warrants
 

At December 31, 2004, the Company had share-based compensation plans, as described below. The aggregate number of common shares that may be issued under these
plans is 11,765,000 shares.
 
Share Option Plan
 

Under the Company’s amended 1981 Share Option Plan (“Option Plan”), qualified and non-qualified options of the Company’s common shares may be granted to
certain employees and other individuals as determined by the Board of Directors at not less than the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant. Options granted under
the Option Plan may be exercised when vested and expire generally ten years from the date of grant or three months from the date of termination of employment (longer in the
case of death or certain retirements). Options granted generally vest over four or five years. The Option Plan will terminate on November 15, 2011. Up to 11,150,000 shares are
authorized for issuance under the Option Plan. As of December 31, 2004, options covering 5,088,010 common shares were outstanding under the Option Plan.
 
Restricted Share Plan
 

The Company also has a Restricted Share Plan (“Restricted Plan”) which provides for the issuance of options or the direct sale of common shares to certain employees
and other individuals as determined by the Board of Directors at not less than 85% of fair market value of the common shares on the grant date. Each option issued under the
Restricted Plan will be a non-statutory share option under the federal tax laws and will have a term not in excess of ten years from the grant date or three months from the date
of termination of employment (longer in the case of death or certain retirements). Options granted generally vest over four or five years. The Restricted Plan will terminate on
November 15, 2011.
 

The Company has granted options with exercise prices at 85% of fair market value on the date of grant. Up to 1,500,000 shares are authorized for issuance under the
Restricted Plan, subject to the condition that not more than 11,150,000 shares are authorized under both the Option Plan and the Restricted Plan. As of December 31, 2004,
options covering 387,045 common shares were outstanding under the Restricted Plan.
 

The Company amortizes deferred compensation, which is the difference between the issuance price or exercise price as determined by the Board of Directors and the fair
market value of the shares at the date of sale or grant over the period benefited.
 
Directors Share Option Plan and Other Options
 

In 1992, the shareholders approved a Directors Share Option Plan (“Directors Plan”) which provides for the issuance of options to purchase common shares to non-
employee directors of the Company at 100% of the fair market value of the shares on the date of the grant. Up to 600,000 shares are authorized for issuance during the term of
the Directors Plan. Options vest on the date of grant and have a term of up to ten years. As of December 31, 2004, options for 299,500 common shares were outstanding under
the Directors Plan.
 

In addition, in July of 2002, the Company granted a non-qualified fully-vested option to a director to purchase 15,000 common shares at 100% of the fair market value of
the shares on the date of grant, which will expire in ten years. This option was not issued as part of the Directors Plan.
 

F-22



Table of Contents

XOMA Ltd.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 
Share Option Plans Summary
 

A summary of the status of the all of Company’s share option plans as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, and changes during years ended on those dates is
presented below:
 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

Options:

  

Shares

  

Price*

  

Shares

  

Price*

  

Shares

  

Price*

Outstanding at beginning of year   5,544,676  $ 5.44  4,769,463  $ 5.89  4,166,610  $ 5.58
Granted                      

(1)   1,000   3.26  3,500   6.41  33,500   5.00
(2)   1,196,200   5.07  1,301,400   4.10  791,625   8.19

Exercised   (248,319)  2.60  (165,361)  3.21  (83,589)  4.44
Forfeited, expired or cancelled (3)   (704,002)  5.96  (364,326)  7.49  (138,683)  10.57

                
Outstanding at end of year   5,789,555   5.42  5,544,676   5.44  4,769,463   5.89

                

Exercisable at end of year   3,841,358      3,555,466      3,334,392    

                
Weighted average fair value of options granted                      

(1)      $ 2.32     $ 6.41     $ 4.42
(2)      $ 3.56     $ 4.10     $ 6.46

* Weighted-average exercise price:
(1) Option price less than market price on date of grant as provided for in the Restricted Share Plan.
(2) Option price equal to market price on date of grant.
(3) The Company adjusts for forfeitures as they occur.
 

The following table summarizes information about share options outstanding at December 31, 2004:
 

  

Options Outstanding

 

Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise Prices

 

Number

 

Life *

 

Price **

 

Number

 

Price **

$1.74 –   2.56  1,069,301 1.36 $ 2.48 926,451 $ 2.54
  2.60 –   3.56  1,073,073 7.30  3.36 620,138  3.38
  3.62 –   5.56  1,052,837 4.48  4.58 918,820  4.62
  5.61 –   6.75  1,135,475 7.83  5.89 310,962  6.36
  6.87 –   9.99  1,036,619 5.73  8.80 798,701  8.81
10.04 – 13.95  422,250 6.83  10.68 266,286  10.85
           
  1.74 – 13.95  5,789,555 5.48  5.42 3,841,358  5.36
           

* Weighted-average remaining contractual life
** Weighted-average exercise price
 
Warrants
 

In February of 2000, warrants to purchase up to 250,000 common shares at $5.00 per share and expiring in February of 2005 were issued to the placement agents in
conjunction with a private placement of common shares. As of December 31, 2004, all of these warrants were outstanding.
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In July of 1999, warrants to purchase up to 150,000 common shares at $5.75 per share were issued to the placement agents in conjunction with a private placement of
common shares. All of these warrants expired in July of 2004.
 

XOMA issued 379,000 warrants to purchase common shares in January of 1999 and March of 1999. Each January and March 1999 warrant entitled the holder thereof to
purchase one common share, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. The remaining holder, OTAPE Investments LLC, exercised the remaining warrants in a net issuance in
January of 2004 for 15,500 common shares. As of December 31, 2004, none of these warrants were outstanding.
 

In July of 1998, warrants to purchase 250,000 common shares at $6.00 per share were issued to Incyte Corporation in partial payment of license fees. These warrants
expire in July of 2008. As of December 31, 2004, there were 125,000 of these warrants outstanding.
 

All of the above warrants were exercisable upon issuance. The fair value of the warrants issued to placement agents and advisors were determined using the Black
Scholes valuation method and capitalized as issuance costs associated with the equity financing and charged against paid-in capital.
 
8.    Commitments and Contingencies
 
Collaborative Agreements and Royalties
 

The Company is obligated to pay royalties, ranging generally from 1.5% to 5% of the selling price of the licensed component and up to 25% of any sublicense fees to
various universities and other research institutions based on future sales or licensing of products that incorporate certain products and technologies developed by those
institutions.
 
Leases
 

As of December 31, 2004, the Company leased administrative, research facilities, certain laboratory and office equipment under capital and operating leases expiring on
various dates through 2011.
 

Future minimum lease commitments are as follows (in thousands):
 

   

Capital
Leases

  

Operating
Leases

2005   $ 250  $ 2,776
2006    —     2,807
2007    —     2,649
2008    —     811
2009    —     162
Thereafter    —     224
    

Minimum lease payments    250  $ 9,429
       

Less: amount representing interest expense    (13)   

      
Present value of minimum lease payments    237    

Less: current portion    237    

      
Long-term capital lease obligation   $ —      
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Total rental expense was approximately $2.9 million, $2.8 million and $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 
Legal Proceedings
 

In July of 2003, a complaint was filed in the General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division, Orange County, North Carolina, in a lawsuit captioned Hamlet v.
Genentech, Inc., et al., No. 03 CVS 1161, and was subsequently amended, by participants in one of the Phase III clinical trials of RAPTIVA®. The complaint asserts claims for
alleged negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, misrepresentation and medical negligence against the plaintiff’s treating physician, the physician’s medical practice,
Genentech, XOMA, the institutional review board responsible for the trial and the contract research organization retained to conduct the trial. The complaint seeks unspecified
compensatory damages alleged to be in excess of $10,000. As set forth in the complaint, the plaintiff was initially in the placebo group of this trial; he did not receive
RAPTIVA® during this time and his claims are based on his failure to receive his indicated treatment, not his receipt of RAPTIVA®. At a recent hearing, XOMA was successful
in having all claims that allege or depend on XOMA being a health care provider dismissed and the Court dismissed the fiduciary duty and constructive fraud claims as well.
Four of the defendants, including XOMA, have reached agreement with the plaintiff on a settlement and a settlement agreement and release have been executed.
 

In November of 2004, a complaint was filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of California, in a lawsuit captioned Physicians Executive Business
Corp. v. XOMA Ltd., et al., No. C 04 4878, by an investor in XOMA’s common shares. The complaint asserts claims for alleged fraud and negligent misrepresentation relating
to events preceding the announcement of Phase II trial results for XMP.629 in August of 2004. The complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages. XOMA believes the
claims asserted to be without merit and intends to vigorously defend against them.
 
9.    Income Taxes
 

The significant components of net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, are as follows (in millions):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
Capitalized research and development expenses   $ 68.5  $ 28.4 
Net operating loss carryforwards    81.7   81.4 
Research and development and other credit carryforwards    19.5   17.7 
Other    3.5   0.3 
Valuation allowance    (173.2)  (127.8)
    
Net deferred tax assets   $ —    $ —   
    

 
The net increase in the valuation allowance was $45.4 million, $2.8 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

 
FASB Statement No. 109 provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets is more likely than not. Based upon the weight of available

evidence, which includes the Company’s historical operating performance and carryback potential, the Company has determined that total deferred tax assets should be fully
offset by a valuation allowance.
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XOMA’s accumulated federal and state tax net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2004, are as follows:
 

   

Amounts
(in millions)

  

Expiration
Dates

Federal        
NOLs   $ 225.7  2005 – 2024
Credits    12.2  2011 – 2024

State        
NOLs    83.6  2007 – 2014
Credits    11.0  Do not expire

 
The availability of the Company’s net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to substantial limitation if it should be determined that there has been a

change in ownership of more than 50 percent of the value of the Company’s shares over a three year period.
 
10.    Related Party Transactions
 

In 1993, the Company granted a short-term, secured loan to an officer, director and shareholder of the Company which has been extended annually. In March of 2003,
the outstanding principal and interest were paid in full.
 
11.    Deferred Savings Plan
 

Under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, the Board of Directors adopted, effective June 1, 1987, a tax-qualified deferred compensation plan for
employees of the Company. Participants may make contributions which defer up to 50% of their eligible compensation per payroll period, up to a maximum for 2004 of
$13,000 (or $16,000 for employees over 50 years of age). The Company may, at its sole discretion, make contributions each plan year, in cash or in the Company’s common
shares, in amounts which match up to 50% of the salary deferred by the participants. The expense related to these contributions was $0.6 million; $0.6 million and $0.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
 
12.    Subsequent Events
 

In January of 2005, the Company announced a re-structuring of its arrangement with Genentech on RAPTIVA®. Under the restructured arrangement, effective January
1, 2005, XOMA will be entitled to receive mid-single digit royalties on worldwide sales of RAPTIVA®. The previous cost and profit sharing arrangement for RAPTIVA® in the
United States was discontinued, and Genentech will be responsible for all operating and development costs associated with the product. Genentech may elect and XOMA may
agree to provide further clinical trial or other development services at Genentech’s expense. In addition, XOMA’s obligation to pay its outstanding balance to Genentech of
$40.9 million under a development loan was extinguished. In 2004, XOMA recorded collaboration arrangement expense of $16.4 million, incurred an additional $3.9 million of
RAPTIVA® costs included in its research and development expenses, and recorded $1.0 million in interest expense related to the development loan.
 

In February of 2005, XOMA issued $60.0 million of 6.5% convertible senior notes due in 2012. The notes are initially convertible into approximately 32 million
common shares at a conversion rate of 533.4756 of XOMA common shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes, which is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately
$1.87 per common share. Before February 6, 2008, the Company may not redeem the notes. On or
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after February 6, 2008, the Company may redeem any or all of the notes at 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if its common shares trade at 150%
of the conversion price then in effect for 20 trading days in a 30 consecutive trading day period. Holders of the notes may require XOMA to repurchase some or all of the notes
for cash at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest following a fundamental change. In addition, following certain
fundamental changes, the Company will increase the conversion rate by a number of additional common shares or, in lieu thereof, it may, in certain circumstances, elect to
adjust the conversion rate and related conversion obligation so that the notes are convertible into shares of the acquiring, continuing or surviving company.
 

In March of 2005, the Company was awarded a $15.0 million contract from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), a part of the National
Institutes of Health (NIH), to develop three anti-botulinum neurotoxin monoclonal antibody therapeutics. The contract work will be performed over an eighteen month period
and will be 100% funded with Federal funds from NIAID under Contract No. HHSN266200500004C.
 

F-27



Table of Contents

 Index to Exhibits
 

Exhibit
Number

   

1  Underwriting Agreement dated as of September 19, 2003 by and between XOMA Ltd. and the several underwriters named therein (Exhibit 2)1

3.1  Memorandum of Continuance of XOMA Ltd. (Exhibit 3.4)2

3.2  Bye-Laws of XOMA Ltd. (as amended) (Exhibit 3.2)3

4.1  Shareholder Rights Agreement dated as of February 26, 2003, by and between XOMA Ltd. and Mellon Investor Services LLC as Rights Agent (Exhibit 4.1)3

4.2  Form of Resolution Regarding Preferences and Rights of Series A Preference Shares (Included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 above) (Exhibit 4.2)3

4.3  Form of Resolution Regarding Preferences and Rights of Series B Preference Shares (Exhibit 4.3)2

4.5  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Incyte Warrants) (Exhibit 2)4

4.6  Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant (January and March 1999 Warrants) (Exhibit 5)5

4.7  Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant (July 1999 Warrants) (Exhibit 4)6

4.8  Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant (2000 Warrants) (Exhibit 4)7

4.9  Indenture dated as of February 7, 2005, between XOMA Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (Exhibit 4.1)8

10.1  1981 Share Option Plan as amended and restated (Exhibit 10.1)9

10.1A  Form of Share Option Agreement for 1981 Share Option Plan (Exhibit 10.2)9

10.1B  Amendment to 1981 Share Option Plan

10.1C  Amendment No. 2 to 1981 Share Option Plan

10.2  Restricted Share Plan as amended and restated (Exhibit 10.3)9

10.2A  Form of Share Option Agreement for Restricted Share Plan (Exhibit 10.4)9

10.2B  Form of Restricted Share Purchase Agreement for Restricted Share Plan (Exhibit 10.5)9

10.2C  Amendment to Restricted Share Plan

10.2D  Amendment No. 2 to Restricted Share Plan

10.3  1992 Directors Share Option Plan as amended and restated (Exhibit 10.7)

10.3A
  Form of Share Option Agreement for 1992 Directors Share Option Plan (initial grants) (Exhibit 10.8)9

10.3B  Form of Share Option Agreement for 1992 Directors Share Option Plan (subsequent grants) (Exhibit 10.9)9

10.3C  2002 Director Share Option Plan (Exhibit 10.10)9

10.4  Management Incentive Compensation Plan as amended and restated (Exhibit 10.6)9

10.4A  Amendment to Management Incentive Compensation Plan

10.5  1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan (Exhibit 10.11)9

10.5A  Amendment to 1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan
 

1



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

   

10.5B  Amendment to 1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan

10.6  Form of indemnification agreement for officers (Exhibit 10.6)10

10.7  Form of indemnification agreement for employee directors (Exhibit 10.7)10

10.8  Form of indemnification agreement for non-employee directors (Exhibit 10.8)10

10.9  Employment Agreement dated April 29, 1992, between the Company and John L. Castello (Exhibit 10.9)10

10.10  Employment Agreement dated April 1, 1994, between the Company and Peter B. Davis (Exhibit 10.10)11

10.11  Employment Agreement dated March 26, 2004, between XOMA (US) LLC and Patrick J. Scannon, M.D., Ph.D.

10.12  Employment Agreement dated February 23, 2005, between XOMA (US) LLC and Christopher J. Margolin

10.14  Lease of premises at 890 Heinz Street, Berkeley, California dated as of July 22, 1987 (Exhibit 10.12)10

10.15  Lease of premises at Building E at Aquatic Park Center, Berkeley, California dated as of July 22, 1987 and amendment thereto dated as of April 21, 1988
(Exhibit 10.13)10

10.16
  

Lease of premises at Building C at Aquatic Park Center, Berkeley, California dated as of July 22, 1987 and amendment thereto dated as of August 26, 1987
(Exhibit 10.14)10

10.17
  

Letter of Agreement regarding CPI adjustment dates for leases of premises at Buildings C, E and F at Aquatic Park Center, Berkeley, California dated as of July
22, 1987 (Exhibit 10.15)10

10.18  Lease of premises at 2910 Seventh Street, Berkeley, California dated March 25, 1992 (Exhibit 10.16)10

10.19  Lease of premises at 5860 and 5864 Hollis Street, Emeryville, California dated as of November 2, 2001 (with addendum) (Exhibit 10.19)12

10.20  Lease of premises at 2850 Seventh Street, Second Floor, Berkeley, California dated as of December 28, 2001 (with addendum and guaranty) (Exhibit 10.20)12

10.21  License Agreement dated as of August 31, 1988 between the Company and Sanofi (with certain confidential information deleted) (Exhibit 10.27)10

10.22

  

Amended and Restated Research and License Agreement dated September 1, 1993, between the Company and New York University (with certain confidential
information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission) (Exhibit 10.28)10

10.22A

  

Third Amendment to License Agreement dated June 12, 1997, between the Company and New York University (with certain confidential information omitted,
which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission)
(Exhibit 10.28A)10

10.22B  Fourth Amendment to License Agreement dated December 23, 1998, between the Company and New York University (Exhibit 10.22B)13

10.22C  Fifth Amendment to License Agreement dated June 25, 1999, between the Company and New York University (Exhibit 10.21C)14

 
2



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

   

10.22D

  

Sixth Amendment to License Agreement dated January 25, 2000, between the Company and New York University (with certain confidential information
omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission) (Exhibit 10.1)15

10.22E

  

Seventh Amendment to License Agreement by and among New York University, XOMA Technology Limited and XOMA Ireland Limited effective as of
November 10, 2004, (with certain confidential information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been
filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission)33

10.23
  

Cross License Agreement dated December 15, 1993, between Research Development Foundation and the Company (with certain confidential information
deleted) (Exhibit 10.23)13

10.24
  

Cross License Agreement dated December 15, 1993, between the Company and Research Development Foundation (with certain confidential information
deleted) (Exhibit 10.24)13

10.25
  

Technology Acquisition Agreement dated June 3, 1994, between Connective Therapeutics, Inc. (now called Connetics Corporation) and the Company (with
certain confidential information deleted) (Exhibit 10.46)11

10.25A
  

Amendment Number One to Technology Acquisition Agreement dated December 8, 1999, between Connetics Corporation and XOMA (US) LLC (with certain
confidential information deleted) (Exhibit 10.23A)14

10.25B
  

Agreement dated December 8, 1999, by and between The Immune Response Corporation and XOMA (US) LLC (with certain confidential information deleted)
(Exhibit 10.23B)14

10.26
  

Collaboration Agreement, dated as of April 22, 1996, between the Company and Genentech, Inc. (with certain confidential information omitted, which omitted
information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission) (Exhibit 10.1)15

10.26A

  

Amendment to Collaboration Agreement, dated as of April 14, 1999, between the Company and Genentech, Inc. (with certain confidential information omitted,
which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission)
(Exhibit 10.5)16

10.26B

  

Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement, dated March 31, 2003, by and between XOMA (US) LLC and Genentech, Inc. (with certain confidential
information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission) (Exhibit 2)24

10.26C

  

Second Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement dated January 12, 2005 by and between XOMA (US) LLC and Genentech, Inc. (with certain
confidential information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission)

10.27

  

Common Stock and Convertible Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 22, 1996, between the Company and Genentech, Inc. (with certain confidential
information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission) (Exhibit 10.2)17

10.27A
  

Amendment to Common Stock and Convertible Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 14, 1999, between XOMA Ltd. and Genentech, Inc. (Exhibit
10.6)16

 
3



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

   

10.28

  

Convertible Subordinated Note Agreement, dated as of April 22, 1996, between the Company and Genentech, Inc. (with certain confidential information
omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission) (Exhibit 10.3)17

10.28A

  

Amendment to Convertible Subordinated Note Agreement, dated as of June 13, 1996, between the Company and Genentech, Inc. (with certain confidential
information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission) (Exhibit 10.4)17

10.28B

  

Second Amendment to Convertible Subordinated Note Agreement, dated as of April 14, 1999, between the XOMA Ltd. and Genentech, Inc. (with certain
confidential information omitted, which omitted information is the subject of a confidential treatment request and has been filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission) (Exhibit 10.7)16

10.28C  Amended and Restated Convertible Secured Note Agreement (Development Loan), dated as of March 31, 2003 (Exhibit 3)24

10.28D  Secured Note Agreement (Commercial Launch Loan), dated as of March 31, 2003 (Exhibit 4)24

10.28E  Security Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2003, by and between XOMA Ltd. and Genentech, Inc. (Exhibit 5)24

10.28F  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2003, by and between XOMA Ltd. and Genentech, Inc. (Exhibit 6)24
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Exhibit 10.1B
 

AMENDMENT TO THE XOMA LTD.1981 SHARE OPTION PLAN
 

Effective as of February 25, 2003, pursuant to Board action, the XOMA Ltd. 1981 Share Option Plan (the “Plan”) is hereby amended as follows:
 

1. Section 5(d) of the Plan is amended to read as follows:
 

“(d) Effect of Termination of Employment.
 

(1) Termination Generally. Should an optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options granted to such
optionee under the Plan for any reason other than as provided under subsections (2), (3) or (4) below, then such option or options shall not remain exercisable (except as
otherwise specifically authorized under Section 11) for more than a twelve (12) month period (or such shorter period as is determined by the Plan Administrator and set
forth in the option agreement) following the date of such cessation of employee status, and each such option shall, during such twelve (12) month or shorter period, be
exercisable only to the extent of the number of shares (if any) for which the option is exercisable on the date of such cessation of employee status. Under no circumstances,
however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month or shorter period or (if
earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(2) Termination on Death. Effective for options granted on or after February 25, 2003, should an optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder

of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by reason of death, then such option or options shall become fully exercisable on the date of death even if such options
were not fully exercisable prior to death, and shall remain exercisable for a twelve (12) month period following the date of death. Under no circumstances, however, shall
any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month period or (if earlier) upon the
expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable. In the case of any option granted to an optionee under the Plan and exercisable
following the optionee’s death, such options shall be exercisable by the personal representative of the optionee’s estate or by the person or persons to whom the option is
transferred pursuant to subsection (b) above, provided such exercise occurs prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration of a twelve (12) month period following the date of the
optionee’s death or (ii) the specified expiration date of the option term.

 
(3) Termination on Retirementt. Effective for options granted on or after February 25, 2003, should an optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the

holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by reason of retirement at or after age fifty-five (55) and where the optionee’s age plus years of full-time
employment with the Company exceed seventy (70) (“Retirement”), then such option or options shall become fully exercisable as of the date of Retirement (even if such
options were not fully exercisable prior to Retirement) and shall remain exercisable for the full option term as if the optionee had continued in employment. Upon the
expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(4) Termination for Cause or Unauthorized Disclosure. If (i) the optionee’s status as an employee is terminated for cause (including, but not limited to, any act of

dishonesty, willful misconduct, fraud or embezzlement or any unauthorized disclosure or use of confidential information or trade secrets) or (ii) the optionee makes or
attempts to make any unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company or its subsidiaries, then upon the occurrence of any such
event all outstanding options granted the optionee under the Plan shall immediately terminate and cease to be exercisable.
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(5) Discretion to Accelerate Exercisability. Notwithstanding subsection (1) above, the Plan Administrator shall have the discretion to establish as a provision
applicable to the exercise of one or more options granted under the Plan that during the period of exercisability following cessation of employee status (as provided in such
subsections), the option may be exercised not only with respect to the number of shares for which it is exercisable at the time of the optionee’s cessation of employee status
but also with respect to one or more installments of purchasable shares for which the option otherwise would have become exercisable had such cessation of employee
status not occurred.

 
(6) Employment by Company or Subsidiary. For purposes of the foregoing provisions of this Section 5(d), the optionee shall be deemed to be an employee of the

Company for so long as the optionee remains in the employ of the Company or one or more of its subsidiaries.
 

(7) Consultant. If the option is granted to a consultant or other independent contractor, then the instrument evidencing the granted option shall include provisions
comparable to subsections (1), (2), (3) and (4) above, and may include provisions comparable to subsection (5) above, with respect to the optionee’s termination of service
with the Company or its subsidiaries.”

 
2



Exhibit 10.1C
 

Amendment No. 2 to the
XOMA LTD.

1981 SHARE OPTION PLAN
 

Effective December 8, 2004 and pursuant to Board action, the terms of the options granted to employees of the Company during the period of 1996 to 2002 under
the XOMA Ltd. 1981 Share Option Plan (the “Plan”) are hereby amended as follows:
 

“Effect of Termination of Employment.
 

(1) Termination Generally. Should an optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options granted to such
optionee under the Plan for any reason other than as provided under subsections (2), (3) or (4) below, then such option or options shall not remain exercisable (except as
otherwise specifically authorized by the Plan Administrator) for more than a twelve (12) month period following the date of such cessation of employee status, and each
such option shall, during such twelve (12) month period, be exercisable only to the extent of the number of shares (if any) for which the option is exercisable on the date of
such cessation of employee status. Under no circumstances, however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the
expiration of such twelve (12) month period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(2) Termination on Death. Should an optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by

reason of death, then such option or options shall become fully exercisable on the date of death even if such options were not fully exercisable prior to death, and shall
remain exercisable for a twelve (12) month period following the date of death. Under no circumstances, however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified
expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and
cease to be exercisable. In the case of any option granted to an optionee under the Plan and exercisable following the optionee’s death, such options shall be exercisable by
the personal representative of the optionee’s estate or by the person or persons to whom the option is transferred pursuant to subsection (b) above, provided such exercise
occurs prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration of a twelve (12) month period following the date of the optionee’s death or (ii) the specified expiration date of the option
term.

 
(3) Termination on Retirement. Should an optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by

reason of retirement at or after age fifty-five (55) and where the optionee’s age plus years of full-time employment with the Company exceed seventy (70) (“Retirement”),
then such option or options shall become fully exercisable as of the date of Retirement (even if such options were not fully exercisable prior to Retirement) and shall
remain exercisable for the full option term as if the optionee had continued in employment. Upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to
be exercisable.

 
(4) Termination for Cause or Unauthorized Disclosure. If (i) the optionee’s status as an employee is terminated for cause (including, but not limited to, any act of

dishonesty, willful misconduct, fraud or embezzlement or any unauthorized disclosure or use of confidential information or trade secrets) or (ii) the optionee makes or
attempts to make any unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company or its subsidiaries, then upon the occurrence of any such
event all outstanding options granted the optionee under the Plan shall immediately terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(5) Discretion to Accelerate Exercisability. Notwithstanding subsection (1) above, the Plan Administrator shall have the discretion to establish as a provision

applicable to the exercise of one or more options granted under the Plan that during the period of exercisability following cessation of employee
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status (as provided in such subsections), the option may be exercised not only with respect to the number of shares for which it is exercisable at the time of the optionee’s
cessation of employee status but also with respect to one or more installments of purchasable shares for which the option otherwise would have become exercisable had
such cessation of employee status not occurred.

 
(6) Employment by Company or Subsidiary. For purposes of the foregoing provisions of this Section, the optionee shall be deemed to be an employee of the

Company for so long as the optionee remains in the employ of the Company or one or more of its subsidiaries.”
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Exhibit 10.2C
 

AMENDMENT TO THE XOMA LTD.RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN
 

Effective as of February 25, 2003, pursuant to Board action, the XOMA Ltd. Restricted Share Plan (the “Plan”) is hereby amended as follows:
 

1. Section 1(c) of Article II of the Plan is amended to read as follows:
 

“(c) Effect of Termination of Employment.
 

(1) Termination Generally. Should an Optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options granted to such
Optionee under the Plan for any reason other than as provided under subsections (2), (3) or (4) below, then such option or options shall not remain exercisable for
more than a twelve (12) month period (or such shorter period as is determined by the Plan Administrator and set forth in the option agreement) following the date of
such cessation of employee status, and each such option shall, during such twelve (12) month or shorter period, be exercisable only to the extent of the number of
shares (if any) for which the option is exercisable on the date of such cessation of employee status. Under no circumstances, however, shall any such option be
exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month or shorter period or (if earlier) upon the expiration
of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(2) Termination on Death. Effective for options granted on or after February 25, 2003, should an Optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while

the holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by reason of death, then such option or options shall become fully exercisable on the date of death
even if such options were not fully exercisable prior to death, and shall remain exercisable for a twelve (12) month period following the date of death. Under no
circumstances, however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month
period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable. In the case of any option granted to an Optionee
under the Plan and exercisable following the Optionee’s death, such options shall be exercisable by the personal representative of the Optionee’s estate or by the
person or persons to whom the option is transferred pursuant to subsection (b) above, provided such exercise occurs prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration of a
twelve (12) month period following the date of the Optionee’s death or (ii) the specified expiration date of the option term.

 
(3) Termination on Retirement. Effective for options granted on or after February 25, 2003, should an Optionee cease to be an employee of the Company

while the holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by reason of retirement at or after age fifty-five (55) and where the optionee’s age plus years of
full-time employment with the Company exceed seventy (70) (“Retirement”), then such option or options shall become fully exercisable as of the date of
Retirement (even if such options were not fully exercisable prior to Retirement) as if the optionee continued in employment and shall remain exercisable for a
twelve (12) month period following the date of Retirement.

 
Under no circumstances, however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve
(12) month or shorter period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(4) Termination for Cause or Unauthorized Disclosure. If (i) the Optionee’s status as an employee is terminated for cause (including, but not limited to, any

act of dishonesty, willful misconduct, fraud or embezzlement or any unauthorized disclosure or use of confidential information or trade secrets) or (ii) the Optionee
makes or attempts to make any unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information
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or trade secrets of the Company or its subsidiaries, then upon the occurrence of any such event all outstanding options granted the Optionee under the Plan shall
immediately terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(5) Discretion to Accelerate Exercisability. Notwithstanding subsection (1) above, the Plan Administrator shall have the discretion to establish as a provision

applicable to the exercise of one or more options granted under the Plan that during the period of exercisability following cessation of employee status (as provided
in such subsections), the option may be exercised not only with respect to the number of shares for which it is exercisable at the time of the Optionee’s cessation of
employee status but also with respect to one or more installments of purchasable shares for which the option otherwise would have become exercisable had such
cessation of employee status not occurred.

 
(6) Consultant. If the option is granted to a consultant or other independent contractor, then the instrument evidencing the granted option shall include

provisions comparable to subsections (1), (2), (3) and (4) above, and may include provisions comparable to subsection (5) above, with respect to the Optionee’s
termination of Service.”
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Exhibit 10.2D
 

Amendment No. 2 to the
XOMA LTD.

RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN
 

Effective December 8, 2004 and pursuant to Board action, the terms of the options granted to employees of the Company during the period of 1996 to 2002 under
the XOMA Ltd. Restricted Share Plan (the “Plan”) are hereby amended as follows:
 

“Effect of Termination of Employment.
 

(1) Termination Generally. Should an Optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options granted to such
Optionee under the Plan for any reason other than as provided under subsections (2), (3) or (4) below, then such option or options shall not remain exercisable for more
than a twelve (12) month period following the date of such cessation of employee status, and each such option shall, during such twelve (12) month period, be exercisable
only to the extent of the number of shares (if any) for which the option is exercisable on the date of such cessation of employee status. Under no circumstances, however,
shall any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month period or (if earlier) upon the
expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.

 
(2) Termination on Death. Should an Optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by

reason of death, then such option or options shall become fully exercisable on the date of death even if such options were not fully exercisable prior to death, and shall
remain exercisable for a twelve (12) month period following the date of death. Under no circumstances, however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified
expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve (12) month period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and
cease to be exercisable. In the case of any option granted to an Optionee under the Plan and exercisable following the Optionee’s death, such options shall be exercisable
by the personal representative of the Optionee’s estate or by the person or persons to whom the option is transferred pursuant to subsection (b) above, provided such
exercise occurs prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration of a twelve (12) month period following the date of the Optionee’s death or (ii) the specified expiration date of the
option term.

 
(3) Termination on Retirement. Should an Optionee cease to be an employee of the Company while the holder of one or more outstanding options under the Plan by

reason of retirement at or after age fifty-five (55) and where the optionee’s age plus years of full-time employment with the Company exceed seventy (70) (“Retirement”),
then such option or options shall become fully exercisable as of the date of Retirement (even if such options were not fully exercisable prior to Retirement) as if the
optionee continued in employment and shall remain exercisable for a twelve (12) month period following the date of Retirement.

 
Under no circumstances, however, shall any such option be exercisable after the specified expiration date of the option term. Upon the expiration of such twelve

(12) month or shorter period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the option term, the option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable.
 

(4) Termination for Cause or Unauthorized Disclosure. If (i) the Optionee’s status as an employee is terminated for cause (including, but not limited to, any act of
dishonesty, willful misconduct, fraud or embezzlement or any unauthorized disclosure or use of confidential information or trade secrets) or (ii) the Optionee makes or
attempts to make any unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company or its subsidiaries, then upon the occurrence of any such
event all outstanding options granted the Optionee under the Plan shall immediately terminate and cease to be exercisable.
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(5) Discretion to Accelerate Exercisability. Notwithstanding subsection (1) above, the Plan Administrator shall have the discretion to establish as a provision
applicable to the exercise of one or more options granted under the Plan that during the period of exercisability following cessation of employee status (as provided in such
subsections), the option may be exercised not only with respect to the number of shares for which it is exercisable at the time of the Optionee’s cessation of employee
status but also with respect to one or more installments of purchasable shares for which the option otherwise would have become exercisable had such cessation of
employee status not occurred.”
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Exhibit 10.3
 

XOMA LTD.
 

1992 DIRECTORS SHARE OPTION PLAN
 

(As Amended and Restated Through May 19, 2004)
 

1. General. The XOMA Ltd. 1992 Directors Share Option Plan (the “Plan”) was adopted on February 20, 1992 (the “Adoption Date”) by the Board of Directors of
XOMA Ltd. (the “Company”), subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at its 1992 annual meeting. A total of 600,000 of the Company’s Common Shares, par
value $.0005 per share (“Common Shares”), have been reserved for issuance hereunder. The Plan provides for the granting to non-employee directors of the Company of non-
qualified options (“Options” or “Option”) to purchase Common Shares.
 

2. Purposes. The purposes of the Plan are to increase the proprietary interest of non-employee directors in the Company by granting them non-qualified options to
purchase Common Shares, to promote long-term shareholder value through the potential for increased ownership of Common Shares by non-employee directors, and to
encourage the continued service on the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of non-employee directors.
 

3. Administration. The Plan is designed to operate automatically and not require administration. However, to the extent that administration is necessary, the Plan shall
be administered by those members of the Board who are not eligible to participate in the Plan (the “Plan Administrators”). Since it is intended that this Plan provide for grants of
Options to non-employee directors of the Company, this function will be limited to matters of administrative oversight. Decisions and determinations of the Plan Administrators
shall be final and binding upon all persons having an interest in the Plan. The Plan Administrators will have no discretion with respect to the selection of optionees or the
determination of the exercise price, the timing of grants or the number of shares covered by the Options granted hereunder. The Plan Administrators will receive no additional
compensation for their services in connection with the administration of the Plan.
 

4. Eligibility. Each member of the Board who is not a full or part-time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company (“Director”) shall be
entitled to participate in the Plan.
 

5. Grants under the Plan. All Options granted under the Plan shall be non-statutory options, not entitled to special tax treatment under Section 422 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The number of Common Shares available for grants under the Plan shall not exceed 600,000 shares, subject to adjustment as
provided in Section 7. The shares with respect to which a particular Option has been granted are hereinafter referred to as “Optioned Shares.” The written agreement evidencing
each Option granted under the Plan (the “Agreement”) shall be dated as of the applicable date of grant. Each Director accepting an Option grant shall execute and return a copy
of the Agreement to the Company. If any outstanding Option shall terminate for any reason without having been exercised in full, the shares applicable to the unexercised
portion of such Option shall again become available under the Plan.
 

6. Share Options.
 

(a) Initial Grants. On the Adoption Date (which shall be the date of grant for purposes of paragraphs 6(c), (d) and (e)) of the Plan, each Director shall be granted
an Option to purchase that number of Common Shares equal to 10,000 minus the number of Common Shares with respect to which options have been previously granted to such
Director (without regard to the status of such Director at the time of any such prior grant, whether any such prior grant was made pursuant to another plan of the company or any
other circumstances of any such prior grant), subject to the approval of the Plan by the Company’s shareholders at the 1992 Annual Meeting. Each person who becomes a
Director for the first time after the Effective Date (as defined below) through calendar year 1997 shall be granted an Option on the six-month anniversary of the date such person
becomes a Director to
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purchase that number of Common Shares equal to 10,000 minus the number of Common Shares with respect to which options have been previously granted to such Director
(without regard to the status of such Director at the time of any such prior grant, whether any such prior grant was made pursuant to another plan of the Company or any other
circumstances of any such prior grant). Each person who becomes a Director for the first time beginning calendar year 1998 through calendar year 2003 shall be granted an
Option on the six-month anniversary of the date such person becomes a Director to purchase that number of Common Shares equal to 15,000 minus the number of Common
Shares with respect to which options have been previously granted to such Director (without regard to the status of such Director at the time of any such prior grant, whether
any such prior grant was made pursuant to another plan of the Company or any other circumstances of any such prior grant). Each person who becomes a Director for the first
time beginning calendar year 2004 shall be granted an Option on the date such person becomes a Director to purchase that number of Common Shares equal to 20,000 minus
the number of Common Shares with respect to which options have been previously granted to such Director (without regard to the status of such Director at the time of any such
prior grant, whether any such prior grant was made pursuant to another plan of the Company or any other circumstances of any such prior grant).
 

(b) Regular Annual Grants. On each date that the Company holds its annual meeting of shareholders commencing with the 1993 and ending with the 1997
calendar years, immediately after the annual election of directors, each Director then in office (other than those Directors first elected at such meeting) will receive a grant of an
Option to purchase 1,000 shares, provided that no Director will receive under this Plan Options to purchase a total of more than 25,000 shares. On each date that the Company
holds its annual meeting of shareholders commencing with the 1998 and ending with the 2003 calendar years, immediately after the annual election of directors, each Director
then in office (other than those Directors first elected at such meeting) will receive a grant of an Option to purchase 7,500 shares, provided that no Director will receive under
this Plan Options to purchase a total of more than 75,000 shares. On each date that the Company holds its annual meeting of shareholders commencing with the 2004 calendar
year, immediately after the annual election of directors, each Director then in office (other than those Directors first elected at such meeting) will receive a grant of an Option to
purchase 10,000 shares.
 

(c) Option Exercise Price. The per share price to be paid by the Director at the time an Option is exercised shall be 100% of the fair market value of the Common
Shares on the date of grant. “Fair market value” shall be determined as follows:
 

(i) If the Common Shares are not at the time listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange but is traded in the over-the-counter market, the fair market
value shall be the closing selling price per Common Share on the date in question, as such price is reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers through its
Nasdaq National Market System or any successor system. If there is no reported closing selling price for Common Shares on the date in question, then the closing selling
price on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists shall be determinative of fair market value.

 
(ii) If the Common Shares are at the time listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange, then the fair market value shall be the closing selling price per

Common Share on the date in question on the stock exchange which is the primary market for the Common Shares, as such price is officially quoted on such exchange. If
there is no reported sale of Common Shares on such exchange on the date in question, then the fair market value shall be the closing selling price on the exchange on the
last preceding date for which such quotation exists.

 
(d) Maximum Term of Option. Each Option shall have a maximum term of ten (10) years from the date of grant.

 
(e) Date of Exercise. Provided that an optionee hereunder (an “Optionee”) remains a Director, and except as otherwise provided in paragraph 8(a),

 
(i) the Options granted in Section 6(a) hereof commencing with the 1992 and ending with the 2003 calendar years shall become exercisable in accordance

with the following schedule:
 
 (A) With respect to Options granted pursuant to the first sentence of Section 6(a) hereof, each such Option shall become exercisable with respect to 20%

of the Optioned Shares on the date of grant;
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 (B) Each Option shall become exercisable with respect to 20% (or, in the case of Options referred to in clause (A) above, an additional 20%) of the
Optional Shares after the expiration of one year from the date of grant;

 
 (C) Each Option shall become exercisable with respect to an additional 20% of the Optional Shares after the expiration of two years from the date of

grant;
 
 (D) Each Option shall become exercisable with respect to an additional 20% of the Optioned Shares after the expiration of three years from the date of

grant;
 
 (E) Each Option shall become exercisable with respect to an additional 20% (or, in the case of Options referred to in clause (A) above, the remaining

20%) of the Optional Shares after the expiration of four years from the date of grant;
 
 (F) With respect to Options other than those referred to in clause (A) above, each such Option shall become exercisable with respect to the remaining

20% of the Optioned Shares after the expiration of five years from the date of grant; and
 

  (ii) the Options granted in Section 6(a) hereof commencing with the 2004 calendar years shall become exercisable after the expiration of one year from the
date of grant; and

 
  (iii) the Options granted in Section 6(b) hereof shall become exercisable on the date of grant.

 
Exercisable installments may be exercised in whole or in part and, to the extent not exercised, shall accumulate and be exercisable at any time on or before the Expiration

Date or sooner termination of the Option term.
 

(f) Accelerated Termination of Option Term. The option term with respect to a particular Option granted hereunder shall terminate (and such Option shall cease to
be exercisable) prior to the specified expiration date thereof (the “Expiration Date”) should one of the following provisions become applicable:
 

(i) Except as otherwise provided in subparagraphs (ii), (iii) and (iv) below, should Optionee cease to be a Director at any time during the option term, then
Optionee shall have up to a three (3) month period commencing with the date of such cessation of Director status in which to exercise this Option, but in no event shall this
Option be exercisable at any time after the Expiration Date. During such limited period of exercisability, the Option may not be exercised for more than the number of
Optioned Shares (if any) for which it is exercisable at the date of Optionee’s cessation of Director status. Upon the expiration of such limited period of exercisability or (if
earlier) upon the Expiration Date, the Option shall terminate and cease to be outstanding.

 
(ii) Should Optionee die while such Option is outstanding, then the personal representative of Optionee’s estate or the person or persons to whom the Option

is transferred shall have the right to exercise this Option, but only with respect to that number of Optioned shares (if any) for which Option is exercisable on the date of
Optionee’s death. Such right shall lapse and the Option shall cease to be exercisable upon the earlier of (A) the expiration of the one (1) year period measured from the date
of Optionee’s death or (B) the specified Expiration Date of the Option term.

 
(iii) Should Optionee become permanently disabled and cease by reason thereof to be a Director at any time during the Option term, then Optionee shall

have a period of twelve (12) months (commencing with the date of such cessation of Director status) during which to exercise such Option; provided, however, that in no
event shall the Option be exercisable at any time after the Expiration Date. During such limited period of exercisability, the Option may not be exercised for more that the
number of Optioned Shares (if any) for which this Option is exercisable at the date of Optionee’s cessation of Director status. Upon the expiration of such limited period of
exercisability or (if earlier) upon the Expiration Date, the Option shall terminate and cease to be outstanding. Optionee shall be deemed to be permanently disabled if
Optionee is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to be of continuous duration of not less than 12
consecutive months or more, unable to perform his/her usual duties as a director of the Company.
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(iv) Should Optionee’s status as a Director be terminated on account of any act of (A) fraud or intentional misrepresentation, or (B) embezzlement,
misappropriation or conversion of assets or opportunities of the Company, or any unauthorized disclosure of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company,
such Option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable immediately upon the date of such termination of Director status.

 
(g) Method of Exercise. An Option may be exercised with respect to all or any part of the shares of Common Shares for which such Option is at the time

exercisable. Each notice of exercise shall be accompanied by the full purchase price of the shares being purchased, with such payment to be made in cash or by check.
 

(h) Transferability. Options are transferable and assignable to the spouse of the Optionee or a descendent of the Optionee (any such spouse or descendent, an
“Immediate Family Member”) or a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or trust so long as all of the shareholders, partners, members or beneficiaries thereof, as
the case may be, are either the Optionee or an Immediate Family Member of the Optionee, provided that (i) there may be no consideration for any such transfer and (ii)
subsequent transfers or transferred options will be prohibited other than by will, by the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a “qualified domestic relations order” as
such term is defined by the Code or the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”). Following transfer, any such options will continue to be subject to the
same terms and conditions as were applicable immediately prior to transfer, provided that for purposes of the option agreement the term “Optionee” will refer to the transferee.
 

7. Adjustment Upon Changes in Capitalization.
 

(a) If the number of shares of the Company as a whole are increased, decreased or changed into, or exchanged for, a different number or kind of shares or
securities of the Company, whether through reclassification, share dividend, share split, combination of shares, exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or the like, an
appropriate and proportionate adjustment shall be made in the number and kind of shares subject to the Plan, and in the number, kind and per share exercise price of shares
subject to unexercised Options or portions thereof granted prior to any such change. Any such adjustment in an outstanding Option, however, shall be made without a change in
the total price applicable to the unexercised portion of the Option but with a corresponding adjustment in the price for each share covered by the Option.
 

(b) If the Company is the surviving or continuing entity in any merger, amalgamation or other business combination, then an Option shall be appropriately
adjusted to apply and pertain to the number and class of securities which the holder of the number of Common Shares subject to an Option immediately prior to such merger,
amalgamation or other business combination would have been entitled to receive in the consummation of such merger, amalgamation or other business combination, and
appropriate adjustment shall be made to the option price payable per share, provided the aggregate option price shall remain the same.
 

8. Corporate Transaction.
 

(a) In the event of one or more of the following transactions (“Corporate Transaction”):
 

(i) a merger, amalgamation or acquisition in which the Company is not the surviving or continuing entity, except for a transaction the principal purpose of
which is to change the jurisdiction of the Company’s incorporation,

 
(ii) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or

 
(iii) any other business combination in which fifty percent (50%) or more of the Company’s outstanding voting shares are transferred to different holders in a

single transaction or a series of related transactions,
 
then the exercisablity of an Option shall automatically be accelerated so that such Option may be exercised for any or all of the Common Shares subject to such Option. No
such acceleration of exercise dates shall occur, however, if
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and to the extent the terms of any agreement relating to such Corporate Transaction provide as a prerequisite to the consummation of such Corporate Transaction that
outstanding options purchase Common Shares (including an Option issued pursuant to this Plan) are to be assumed by the successor corporation or parent thereof or are to be
replaced with options to purchase capital shares of the successor corporation or parent thereof. In any such case, an appropriate adjustment as to the number and kind of shares
and the per share exercise prices shall be made. No fractional shares shall be issued under the Plan on account of any adjustment specified above. Upon the consummation of
the Corporate Transaction, an Option shall, to the extent not previously exercised or assumed by the successor corporation or its parent company, terminate and cease to be
exercisable.
 

(b) This Plan shall not in any way affect the right of the company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize or otherwise make changes in its capital or business structure or
to merge, amalgamate, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.
 

9. Amendment and Termination of Plan. The Board may make such amendments to the Plan and to any Agreements hereunder as it shall deem advisable; provided,
however, that the Board may not, without further approval by the affirmative votes of the holders of a majority of the securities of the Company present, or represented, and
entitled to vote at a shareholders meeting duly held in accordance with applicable laws, increase the number of shares as to which Options may be granted under this Plan
(except as otherwise permitted in paragraph 8(a) hereof), materially increase the benefits accruing to participants under this Plan or materially modify the requirements as to
eligibility for participation under this Plan. In addition, the Board may not amend the Plan or Agreement hereunder more than once every six months, other than to comport
with changes in the Code or the rules thereunder. The Board may terminate the Plan at any time within its absolute discretion. No such termination, other than that provided in
Section8(a) hereof, shall in any way affect any Option then outstanding.
 

10. Miscellaneous Provisions. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving any Director any right to be nominated for re-election to the
Board. The Plan shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.
 

11. Effective Date. The Plan was initially adopted by the Board on February 20, 1992 and approved by the Company shareholders at the 1992 Annual Meeting, to be
effective as of February 20, 1992 (the “Effective Date”). Amendments to the Plan regarding transfer provisions were adopted by the Board on October 30, 1996 and approved by
the shareholders at the 1997 Annual Meeting. Further amendments to the amended and restated Plan to increase the number of shares issuable under the Plan were adopted by
the Board on February 25, 1998 and approved by the shareholders at the 1998 Annual Meeting. The Plan was further amended to reflect the Company’s change of domicile
from Delaware to Bermuda and the new restatement of the Plan, effective December 31, 1998, was adopted by the Board in February of 1999. An amendment and restatement
of the Plan was adopted by the Board on February 25, 2004 and approved by the shareholders at the 2004 Annual Meeting.
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Exhibit 10.4A
 

AMENDMENT NO. 1
 

TO THE XOMA LTD.
 

MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
(As Amended and Restated February 20, 2002)

 
1. Effective as of January 1, 2004, the XOMA Ltd. Management Incentive Compensation Plan (as amended and restated February 20, 2002, the “Plan”) is hereby

amended, with respect to all awards under the Plan for Plan Periods beginning on or after such effective date, by:
 

(a) inserting the phrase “Senior Director,” before the phrase “Director or Manager,” in the first sentence of the second paragraph of Article I of the Plan;
 

(b) deleting the fourth paragraph of Article I of the Plan in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following:
 

“Individual awards will be granted in cash and common shares of XOMA based on the average market value of the common shares for the ten trading days prior to
the date of the award. Awards will be immediately vested on the distribution date set by the Board of Directors acting in part on the advice of the CEO and the
Compensation Committee and expected to be in February or March of the year succeeding the Plan Period. The award to be paid on the distribution date will be
comprised of 50% cash and 50% in common shares of XOMA based on the market value formula set forth above.”

 
(c) inserting the phrase “Senior Director,” before the phrase “Director or Manager,” in the first sentence of Section A of Article IV of the Plan;

 
(d) deleting the last sentence of Section A of Article IV of the Plan in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following:

 
“Each participant must maintain eligibility and continue as an Employee until the date of distribution to receive the distribution to be made on that date.”

 
(e) deleting the table in Section C.2.b. of Article IV of the Plan in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following:

 

“Participant Level

  

Company
Objectives

 

Individual
Objectives

 

Performance
Objectives

Officer   50%  30%  20%
Senior Director   40%  40%  20%
Director   40%  40%  20%
Manager and Discretionary Participant   30%  50%  20%”
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(f) deleting the table in Section C.2.c. of Article IV of the Plan in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following:
 

“Participant Level

  

Minimum

  

Target

  

Maximum

 
Officer   12.5% 25% 37.5%
Senior Director   10% 20% 30%
Director   7.5% 15% 22.5%
Manager   5% 10% 15%
Discretionary Participant   3.5% 7% 10.5%”

 
(g) deleting the phrase “Subject to vesting requirements,” from the second sentence of Section C.3.b. of Article IV of the Plan;

 
(h) deleting the last sentence of Section C.3.c. of Article IV of the Plan in its entirety;

 
(i) deleting Sections C.3.d.i. and ii. of Article IV of the Plan in their entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following:

 
“i. Subject to other provisions hereof, if a participant’s employment is terminated for any reason, or for no reason, on or before December 31 of any Plan

Period or at any time in any subsequent year prior to the distribution date on which awards with respect to any Plan Period are expected to be made, such participant
shall forfeit all rights to Incentive Compensation as yet unpaid pursuant to the Plan, unless the CEO determines in her/his sole discretion, that such Employee
should continue to participate.

 
“ii. If an Employee changes employment status from full-time to part-time (less than 30 hours per week), any such change will terminate participation in the

Plan and all rights to payments awarded for any Plan Period but payable in a subsequent year, unless the CEO determines in her/his sole discretion, that such
Employee should continue to participate.”; and

 
(j) deleting the phrase “and shall be exercisable during the lifetime of a participant only by such participant or his or her guardian or legal representative” from the

first sentence of Section A of Article VII of the Plan.
 

2. Except as expressly modified hereby, the Plan remains unchanged. This amendment to the Plan shall not effect any payments of awards for Plan Periods ending prior
to the effective date hereof, which shall be made in accordance with the Plan as in effect prior to such effective date.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, XOMA Ltd. has caused this amendment to the Plan to be duly executed as of the date first written above.
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XOMA LTD.

By:
 

/s/ JOHN L. CASTELLO

  John L. Castello
  Chairman of the Board, President
  and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.5A
 

AMENDMENT TO THE XOMA LTD.
1998 EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PLAN

 
The XOMA Ltd. 1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), is hereby amended, effective as of July 21, 2004, as follows:

 
 1. Section 5(a) of the Plan is amended to read as follows:
 

“(a) An eligible Employee may become a participant in the Plan by completing a subscription agreement authorizing payroll deductions in a form prepared
by the Company and filing it with the Company’s Human Resources Department at least one (1) day prior to the applicable Enrollment Date for a particular
Offering Period, unless a different time for filing the subscription agreement is set by the Committee for all eligible Employees with respect to a given Offering
Period.”

 
 2. Section 6(c) of the Plan is amended to read as follows:
 

“(c) Once an Offering Period has commenced, a participant may decrease, but not increase, the rate of his or her payroll deductions for that Offering Period
once per calendar quarter by filing a new subscription agreement at least one (1) day prior to the beginning of the calendar quarter (or such other time set by the
Committee for all eligible Employees with respect to a given Offering Period), which decrease shall become effective at the beginning of the next calendar quarter;
provided, however, that a participant may discontinue his or her participation in the Plan, as provided in Section 10 hereof, at any time during the Offering Period
prior to the Exercise Date. During an Offering Period, a participant may elect to have new or additional payroll deductions made with respect to the next beginning
Offering Period, by completing or filing with the Company an additional subscription agreement, at least one (1) day prior to the beginning of the next Offering
Period (or such other time set by the Committee for all eligible Employees with respect to a given Offering Period), authorizing a payroll deduction rate with respect
to the new Offering Period. A participant’s subscription agreement shall remain in effect for other Offering Periods, but separate subscription agreements are
required for each Offering Period.”



Exhibit 10.5B
 

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO THE XOMA LTD.
1998 EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PLAN

 
The XOMA Ltd. 1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), is hereby amended, effective as of January 1, 2005, as follows:

 
 1. Section 2(h) of the Plan is amended to read as follows:
 

“(h) “Offering Periods” shall mean consecutive three (3) month periods commencing once every calendar quarter beginning on the first Trading Day on or
after January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 of each year, and ending on the last Trading Day prior to the end of such three (3) month period.”

 
 2. Section 2(i) of the Plan is amended to read as follows:
 

“(i) “Purchase Price” shall mean with respect to new Offering Periods under the Plan commencing on or after January 1, 2005, the Purchase Price for such
Offering periods shall be an amount equal to 95% of the Fair Market Value of a Common Share on the Exercise Date for that Offering Period.”



Exhibit 10.11
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”), made and effective this 26th day of March, 2004, by and between XOMA (US) LLC (“XOMA” or the “Company”),
a Delaware limited liability company with its principal office at 2910 Seventh Street, Berkeley, California, and Patrick J. Scannon, M.D., Ph.D., (“Executive”), an individual
residing at 176 Edgewood, San Francisco, California.
 

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to enter into this Agreement to assure the Company of the continued services of Executive; and
 

WHEREAS, Executive is willing to enter into this Agreement and to continue to serve in the employ of the Company upon the terms and conditions hereinafter
provided;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
 

1. Employment. The Company agrees to continue to employ Executive, and Executive agrees to continue to be employed by the Company, for the period referred to in
Section 3 hereof and upon the other terms and conditions herein provided.
 

2. Position and Responsibilities. The Company agrees to employ Executive in the position of Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, and
Executive agrees to serve as Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and Medical Officer, for the term and on the conditions hereinafter set forth. Executive agrees to perform
such services not inconsistent with his position as shall from time to time be assigned to him by the Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (the “Chairman”).
 

3. Term and Duties.
 

(a) Term of Employment. This Agreement shall become effective and the term of employment pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on March 26, 2004
and will continue until March 25, 2005, when it will terminate unless it is extended by mutual written consent of Executive and the Company or unless Executive’s employment
is terminated by the Company or he resigns from the Company’s employ as described herein.
 

(b) Duties. During the period of his employment hereunder Executive shall serve the Company as its Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and Medical
Officer, and except for illnesses, vacation periods and reasonable leaves of absence, Executive shall devote all of his business time, attention, skill and efforts to the faithful
performance of his duties hereunder.
 

So long as Executive is Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and Medical Officer of the Company, he will discharge all duties incidental to such office and
such further duties as may be reasonably assigned to him from time to time by the Chairman.
 

4. Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses.
 

(a) Compensation. For all services rendered by Executive as Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific and Medical Officer during his employment under this
Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive as compensation a salary at a rate of not less than $340,000 per annum. All taxes and governmentally required withholding shall
be deducted in conformity with applicable laws.
 

(b) Reimbursement of Expenses. The Company shall pay or reimburse Executive for all reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by Executive in performing
his obligations under this Agreement in a manner consistent with past Company practice. The Company further agrees to furnish Executive with such assistance and
accommodations as shall be suitable to the character of Executive’s position with the Company, adequate for the performance of his duties and consistent with past Company
practice.
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5. Participation in Benefit Plans. The payments provided in Section 4 hereof are in addition to benefits Executive is entitled to under any group hospitalization, health,
dental care, disability insurance, surety bond, death benefit plan, travel and/or accident insurance, other allowance and/or executive compensation plan, including, without
limitation, any senior staff incentive plan, capital accumulation and termination pay programs, restricted or non-restricted share purchase plan, share option plan, retirement
income or pension plan or other present or future group employee benefit plan or program of the Company for which key executives are or shall become eligible, and Executive
shall be eligible to receive during the period of his employment under this Agreement, and during any subsequent period(s) for which he shall be entitled to receive payment
from the Company under paragraph 6(b) below, all benefits and emoluments for which key executives are eligible under every such plan or program to the extent permissible
under the general terms and provisions of such plans or programs and in accordance with the provisions thereof.
 

6. Payments to Executive Upon Termination of Employment.
 

(a) Termination. Upon the occurrence of an event of termination (as hereinafter defined) during the period of Executive’s employment under this Agreement, the
provisions of this paragraph 6(a) and paragraph 6(b) shall apply. As used in this Agreement, an “event of termination” shall mean and include any one or more of the following:
 

(i) The termination by the Company of Executive’s employment hereunder for any reason other than pursuant to paragraph 6(c); or
 

(ii) Executive’s resignation from the Company’s employ, upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.
 

(b) Continuation of Salary and Other Benefits. Upon the occurrence of an event of termination under paragraph 6(a), the Company (i) shall, subject to the
provisions of Section 7 below, pay Executive, or in the event of his subsequent death, his beneficiary or beneficiaries of his estate, as the case may be, as severance pay or
liquidated damages, or both, semi-monthly for a period of twelve (12) months following the event of termination (the “Severance Payment Period”), a sum equal to his current
salary in effect at the time of the event of termination, but in no case less than $340,000 per annum, (ii) shall continue to provide the other benefits referred to in Section 5 hereof
until the end of the Severance Payment Period or until Executive becomes employed elsewhere, whichever is earlier, and (iii) shall continue to provide the benefits provided for
in paragraph 4(c) to the extent of expenses incurred but not reimbursed prior to the event of termination. Such payments shall commence on the last day of the next regular pay
period following the date of the event of termination, or, at the election of the Company, may be paid in one lump sum or in such other installments as may be mutually agreed
between the Company and Executive or, in the event of his subsequent death, his beneficiary or beneficiaries or legal representative, as the case may be.
 

(c) Other Termination of Employment. Notwithstanding paragraphs 6(a) and (b) or any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if on or after the date of
this Agreement and prior to the end of the term hereof:
 

(i) Executive has been convicted of any crime or offense constituting a felony under applicable law, including, without limitation, any act of dishonesty such
as embezzlement, theft or larceny;

 
(ii) Executive shall act or refrain from acting in respect of any of the duties and responsibilities which have been assigned to him in accordance with this

Agreement and shall fail to desist from such action or inaction within ten (10) days (or such longer period of time, not exceeding ninety (90) days, as Executive
shall in good faith and the exercise of reasonable efforts require to desist from such action or inaction) after Executive’s receipt of notice from the Company
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of such action or inaction and the Board of Directors determines that such action or inaction constituted gross negligence or a willful act of malfeasance or
misfeasance of Executive in respect of such duties; or

 
(iii) Executive shall breach any material term of this Agreement and shall fail to correct such breach within ten (10) days (or such longer period of time, not

exceeding ninety (90) days, as Executive shall in good faith and the exercise of reasonable efforts require to cure such breach) after Executive’s receipt of notice
from the Company of such breach;

 
then, and in each such case, the Company shall have the right to give notice of termination of Employee’s services hereunder as of a date (not earlier than fourteen (14) days
from such notice) to be specified in such notice and this Agreement (other than the provisions of Section 7 hereof) shall terminate on such date.
 

7. Post-Termination Obligations. All payments and benefits to Executive under this Agreement shall be subject to Executive’s compliance with the following provisions
during the term of his employment and for the Severance Payment Period:
 

(a) Confidential Information and Competitive Conduct. Executive shall not, to the detriment of the Company, disclose or reveal to any unauthorized person any
trade secret or other confidential information relating to the Company or its affiliates or to any businesses operated by them, and Executive confirms that such information
constitutes the exclusive property of the Company. Executive shall not otherwise act or conduct himself to the material detriment of the Company or its affiliates, or in a manner
which is inimical or contrary to the interests thereof, and shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in, enter the employ of or render any service to any person, firm or business in
direct competition with any part of the business being conducted by the Company; provided, however, that Executive’s ownership less than five percent (5%) of the outstanding
stock of a corporation shall not be itself be deemed to constitute such competition. Executive recognizes that the possible restrictions on his activities which may occur as a
result of his performance of his obligations under this paragraph 7(a) are required for the reasonable protection of the Company and its investments. For purposes hereof, “direct
competition” means the pursuit of one or more of the same therapeutic or diagnostic indications utilizing a substantially similar scientific basis.
 

(b) Failure of Executive to Comply. If, for any reason other than death or disability, Executive shall, without written consent of the Company, fail to comply with
the provisions of paragraph 7(a) above, his rights to any future payments or other benefits hereunder shall terminate, and the Company’s obligations to make such payments and
provide such benefits shall cease.
 

(c) Remedies. Executive agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by the Company by reason of a breach of the
provisions of this Section 7 and hereby agrees to waive the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate.
 

8. Effect of Prior Agreements. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties hereto and supersedes any prior employment agreements between
the Company and Executive.
 

9. General Provisions.
 

(a) Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, Executive and the Company and their respective permitted successors
and assigns.
 

(b) Legal Expenses. In the event that Executive incurs legal expenses in contesting any provision of this Agreement and such contest results in a determination
that the Company has breached any of its obligations hereunder, Executive shall be reimbursed by the Company for such legal expenses.
 

10. Successors and Assigns.
 

(a) Assignment by the Company. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company and, unless clearly
inapplicable, reference herein to the Company shall be deemed to include its successors and assigns.
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(b) Assignment by Executive. Executive may not assign this Agreement in whole or in part.
 

11. Modification and Waiver.
 

(a) Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto.
 

(b) Waiver. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived except by written instrument of the party charged with such waiver. No
such written waiver shall be deemed a continuing waiver unless specifically stated therein, and each such waiver shall operate only as to the specific term or condition waived.
 

12. Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement or any part hereof is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect any remaining part of such provision or
any other provision. If any court construes any provision of this Agreement to be illegal, void or unenforceable because of the duration or the area or matter covered thereby,
such court shall reduce the duration, area or matter of such provision, and, in its reduced form, such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be enforced.
 

13. Governing Law. This Agreement has been executed and delivered in the State of California, and its validity interpretation, performance, and enforcement shall be
governed by the laws of said State.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, XOMA has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, and Executive has signed this Agreement, all as of
the day and year first above written.
 

XOMA (US) LLC

/s/ JOHN L. CASTELLO

John L. Castello
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ PATRICK J. SCANNON, M.D., PH.D.

Patrick J. Scannon, M.D., Ph.D.
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Exhibit 10.12
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”), made and effective this 23rd day of February, 2005, by and between XOMA (US) LLC (“XOMA” or the
“Company”), a Delaware limited liability company with its principal office at 2910 Seventh Street, Berkeley, California, and Christopher J. Margolin (“Executive”), an
individual residing at 210 Willowbrook Drive, Portola Valley, California.
 

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to enter into this Agreement to assure the Company of the continued services of Executive; and
 

WHEREAS, Executive is willing to enter into this Agreement and to continue to serve in the employ of the Company upon the terms and conditions hereinafter
provided;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
 

1. Employment. The Company agrees to continue to employ Executive, and Executive agrees to continue to be employed by the Company, for the period
referred to in Section 3 hereof and upon the other terms and conditions herein provided.
 

2. Position and Responsibilities. The Company agrees to employ Executive in the position of Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, and
Executive agrees to serve as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, for the term and on the conditions hereinafter set forth. Executive agrees to perform such services
not inconsistent with his position as shall from time to time be assigned to him by the Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the
“Chairman”).
 

3. Term and Duties.
 

  (a) Term of Employment. This Agreement shall become effective and the term of employment pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on February 23,
2005 and will continue until February 22, 2006, and will be automatically extended (without further action by the parties) for one year thereafter and again on each
subsequent anniversary thereof unless terminated by mutual written consent of Executive and the Company more than 90 days prior to the next scheduled
expiration date or unless Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company or he resigns from the Company’s employ as described herein.

 
  (b) Duties. During the period of his employment hereunder Executive shall serve the Company as its Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, and

except for illnesses, vacation periods and reasonable leaves of absence, Executive shall devote all of his business time, attention, skill and efforts to the faithful
performance of his duties hereunder. So long as Executive is Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company, he will discharge all duties incidental
to such office and such further duties as may be reasonably assigned to him from time to time by the Chairman.

 
4. Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses.

 
  (a) Compensation. For all services rendered by Executive as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary during his employment under this Agreement,

the Company shall pay Executive as compensation a base salary at a rate of not less than $290,000 per annum. All taxes and governmentally required withholding
shall be deducted in conformity with applicable laws.



  (b) Reimbursement of Expenses. The Company shall pay or reimburse Executive for all reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by Executive in
performing his obligations under this Agreement in a manner consistent with past Company practice. The Company further agrees to furnish Executive with such
assistance and accommodations as shall be suitable to the character of Executive’s position with the Company, adequate for the performance of his duties and
consistent with past Company practice.

 
5. Participation in Benefit Plans. The payments provided in Section 4 hereof are in addition to benefits Executive is entitled to under any group

hospitalization, health, dental care, disability insurance, surety bond, death benefit plan, travel and/or accident insurance, other allowance and/or executive compensation plan,
including, without limitation, any senior staff incentive plan, capital accumulation and termination pay programs, restricted or non-restricted share purchase plan, share option
plan, retirement income or pension plan or other present or future group employee benefit plan or program of the Company for which key executives are or shall become
eligible, and Executive shall be eligible to receive during the period of his employment under this Agreement, and during any subsequent period(s) for which he shall be entitled
to receive payment from the Company under paragraph 6(b) below, all benefits and emoluments for which key executives are eligible under every such plan or program to the
extent permissible under the general terms and provisions of such plans or programs and in accordance with the provisions thereof.
 

6. Payments to Executive Upon Termination of Employment.
 

  (a) Termination. Upon the occurrence of an event of termination (as hereinafter defined) during the period of Executive’s employment under this
Agreement, the provisions of this paragraph 6(a) and paragraph 6(b) shall apply. As used in this Agreement, an “event of termination” shall mean and include any
one or more of the following:

 
(i) The termination by the Company of Executive’s employment hereunder for any reason other than pursuant to paragraph 6(c); or

 
(ii) Executive’s resignation from the Company’s employ for Good Reason, upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice. “Good Reason”

means, without the Executive’s written consent, (A) the material diminution of any material duties or responsibilities of the Executive without the same
being corrected within ten (10) days after being given written notice thereof; (B) a material reduction in the Executive’s base salary; or (C) the Company
giving written notice of its intention not to extend the term of this Agreement as provided in paragraph 3(a).

 
  (b) Continuation of Salary and Other Benefits. Upon the occurrence of an event of termination under paragraph 6(a), the Company (i) shall, subject to the

provisions of Section 7 below, pay Executive, or in the event of his subsequent death, his beneficiary or beneficiaries of his estate, as the case may be, as severance
pay or liquidated damages, or both, semi-monthly for a period of nine (9) months following the event of termination (the “Severance Payment Period”), a sum equal
to his current salary in effect at the time of the event of termination, but in no case at a rate less than $290,000 per annum, (ii) shall continue to provide the other
benefits referred to in Section 5 hereof until the end of the Severance Payment Period or until Executive becomes employed elsewhere, whichever is earlier, and (iii)
shall continue to provide the benefits provided for in paragraph 4(b) to the extent of expenses incurred but not reimbursed prior to the event of termination. Such
payments shall commence on the last day of the next regular pay period following the date of the event of termination, or, at the election of the Company, may be
paid in one lump sum or in such other installments as may be mutually agreed between the Company and Executive or, in the event of his subsequent death, his
beneficiary or beneficiaries or legal representative, as the case may be.
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  (c) Other Termination of Employment. Notwithstanding paragraphs 6(a) and (b) or any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if on or after the
date of this Agreement and prior to the end of the term hereof:

 
(i) Executive has been convicted of any crime or offense constituting a felony under applicable law, including, without limitation, any act of

dishonesty such as embezzlement, theft or larceny;
 

(ii) Executive shall act or refrain from acting in respect of any of the duties and responsibilities which have been assigned to him in accordance with
this Agreement and shall fail to desist from such action or inaction within ten (10) days (or such longer period of time, not exceeding ninety (90) days, as
Executive shall in good faith and the exercise of reasonable efforts require to desist from such action or inaction) after Executive’s receipt of notice from
the Company of such action or inaction and the Board of Directors determines that such action or inaction constituted gross negligence or a willful act of
malfeasance or misfeasance of Executive in respect of such duties; or

 
(iii) Executive shall breach any material term of this Agreement and shall fail to correct such breach within ten (10) days (or such longer period of

time, not exceeding ninety (90) days, as Executive shall in good faith and the exercise of reasonable efforts require to cure such breach) after Executive’s
receipt of notice from the Company of such breach;

 
then, and in each such case, the Company shall have the right to give notice of termination of Employee’s services hereunder as of a date (not earlier than fourteen
(14) days from such notice) to be specified in such notice and this Agreement (other than the provisions of Section 7 hereof) shall terminate on such date.

 
7. Post-Termination Obligations. All payments and benefits to Executive under this Agreement shall be subject to Executive’s compliance with the

following provisions during the term of his employment and for the Severance Payment Period:
 

  (a) Confidential Information and Competitive Conduct. Executive shall not, to the detriment of the Company, disclose or reveal to any unauthorized person
any trade secret or other confidential information relating to the Company or its affiliates or to any businesses operated by them, and Executive confirms that such
information constitutes the exclusive property of the Company. Executive shall not otherwise act or conduct himself to the material detriment of the Company or its
affiliates, or in a manner which is inimical or contrary to the interests thereof, and shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in, enter the employ of or render any
service to any person, firm or business in direct competition with any part of the business being conducted by the Company; provided, however, that Executive’s
ownership less than five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock of a corporation shall not be itself be deemed to constitute such competition. Executive recognizes
that the possible restrictions on his activities which may occur as a result of his performance of his obligations under this paragraph 7(a) are required for the
reasonable protection of the Company and its investments. For purposes hereof, “direct competition” means the pursuit of one or more of the same therapeutic or
diagnostic indications utilizing a substantially similar scientific basis.

 
  (b) Failure of Executive to Comply. If, for any reason other than death or disability, Executive shall, without written consent of the Company, fail to comply

with the provisions of paragraph 7(a) above, his rights to any future payments or other benefits hereunder shall terminate, and the Company’s obligations to make
such payments and provide such benefits shall cease.
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  (c) Remedies. Executive agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by the Company by reason of a breach of
the provisions of this Section 7 and hereby agrees to waive the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate.

 
8. Effect of Prior Agreements. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties hereto and supersedes any prior employment

agreements between the Company and Executive.
 

9. General Provisions.
 

  (a) Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, Executive and the Company and their respective permitted
successors and assigns.

 
  (b) Legal Expenses. In the event that Executive incurs legal expenses in contesting any provision of this Agreement and such contest results in a

determination that the Company has breached any of its obligations hereunder, Executive shall be reimbursed by the Company for such legal expenses.
 

10. Successors and Assigns.
 

  (a) Assignment by the Company. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company and, unless
clearly inapplicable, reference herein to the Company shall be deemed to include its successors and assigns.

 
  (b) Assignment by Executive. Executive may not assign this Agreement in whole or in part.

 
11. Modification and Waiver.

 
  (a) Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto.

 
  (b) Waiver. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived except by written instrument of the party charged with such

waiver. No such written waiver shall be deemed a continuing waiver unless specifically stated therein, and each such waiver shall operate only as to the specific
term or condition waived.

 
12. Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement or any part hereof is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect any remaining part of such

provision or any other provision. If any court construes any provision of this Agreement to be illegal, void or unenforceable because of the duration or the area or matter covered
thereby, such court shall reduce the duration, area or matter of such provision, and, in its reduced form, such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be enforced.
 

13. Governing Law. This Agreement has been executed and delivered in the State of California, and its validity interpretation, performance, and
enforcement shall be governed by the laws of said State.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, XOMA has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, and Executive has signed this Agreement, all as of
the day and year first above written.
 

XOMA (US) LLC

By:
 

/s/ JOHN L. CASTELLO

 

 

John L. Castello
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

 

 

/s/ CHRISTOPHER J. MARGOLIN

  Christopher J. Margolin
 

-5-



Exhibit 10.26C
 
[*] indicates that a confidential portion of the text of this agreement has been omitted. The non-public information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
 

EXECUTION COPY
 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

 
THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED COLLABORATION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is executed as of January 12, 2005 (the “Signature Date”)

and is effective as of the 1st day of January 2005 (the “Effective Date”) by and between XOMA (US) LLC, a Delaware limited liability company having its principal place of
business at 2910 Seventh Street, Berkeley, California 94710 (“XOMA”), and Genentech, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business at 1 DNA Way,
South San Francisco, California 94080 (“Genentech”), each on behalf of itself and its Affiliates. XOMA and Genentech are sometimes referred to herein individually as a
“Party” and collectively as the “Parties,” and references to “XOMA” and “Genentech” shall include their respective Affiliates.
 

RECITALS
 

1. Genentech licensed a monoclonal antibody (then known as MHM-24) to the CD11a cell integrin on the surface of leucocytes under the terms of an Evaluation and
License Agreement dated July 1, 1991 among Genentech, The Chancellor Masters and Scholars of the University of Oxford, Andrew J. McMichael and James E.K. Hildreth
(the “Oxford Agreement”). Genentech humanized such antibody and began its preclinical development, including the development of a pilot process for producing the antibody.
 

2. Genentech and XOMA’s predecessor in interest entered into that certain Collaboration Agreement effective as of April 22, 1996, as amended by the Amendment
thereto dated as of April 14, 1999 (the “Original Agreement”) and as further amended by the Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement dated March 31, 2003 (the “First
Amended and Restated Agreement”).
 

3. XOMA Ltd. and Genentech entered into a Secured Note Agreement-Commercial Launch Loan on March 31, 2003, the full amount of the loan under which has been
paid.
 

4. XOMA desires to terminate the U.S. profit and loss sharing arrangement under the First Amended and Restated Agreement and be released from its obligations under
the Note Agreement; in lieu of profit and loss sharing, XOMA desires to receive royalties in the U.S. The Parties are further revising the royalty structure that would have
applied had XOMA repaid to Genentech the entirety of the loan balance under the Note Agreement (defined below).
 

5. Genentech wishes to release XOMA Ltd. from its obligation under the Amended and Restated Convertible Secured Note Agreement - Development Loan between
Genentech and XOMA Ltd. dated March 31, 2003 (the “Note Agreement”) to repay to Genentech the balance of the principal loaned to XOMA Ltd. under the Note Agreement
and any interest accrued on that principal. In addition, Genentech wishes to release any security interest it may hold pursuant to the Security Agreement between Genentech and
XOMA Ltd. dated March 31, 2003 (the “Security Agreement”).
 

6. Genentech and XOMA wish to amend and restate the First Amended and Restated Agreement on the terms set forth below.



ARTICLE 1: DEFINITIONS
 

The following terms shall have the following meanings as used in this Agreement:
 

1.1 “Affiliate” means an entity that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, is controlled by XOMA or Genentech. As used herein, the term “control”
will mean the direct or indirect ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the stock having the right to vote for directors thereof or the ability to otherwise control the
management of the corporation or other business entity.
 

1.2 “Aggregate Annual Net Sales” means aggregating the Net Sales amounts (occurring in the applicable calendar year) of each Licensed Product sold in the applicable
countries. For clarity, Net Sales amounts for different Licensed Products shall not be aggregated together and only Net Sales amounts of the same Licensed Product shall be
aggregated together for the purpose of calculating royalty tiers.
 

1.3 “Allocable Overhead” means costs incurred by a Party or for its account that are attributable to a Party’s supervisory, services, occupancy costs, corporate bonus (to
the extent not charged directly to department), and its payroll, information systems, human relations or purchasing functions and which are allocated to company departments
based on space occupied or headcount or other activity-based method. Allocable Overhead shall not include any costs attributable to general corporate activities including, by
way of example, executive management, investor relations, business development, legal affairs and finance.
 

1.4 “[*] Trial” is defined in Section 2.1.
 

1.5 “Anti-CD11a” means that certain monoclonal antibody now known as Efalizumab, and other constructs with minor modifications thereto resulting from changes to
the manufacturing process occurring after the transfer thereof from XOMA to Genentech, which recognizes the CD11a cell adhesion molecule on leucocytes, the full length
sequences of the light and heavy chains of which are set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein.
 

1.6 “Clinical Trial” means any clinical trial in which Anti-CD11a (individually and not as a combination) is tested in human subjects, whether or not conducted in the
United States, and whether such trial is a Phase I trial designed to make an initial determination of safety, a Phase II trial designed to make a preliminary determination of
efficacy and/or dose ranges, or a Phase III or pivotal trial designed to establish safety and efficacy for registration purposes, or for any other purpose, or any combination of the
foregoing.
 

1.7 “Combination Product Adjustment” means the following with respect to sales by Genentech or any sublicensee other than an Ex-U.S. Partner: in the event a
Licensed Product is sold in the form of a combination product containing one or more active ingredients in addition to a Licensed Product, Net Sales for such combination
product will be adjusted by multiplying actual Net Sales of such combination product by the fraction A/(A + B), where A is the invoice price of a Licensed Product, if sold
separately, and B is the invoice price of any other active component or components in the combination, if sold separately. If, on a country-by-country basis, the other active
component or components in the combination are not sold separately in said country, Net Sales shall be calculated by multiplying actual Net Sales of such combination product
by the fraction A/C, where A is the invoice price of the Product if sold separately and C is the invoice price of the combination product. If, on a country-by-country basis,
neither a Licensed Product nor the other active component or components of the combination product are sold separately in said country, Net Sales shall be determined by the
Parties in good faith.
 

1.8 “Commercially Reasonable and Diligent Efforts” means those efforts consistent with the exercise of prudent scientific and business judgment, as applied to other
pharmaceutical products of similar potential and market size by the Party in question.
 

1.9 “Control” means possession of the ability to grant a license or sublicense, or to authorize access and use, as provided for herein without violating the terms of any
agreement or other arrangement with any Third Party.
 

1.10 “Development Costs” means costs, including Allocable Overhead, arising from a Clinical Trial (including transition of the [*] Trial). Development Costs shall
include but are not limited to the cost of studies on the toxicological, pharmacokinetic, metabolic or clinical aspects of a Licensed Product conducted internally or by
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individual investigators or consultants necessary for the purpose of obtaining and/or maintaining approval of a Licensed Product in the Field by a government organization and
costs for preparing, submitting, reviewing or developing data or information for the purpose of submission to a governmental authority to obtain and/or maintain approval of a
Licensed Product in the Field as well as costs of studies to add data to or expand package inserts and costs of scientific advisory boards. Development Costs shall include the
cost of post-launch clinical studies in support of a Licensed Product in the Field. Development Costs shall include expenses for compensation, benefits and travel and other
employee-related expenses, as well as data management, statistical designs and studies, document preparation, and other expenses associated with the clinical testing program.
 

1.11 “[*] Trial” is defined in Section 2.1.
 

1.12 “Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner” means an entity which has contractual rights pursuant to an agreement with Genentech to develop and commercialize Licensed
Products in the Field in the Genentech Territory or any portion thereof.
 

1.13 “Field” means the use of Licensed Products for the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of any human condition, disorder or disease.
 

1.14 “Genentech Know-How” means Information that (i) Genentech discloses to XOMA under this Agreement and (ii) is within the Control of Genentech.
 

1.15 “Genentech Patents” means Patents issued by or filed with the United States Patent Office, owned by or Controlled by Genentech in whole or in part, that are
necessary to make, use, sell, offer for sale or import a Licensed Product in the Field, including Patents owned jointly by the Parties as provided hereunder. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, but subject to Section 12.10, Genentech Patents shall not include any of the following: (i) the Itakura/Riggs Patents (which term is defined on Exhibit B, which is
attached hereto and incorporated herein), which patents Genentech represents are not required in connection with any manufacture or use of Anti-CD11a or a Licensed Product
made in mammalian cells under this Agreement; (ii) the Cabilly Coexpression Patents (which term is defined on Exhibit B, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein);
and (iii) the Cabilly Chimera Patents (which term is defined on Exhibit B, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein).
 

1.16 “Genentech Territory” means worldwide (except for the United States).
 

1.17 “Gross Sales” means the gross amount invoiced by Genentech or its Affiliates or sublicensees for sales of a Licensed Product to Third Parties in the applicable
country or countries.
 

1.18 “Information” means techniques and data relating to any Licensed Products, including, but not limited to, biological materials, inventions, practices, methods,
knowledge, know-how, skill, experience, test data including pharmacological, toxicological and clinical test data, analytical and quality control data, marketing, pricing,
distribution, cost, sales, manufacturing, patent data or descriptions.
 

1.19 “Investigational New Drug Application” or “IND” means an “investigational new drug application,” as defined in the U.S. Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and the
regulations promulgated thereunder, submitted for regulatory approval for initiating clinical trials in the United States, or any equivalent foreign application, registration or
certification.
 

1.20 “Licensed Product” or “Licensed Products” means a formulation for use in the Field containing Anti-CD11a.
 

1.21 “Net Sales” means, with respect to sales in the United States, Gross Sales less the sum of (a), (b) and (c) where (a) is a provision, determined under generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States, for (i) trade, cash and quantity discounts or rebates (other than price discounts granted at the time of invoicing and which are
included in the determination of Gross Sales), (ii) credits or allowances given or made for rejection or
 

-3-



return of previously sold products or for retroactive price reductions (including Medicare and similar types of rebates), (iii) taxes, duties or other governmental charges levied on
or measured by the billing amount, as adjusted for rebates and refunds, (iv) charges for freight and insurance directly related to the distribution of Licensed Products (to the
extent not paid by the Third Party customer), and (v) credits or allowances given or made for wastage replacement, indigent patient and any other sales programs agreed to by
the Parties, (b) is a periodic adjustment of the provision determined in (a) to reflect amounts actually incurred for (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v), and (c) is the Combination Product
Adjustment as defined in this Agreement, if any. Provisions allowed in (a) and adjustments made in (b) and (c) will be reviewed by the Parties’ financial representatives.
 

With respect to sales by an Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner, Net Sales as used in the Agreement shall mean, as to each calendar quarter, the gross amount invoiced for all
Licensed Products sold by an Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner, its Affiliates and sublicensees in arm’s length transactions to Third Parties other than the Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner’s
Affiliates or sublicensees in the Genentech Territory during such quarter, less (i) rebates and price reductions, retroactive or otherwise (including rebates similar to Medicare or
other government rebates), (ii) credits or allowances given or made for rejection or return of, and for uncollectible amounts on, previously sold Licensed Products, (iii) taxes,
duties or other governmental charges levied on or measured by the billing amount, as adjusted for rebates and refunds, (iv) charges for freight, postage and insurance directly
related to the distribution of Licensed Products (to the extent not paid by the Third Party customer), (v) credits or allowances given or made for wastage replacement, indigent
patient and similar programs, to the extent actually deducted from the gross amount invoiced, and (vi) amounts debited on account of bad debts with respect to sales previously
invoiced, all of items (i) – (vi) above as adjusted periodically to represent actual results in accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS). If applicable, amounts
calculated pursuant to the foregoing paragraph (including subsections (i) – (vi)), shall then be adjusted by the amount(s) defined in any agreement(s) between Genentech and
any Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner(s) relating to the development of Anti-CD11a as the “Combination Product Adjustment” (which term may or may not be the same as the term
“Combination Product Adjustment” as defined in Section 1.7 of this Agreement), if applicable.
 

“Patent” means (i) valid and enforceable letters patent, including any extension, registration, confirmation, reissue, continuation, division, continuation-in-part, re-
examination or renewal thereof, and (ii) pending applications for letters patent.
 

“Regulatory Approval” means any approvals (including pricing and reimbursement approvals), licenses, registrations or authorizations of any federal, state or local
regulatory agency, department, bureau or other governmental entity necessary for the manufacture and sale of Licensed Products in a regulatory jurisdiction.
 

“Third Party” means any entity other than XOMA or Genentech.
 

“United States” or “U.S.” shall mean the United States of America, its territories and possessions.
 

“XOMA Know-How” means Information which (i) XOMA discloses to Genentech under this Agreement and (ii) is within the Control of XOMA.
 

“XOMA Patents” means any and all Patents owned or Controlled in whole or in part by XOMA that are necessary to make, use, sell, import, or offer for sale Licensed
Product in the Field, including XOMA’s interest in any Patents owned jointly by the Parties as provided hereunder.
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In addition, the following terms have the meanings given them in the corresponding Sections of this Agreement:
 

Term

 

Section

Agreement  Introduction
Approved Budget  3.9
Article 11 Dispute  11.1
CGL  10.3
Confidential Information  5.1
Effective Date  Introduction
Filing Party  6.3(b)
First Amended and Restated Agreement  Recitals
Genentech  Introduction
Genentech Inventions  6.1
Initial U.S. Royalty Period  3.4(a)(1)
Initial Ex-U.S. Royalty Period  3.4(a)(2)
Joint Inventions  6.1
Joint Patents  6.1
Losses  10.1(a)
Non-Anti-CD18 Anti-LFA1 Protein Product  3.4(b)(1)
Note Agreement  Recitals
Original Agreement  Recitals
Oxford Agreement  Recitals
Party/Parties  Introduction
PL  10.3
Relevant Information  8.1
Security Agreement  Recitals
Serious Adverse Event  8.5
Signature Date  Introduction
Term  9.1
Unexpected Adverse Event  8.5
XOMA  Introduction
XOMA Inventions  6.1

 
ARTICLE 2: DEVELOPMENT AND MARKETING OF LICENSED PRODUCTS

 
2.1 Current Clinical Trials.

 
(a) [*] Trial. XOMA and Genentech have been conducting a Clinical Trial of Raptiva® (or Efalizumab, a Licensed Product) for use in treating [*] (“[*] Trial”).

After the Effective Date, XOMA will continue performing its activities for the [*] Trial, in the same manner as XOMA has been performing those activities prior to the
Effective Date, but in any event consistent with the existing protocols and other requirements for the [*] Trial. Reimbursement for Development Costs for the [*] Trial is
addressed in Section 3.9.
 

(b) [*] Trial. XOMA and Genentech have been conducting preliminary work related to a Clinical Trial of Raptiva® (Efalizumab, a Licensed Product) for use in
treating [*] (“[*] Trial”). After the Signature Date, Genentech and XOMA will work together to transition the [*]Trial to Genentech or to one or more Third Parties selected and
approved by Genentech. Reimbursement for Development Costs for such transition is addressed in Section 3.9.
 

2.2 Future Clinical Trials. During the [*] after the Effective Date, from time to time at Genentech’s sole discretion, Genentech may propose to XOMA that XOMA
conduct a Clinical Trial or provide services in support of a Clinical Trial conducted by Genentech or a Third Party and related to a Licensed Product. XOMA will consider such
proposal, and has no obligation to undertake any such Clinical Trial or to provide services in support of a Clinical Trial. If Genentech and XOMA agree to have XOMA conduct
a Clinical Trial or provide services in support of a Clinical Trial, then the Parties shall negotiate in good faith with respect to terms under which XOMA would do so. It is
understood that Genentech has no obligation to offer XOMA any opportunities to conduct Clinical Trials.
 

2.3 Sole Decision. Genentech shall have the sole right and the sole decision-making authority, to be exercised at its sole discretion, without consultation with XOMA or
any other entity, regarding, all development, manufacturing, clinical, marketing and commercialization activities related to Licensed Products anywhere in the world, including
rights and decision-making authority regarding involvement by Third Parties.
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ARTICLE 3: LOANS, PAYMENTS AND ROYALTIES
 

3.1 Finance Representatives. Each Party shall appoint a representative to serve as a contact for payments, royalty calculations and other financial issues under this
Agreement. A Party may change its financial representative, at any time, on notice to the other Party. Financial representatives are not authorized to amend the terms of this
Agreement or waive any rights on behalf of either Party. At XOMA’s request from time to time no more than once per calendar quarter, Genentech will provide to XOMA, for
XOMA’s budgeting purposes only, information regarding projected sales of Licensed Products.
 

3.2 Note Agreement and Security Agreement.
 

(a) As consideration for the reduction in payments and royalties to XOMA under this Agreement, as of the Effective Date, Genentech shall release XOMA Ltd.
from its obligation under the Note Agreement to pay to Genentech the balance of the amount of principal loaned to XOMA Ltd. under the Note Agreement (forty million
dollars ($40,000,000)) and any interest accrued on that principal amount. XOMA Ltd.’s obligations under the Note Agreement are deemed satisfied.
 

(b) In connection with the foregoing release, the Security Agreement is terminated, and Genentech shall use Commercially Reasonable and Diligent Efforts to
release any claim for any security interest that it holds under or in connection with the Security Agreement. In this subsection, Commercially Reasonable and Diligent Efforts
include filing appropriate documentation with the USPTO and other governmental organizations, as appropriate.
 

3.3 Payments under the First Amended and Restated Agreement. Each Party is responsible for, and will continue to be responsible for, any and all payments owing
or accrued under the First Amended and Restated Agreement prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement.
 

(a) Royalties. Without limiting the foregoing, Genentech shall pay XOMA for all royalties, for the period prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement, that
Genentech has an obligation to pay under the First Amended and Restated Agreement.
 

(b) Loss Sharing. Also without limiting the foregoing, XOMA shall pay Genentech for XOMA’s share of all U.S. Commercialization Costs (as defined in the
First Amended and Restated Agreement) incurred under the First Amended and Restated Agreement for the period prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement. XOMA’s
share will be calculated pursuant to the terms of the First Amended and Restated Agreement.
 

(c) Payment Terms. Within two (2) business days after the Signature Date, XOMA shall transfer to Genentech [*] dollars ($[*]), which the Parties have agreed is
an estimate of XOMA’s share of the U.S. Commercialization Costs (as defined in the First Amended and Restated Agreement) incurred during the third calendar quarter of
2004, reduced by an estimated amount of Development Costs for the first calendar quarter of 2005. The Parties will reconcile the foregoing estimates with the actual amounts on
or before ten (10) business days after the end of the first calendar quarter of 2005. For any other amounts owed by XOMA under the First Amended and Restated Agreement
(including XOMA’s share of the U.S. Commercialization Costs incurred between October 1, 2004 and December 31, 2004), Genentech may offset such amounts against
royalties owed by Genentech under this Agreement. Such offset will be on a dollar-for-dollar basis until all amounts owed by XOMA under the First Amended and Restated
Agreement have been paid in full.
 

3.4 Royalties. This Article 3 sets forth the only consideration due to XOMA regarding the subject matter of this Agreement.
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(a) Initial Period Royalty.
 

(1) Royalty for Sales in the United States. As consideration to XOMA for the licenses and other rights granted to Genentech under this Agreement,
beginning as of the Effective Date and continuing for the first [*] from the date of the first commercial sale of a Licensed Product approved for commercial sale in the United
States (i.e., [*] from November 17, 2003) (such period, the “Initial U.S. Royalty Period”) Genentech shall make royalty payments to XOMA as follows:
 

(A) Genentech shall pay a royalty of [*] percent ([*]%) for the portion of Aggregate Annual Net Sales of each Licensed Product in the United
States that is less than [*] dollars (US$[*]).
 

(B) Genentech shall pay a royalty of [*] percent ([*]%) for the portion of Aggregate Annual Net Sales of each Licensed Product in the United
States that is equal to or greater than [*] dollars (US$[*]).
 

(2) Royalty for Sales in the Genentech Territory. As consideration to XOMA for the licenses and other rights granted to Genentech under this
Agreement, beginning as of the Effective Date and continuing on a country by country basis for the first [*] from the date of the first commercial sale of a Licensed Product
approved for commercial sale in each such country in the Genentech Territory (each such period an “Initial Ex-U.S. Royalty Period”), Genentech shall pay a royalty of [*]
percent ([*]%) of Net Sales of each Licensed Product in such country in the Genentech Territory. Without limiting Genentech’s obligations hereunder, it is understood that such
an amount may be a pass-through royalty from one or more Ex-U.S. Genentech Partners.
 

(b) Royalties after Initial Period.
 

(1) Royalty After Initial Period for Sales in the United States. As consideration to XOMA for the licenses and other rights granted to Genentech under
this Agreement, for sales inside the U.S. (i.e., sales outside the Genentech Territory) after the Initial U.S. Royalty Period and for the remainder of the Term, Genentech shall pay
a royalty of either:
 

(A) if there is at least one FDA-approved indication for Licensed Products and a Third Party has obtained Regulatory Approval in any such
indication to market either (i) an anti-CD11a product or (ii) a Non-Anti-CD18 Anti-LFA1 Protein Product, then [*] percent ([*]%) of Net Sales in the U.S.; or
 

(B) if not, then [*] percent ([*]%) of Net Sales inside the U.S. (i.e., outside the Genentech Territory).
 

For purposes of this subsection, “Non-Anti-CD18 Anti-LFA1 Protein Product” means an antibody or other protein that binds to LFA1, provided it is not an antibody that
binds to CD18.
 

(2) No Royalty After Initial Period for Sales Outside the United States. On a country by country basis, after the end of the applicable Initial Ex-US
Royalty Period, Genentech shall not owe any payments to XOMA for sales in such country in the Genentech Territory. After the Initial Ex-U.S. Royalty Period for each country
within the Genentech Territory, Genentech shall have an exclusive, paid-up, irrevocable license under the XOMA Patents and XOMA Know-How to make, use, sell, offer for
sale, have sold and import Licensed Product(s) in that country within the Genentech Territory.
 

(c) Third Party Royalties. Genentech is responsible for any royalties owed to Third Parties in connection with Licensed Products.
 

(d) Royalty Payment Timing. Royalty payments due under this Agreement shall be made quarterly within ninety (90) days following the end of each calendar
quarter for which such royalties are due. Where Genentech has the right, pursuant to subsection 3.3(c), to offset against royalties under this Agreement amounts owed by
XOMA under the First Amended and Restated Agreement, Genentech has no obligation to make payments except to the extent the royalties owed exceed the amount Genentech
has a right to offset against such royalty payments under subsection 3.3(c).
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(e) Royalty Payment Reports. For each month during which any royalties are to be paid under this Agreement, Genentech shall (i) provide to XOMA an initial
report with a good faith estimate of Net Sales and royalties for Net Sales in the U.S. (i.e., outside the Genentech Territory), within ten (10) business days after the end of the
applicable month, and (ii) provide to XOMA an initial report with a good faith estimate of Net Sales and royalties for Net Sales inside the Genentech Territory, to the extent
available to Genentech, within fifteen (15) business days after the end of the applicable month. In addition to the initial report, each royalty payment under subsection 3.4(d)
must be accompanied by a final report summarizing the Net Sales during the relevant calendar quarter on a regional basis, or such other basis as available to Genentech.
Royalties due will be promptly reconciled as necessary with reported Net Sales and Annual Aggregate Net Sales, including as a result of Genentech obtaining new or additional
information from an Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner, whether as a result of an audit of that Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner or otherwise.
 

(f) Audits. Genentech shall maintain its books of accounts for, and records of Net Sales for, Licensed Product for [*] after such Net Sales occur. During the [*]
period for records of Net Sales, XOMA may examine such records with respect to determining appropriate amounts of Net Sales as follows: Genentech shall permit an
independent certified public accountant selected by XOMA (and reasonably acceptable to Genentech) to examine such books of account and records kept by Genentech as may
be necessary to determine the correctness of any report or payment related to such royalty payments. Any such accountant shall enter into a confidentiality agreement with both
parties. Such examination shall be made at reasonable times during regular business hours and upon at least twenty (20) business days’ prior notice. In addition, such
examination may be conducted not more often than once each year and may cover only periods not previously subject to such examination. After Genentech’s review of the
accountant’s examination report and its agreement with such report, or after a final determination pursuant to Article 11, Genentech shall immediately pay all understated
royalty payments due to XOMA for Net Sales of Licensed Products by Genentech, together with interest on such amounts due from the date accrued, at the interest rate
described in Section 3.4(g). XOMA shall be solely responsible for the expenses of an examination under this Section unless there is a final determination that royalty payments
under this Agreement have been, [*] in the aggregate. In that case, Genentech promptly shall reimburse XOMA for the reasonable costs of the examination. Results of any such
examination shall be provided to both Parties. Those results, along with any records or accounting information, are Confidential Information of Genentech and subject to Article
5. The foregoing clause survives expiration or termination of the royalty obligations under this Agreement for the period of time Genentech is required to maintain its relevant
books and accounts, but no more than a total of [*].
 

(g) Late Payments. Any late payments under this Agreement shall bear interest at a rate of [*] (defined as the rate published in the U.S. Federal Reserve Bulletin
H.15 or any successor bulletin thereto) plus [*] percent ([*]%) per annum or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less.
 

(h) Taxes. XOMA shall pay any and all taxes levied on account of, or measured exclusively by, payments, including royalties, it receives under this Agreement. If
laws or regulations require that taxes be withheld, Genentech shall (i) deduct those taxes from the remittable royalty, (ii) timely pay the taxes to the proper taxing authority, and
(iii) send proof of payment to XOMA within sixty (60) days following that payment.
 

3.5 Blocked Currency. In any country where the local currency is blocked and cannot be removed from the country, royalties shall continue to be accrued in such
country and Net Sales in such country shall continue to be reported, but such royalties will not be paid until they may be removed from the country. At such time as Genentech
is able to remove such blocked currency from such country it shall also remove and pay any royalties accrued during such blocked period on XOMA’s behalf.
 

3.6 Foreign Exchange. For the purpose of computing Net Sales for Licensed Products sold in a currency other than United States Dollars, such currency shall be
converted into United States Dollars in accordance with Genentech’s customary and usual translation procedures consistently applied.
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3.7 Payments to or Reports by Affiliates. Any payment required under any provision of this Agreement to be made to either Party or any report required to be made by
any Party shall be made to or by an Affiliate of that Party if designated by that Party as the appropriate recipient or reporting entity.
 

3.8 Sublicensees. Any licenses or sublicenses granted by Genentech shall include an obligation for the licensee or sublicensee to account for and report its Net Sales of
Licensed Product using the same accounting standards used to determine royalties owed on Net Sales of Licensed Products and Genentech shall pay royalties to XOMA as if the
Net Sales of the sublicensee were Net Sales of Genentech.
 

3.9 Development Costs.
 

(a) Approved Budgets. Within ten (10) business days after the Signature Date, XOMA shall provide to Genentech an estimated budget of Development Costs for
XOMA’s activities to transition the [*] Trial and to continue the [*] Trial under Section 2.1. Genentech and XOMA then will work together to produce final plans for the
transition of the [*] Trial, and will agree on final budgets for both the transition and the [*] Trial. Each of the final agreed budgets then is an “Approved Budget” for purposes of
this Agreement.
 

(b) Reimbursement. Genentech shall provide to XOMA a quarterly advance against Development Costs in an Approved Budget on or before the last day of the
quarter prior to the quarter to which those advances apply; provided that the advance for the first quarter of 2005 will be paid as set forth in Section 3.3(c). The Parties, each
through its financial representative, will meet within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar quarter to review actual Development Costs in the just-completed calendar
quarter in comparison to the just-completed quarter’s advance against Development Costs, to determine any adjustments to be applied to or refunded/paid, as applicable, to the
next quarter’s advance.
 

(c) Overruns. Genentech has no obligation to pay XOMA for other than Development Costs, and Development Costs are limited to no more that [*] percent
([*]%) of the amount in an Approved Budget, unless such spending is approved in advance by Genentech in writing.
 

(d) Reporting. XOMA shall report Development Costs in a manner consistent with its project cost system. In general, project cost systems report actual time spent
on specific projects, apply the actual labor costs, capture actual costs of specific projects and Allocable Overhead. The Parties acknowledge that the methodologies used will be
based on systems in place.
 

3.10 Records and Inspection.
 

(a) Inspection of XOMA Records by Genentech. XOMA shall maintain complete and accurate records relevant to costs, expenses, and payments under the First
Amended and Restated Agreement, and under this Agreement for periods during which Development Costs that will be reimbursed by Genentech are being incurred. All such
records must be maintained for a period of [*] from creation. During that [*] period Genentech may examine those records with respect to determining appropriate costs and
expenses, as follows: XOMA shall permit an independent certified public accountant selected by Genentech (and reasonably acceptable to XOMA) to examine any such
records. Any such accountant shall enter into a confidentiality agreement with both parties. Such examination shall be made at reasonable times during regular business hours
and upon at least twenty (20) business days’ prior notice. In addition, such examination may be conducted not more often than once each year and may cover only periods not
previously subject to such examination. After XOMA’s review of the accountant’s examination report and its agreement with such report or after a final determination pursuant
to Article 11, XOMA shall immediately pay to Genentech all additional payments due to Genentech under the First Amended and Restated Agreement or this Agreement,
together with interest on such amounts due from the date accrued, at the interest rate described in Section 3.4(g). Genentech shall be solely responsible for the expenses of an
examination under this Section unless there is a final determination that the expenses incurred by XOMA under the First Amended and Restated Agreement or this Agreement
have been, [*] in the aggregate. In that case, XOMA shall promptly reimburse Genentech for the reasonable costs of the examination. Results of any such examination shall be
provided to both Parties. Those results, along with any records or accounting information, are Confidential Information of XOMA and Genentech and subject to Article 5.
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(b) Inspection of Genentech Records by XOMA. Genentech shall maintain complete and accurate records relevant to costs, expenses, and payments under the
First Amended and Restated Agreement. All such records must be maintained for a period of [*] from creation. During that [*] period XOMA may examine those records with
respect to determining appropriate costs and expenses, as follows: Genentech shall permit an independent certified public accountant selected by XOMA (and reasonably
acceptable to Genentech) to examine any such records. Any such accountant shall enter into a confidentiality agreement with both parties. Such examination shall be made at
reasonable times during regular business hours and upon at least twenty (20) business days’ prior notice. In addition, such examination may be conducted not more often than
once each year and may cover only periods not previously subject to such examination. After Genentech’s review of the accountant’s examination report and its agreement with
such report, or after a final determination pursuant to Article 11, Genentech shall immediately pay to XOMA all additional payments due to XOMA under the First Amended
and Restated Agreement, together with interest on such amounts due from the date accrued, at the interest rate described in Section 3.4(g). XOMA shall be solely responsible for
the expenses of an examination under this Section unless there is a final determination that the expenses incurred by Genentech under the First Amended and Restated
Agreement have been, [*] in the aggregate. In that case, Genentech shall promptly reimburse XOMA for the reasonable costs of the examination. Results of any such
examination shall be provided to both Parties. Those results, along with any records or accounting information, are Confidential Information of Genentech and XOMA and
subject to Article 5.
 

3.11 Payment Methods. Payments from Genentech to XOMA under this Article 3 will be made via a mutually agreed method consistent with Genentech’s practices,
such as via wire transfer of funds to an account in the United States designated by XOMA, via check, or via another method of payment. Payments will be in immediately
available funds denominated in the currency of the United States.
 

ARTICLE 4: LICENSES
 

4.1 License to XOMA and XOMA Covenant.
 

(a) Genentech grants XOMA a non-exclusive license under the Genentech Patents and Genentech Know-How in the Field solely to use (but not to make, have
made, import, sell, or offer to sell) Licensed Products to perform its obligations under this Agreement regarding any Clinical Trials in the United States. Said license is royalty-
free.
 

(b) XOMA covenants and agrees not to make, have made, sell, offer for sale or import Licensed Product anywhere in the world, and not to use Licensed Products
anywhere in the world, except in the United States pursuant to the license under subsection 4.1(a) or except as expressly authorized by Genentech.
 

4.2 License to Genentech Within the Field. XOMA grants to Genentech a worldwide license under the XOMA Patents and XOMA Know-How in the Field to develop,
make, have made, use, sell, offer for sale, have sold and import Licensed Products. Such license shall be exclusive even as to XOMA in the United States and Genentech
Territory (except as set forth in subsection 4.1(a) above).
 

4.3 Sublicensing. Genentech shall have an unrestricted right to grant sublicenses under this Agreement. Unless otherwise agreed, each sublicensee shall be subject to all
of the obligations of Genentech hereunder applicable to that part of the territory being licensed. XOMA shall have no right to grant sublicenses.
 

ARTICLE 5: CONFIDENTIALITY
 

5.1 Confidentiality; Exceptions. Except to the extent expressly authorized by this Agreement or otherwise agreed in writing, the Parties agree that, for the term of this
Agreement and for [*] thereafter, the receiving Party shall keep confidential and shall not publish or otherwise disclose or use for any purpose other than as provided for in this
Agreement any Information and other information and materials furnished to it by the other
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Party pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, financial statements and budgets (collectively, “Confidential Information”), except to the extent that it can be
established by the receiving Party that such Confidential Information:
 

(a) was already known to the receiving Party, other than under an obligation of confidentiality, at the time of disclosure by the other Party;
 

(b) was generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain at the time of its disclosure to the receiving Party;
 

(c) became generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain after its disclosure and other than through any act or omission of the receiving
Party in breach of this Agreement;
 

(d) was disclosed to the receiving Party, other than under an obligation of confidentiality, by a Third Party who had no obligation to the disclosing Party not to
disclose such information to others; or
 

(e) was subsequently developed by the receiving Party without use of the Confidential Information as demonstrated by competent written records.
 

5.2 Authorized Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.
 

(a) XOMA may use and disclose Genentech’s Confidential Information (i) as required to comply with a law, a governmental regulation or a court order, subject to
the requirements of subsection 5.2(c), (ii) to conduct Clinical Trials of Licensed Products; provided that disclosure of Genentech’s Confidential Information to a Third Party
must be under a binder of confidentiality containing provisions substantially as protective as those of this Article 5 or (iii) to prosecute or defend litigation, after such disclosure
has been approved by Genentech.
 

(b) Genentech may use and disclose XOMA’s Confidential Information (i) as required to comply with a law, a governmental regulation or a court order, subject to
the requirements of subsection 5.2(c), (ii) to conduct preclinical or Clinical Trials of Licensed Products, (iii) to file and prosecute Patent applications, or (iv) to prosecute or
defend litigation. Genentech also may disclose XOMA’s Confidential Information, under a binder of confidentiality containing provisions substantially as protective as those of
this Article 5, (x) to its licensors of intellectual property and other rights related to Licensed Products, or (y) to consultants, potential and actual sublicensees and other Third
Parties, for any purpose provided for in this Agreement and/or in connection with the development and commercialization of Licensed Products.
 

(c) If a Party is required by law or regulation to make any disclosure of the other Party’s Confidential Information it will, except where impracticable for
necessary disclosures, for example in the event of medical emergency, give reasonable advance notice to the other Party of such disclosure requirement and, except to the extent
inappropriate in the case of patent applications, will use its reasonable efforts to secure confidential treatment of such Confidential Information required to be disclosed.
 

(d) Nothing in this Article 5 shall restrict Genentech from using for any purpose any Information developed by it during the course of the activities under this
Agreement.
 

5.3 Survival. This Article 5 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement for a period of [*].
 

5.4 Termination of Prior Agreement. This Article 5 supersedes Article 11 of the Original Agreement, Article 12 of the First Amended and Restated Agreement, and the
Confidentiality Agreements between the Parties dated October 11, 1995, one of which was last signed on October 20, 1995 and one of which was last signed on January 11,
1996 and both of which were amended on April 11, 1996, except that the Research Scientists, as defined in the Oxford Agreement, shall continue to be third party beneficiaries
under this Agreement to the extent
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such previous Confidentiality Agreement is superseded. All Information exchanged between the Parties under the above referenced agreements shall be deemed Confidential
Information and shall be subject to the terms of this Article 5 as of the Effective Date.
 

5.5 Press Releases; Use of Names.
 

(a) Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, no right, express or implied, is granted by this Agreement to use in any manner the name “XOMA,”
“Genentech” or any other trade name or trademark of the other Party or its Affiliates in connection with the performance of this Agreement.
 

(b) Neither XOMA nor Genentech will issue any press release or make any other public announcement concerning the existence of this Agreement, the
relationship between the Parties, the subject matter of this Agreement, the status of any Licensed Products or any Clinical Trials for those Licensed Products, except as follows:
(i) as part of an initial press release mutually agreed upon by the Parties, (ii) to the extent permitted by prior consent of the other Party, (iii) to the extent that disclosure of the
information contained in such press release or public announcement has been previously approved by the other Party in substantially the same form, (iv) to attorneys,
consultants and accountants retained to represent a Party in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, subject to obligations of confidentiality of such attorneys,
consultants or accountants (which must be the subject of a written agreement in the case of consultants), and (v) as required to be disclosed to comply with applicable law or
regulation, including pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission or similar body. Each Party shall obtain its own legal advice regarding
compliance with securities laws.
 

(c) Requests for approval of any press release or other public announcement covered under (b)(ii) above must be submitted no less than [*] prior to the proposed
date of such press release or public announcement; provided that each Party’s approval may be delayed until the occurrence of the event triggering such press release or public
announcement. Proposed filings and other disclosures covered under (b)(v) above must be submitted no less than [*] prior to the date of the proposed filing, and the filing Party
must seek confidential treatment of the Agreement if filed as an Exhibit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the filing Party is required by law to make disclosure within fewer
than [*] after an event, then the filing Party will submit proposed filings and disclosures with as much advance notice as reasonably possible, and the reviewing Party will use
reasonable efforts to review that filing within the period of time indicated by the filing Party. Any review will be for purposes of notice and accuracy, but will not be considered
legal advice regarding compliance with securities laws.
 

(d) During the first [*] after the Effective Date, Genentech will use Commercially Reasonable and Diligent Efforts to make advance disclosure to XOMA of those
portions of any press release, publicity or public disclosure or statement that mention XOMA in the context of Licensed Products or Genentech’s relationship to XOMA under
this Agreement. Subject to this subsection, Genentech’s public disclosures of new Information not previously released and all Genentech press releases related to this
Agreement or to any Licensed Product(s) are at Genentech’s sole discretion, and Genentech has sole authority as to the content and timing of such disclosures.
 

ARTICLE 6:
OWNERSHIP OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PATENT RIGHTS

 
6.1 Ownership of Intellectual Property. XOMA shall own all inventions made under this Agreement solely by its employees (“XOMA Inventions”). Genentech shall

own all inventions made under this Agreement solely by its employees (“Genentech Inventions”). All inventions made under this Agreement jointly by employees of XOMA
and Genentech (“Joint Inventions”) will be owned jointly by XOMA and Genentech and each Party shall retain full ownership under any Patents resulting therefrom (“Joint
Patents”), with full ownership rights in any field and the right to sublicense without the consent of the other Party, without accounting. The laws of the United States with
respect to inventorship shall apply in all jurisdictions giving force and effect to this Agreement.
 

6.2 Disclosure of Patentable Inventions. XOMA shall provide to Genentech any invention disclosure that discloses an invention that relates to a Licensed Product.
Such invention disclosures shall be provided to Genentech within thirty (30) days after XOMA determines that an invention has been made.
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6.3 Patent Filings.
 

(a) Initial Responsibility. Genentech, at its sole discretion, responsibility and expense, shall file, prosecute and maintain Patents in the United States to cover
Genentech Inventions, Joint Inventions and XOMA Inventions relating to any Licensed Product. The determination of the countries in the Genentech Territory in which to file
any patent applications on Genentech Inventions, Joint Inventions and XOMA Inventions relating to any Licensed Product shall be made by Genentech, and Genentech shall be
responsible for such filings in such countries. Genentech shall have the right, at its expense, to direct and control all material actions relating to the prosecution or maintenance
of Genentech Patents, Joint Patents and XOMA Patents in the United States and Genentech Territory, including without limitation, interferences, oppositions, appeals and
revocation proceedings.
 

(b) XOMA Patents and Joint Patents. If Genentech elects not to file a XOMA Patent or a Joint Patent, it shall so inform XOMA. XOMA may then file,
prosecute and maintain any such XOMA Patent or Joint Patent at its sole responsibility and expense. The Party responsible for filing such a XOMA Patent or Joint Patent will
be termed the “filing Party.” The filing Party shall keep the other Party reasonably apprised of the status of each XOMA Patent and Joint Patent and shall seek the advice of the
other Party with respect to patent strategy and draft applications and shall give reasonable consideration to any suggestions or recommendations of the other Party concerning
the preparation, filing, prosecution, maintenance and defense thereof. The Parties shall cooperate reasonably in the prosecution of all XOMA Patents and Joint Patents and shall
share all material information relating thereto promptly after receipt of such information. If, during the term of this Agreement, Genentech intends to allow any XOMA Patent
or Joint Patent relating to a Licensed Product to lapse or become abandoned without having first filed a substitute, Genentech shall make reasonable efforts to notify XOMA of
such intention at least sixty (60) days prior to the date upon which such XOMA Patent or Joint Patent shall lapse or become abandoned, and XOMA shall thereupon have the
right, but not the obligation, to assume responsibility for the prosecution, maintenance and defense thereof at its sole expense.
 

(c) Initial Filings if Made Outside of the United States. The Parties agree to use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Patent that relates to the subject matter of
this Agreement and is filed outside of the United States prior to a U.S. filing will be in a form sufficient to establish the date of original filing as a priority date for the purposes
of a subsequent U.S. filing.
 

6.4 Enforcement Rights.
 

(a) Enforcement. Genentech shall have the right, but not the obligation, to institute, prosecute and control at its own expense any action or proceeding with
respect to infringement of any of the Genentech Patents, Joint Patents and XOMA Patents by counsel of its own choice. XOMA shall have the right, at its own expense, to be
represented in any action for infringement of XOMA Patents or Joint Patents by counsel of its own choice. If Genentech elects not to institute such action or proceeding with
respect to any XOMA Patent, XOMA shall have the right at its sole expense to institute such action or proceeding, and Genentech shall have the right, at its own expense, to be
represented in any action by counsel of its choice. In the event of an infringement of a Joint Patent, the Parties shall decide the best way to proceed. If one Party brings any such
action or proceeding, the other Party agrees to be joined as a party plaintiff if necessary to prosecute the action or proceeding and to give the first Party reasonable assistance
and authority to file and prosecute the suit. Any damages or other monetary awards recovered pursuant to this Section 6.4 shall be allocated first to the costs and expenses of the
Party bringing suit, then to the costs and expenses, if any, of the other Party. Any amounts remaining shall be retained by the Party bringing suit.
 

(b) Settlement with a Third Party. The Party that controls the prosecution of a given claim with respect to a Licensed Product shall also have the right to control
settlement of such claim; provided, however, that if one Party controls, no settlement shall be entered into without the written consent of the other Party if such settlement
would materially and adversely affect the interests of such other Party. If there is no agreement between the Parties, then the dispute will be resolved pursuant to Article 11.
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6.5 Infringement Defense. If a Third Party asserts that a Patent or other right owned by it is infringed by any Licensed Product, Genentech will be solely responsible for
deciding how and whether to defend against any such assertions at its cost and expense. XOMA shall have the right, at its own expense, to be represented in any such action by
counsel of its choice. No settlement of such an action shall be entered into by Genentech without XOMA’s written consent if such settlement would materially and adversely
affect XOMA’s interests.
 

ARTICLE 7: REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
 

Representations and Warranties. Each of the Parties hereby represents and warrants as follows:
 

(a) This Agreement is a legal and valid obligation binding upon such Party and enforceable in accordance with its terms. The execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement by such Party does not conflict with any agreement, instrument or understanding, oral or written, to which it is a party or by which it is bound, or violate any
law or regulation of any court, governmental body or administrative or other agency having jurisdiction over it.
 

(b) XOMA has not granted, and during the term of this Agreement will not grant, any right to any Third Party relating to its respective Patents and know-how
related to the use of Licensed Products in the Field, if that right would conflict with the rights granted to Genentech.
 

(c) Such Party has the right to grant the licenses it has granted herein.
 

7.2 Performance by Affiliates. The Parties recognize that each may perform some or all of its obligations under this Agreement through Affiliates; provided, however,
that each Party shall remain responsible and be guarantor of the performance by its Affiliates and shall cause its Affiliates to comply with the provisions of this Agreement in
connection with such performance.
 

ARTICLE 8: INFORMATION AND REPORTS
 

8.1 Contribution of Information. XOMA shall disclose to Genentech all preclinical, clinical, regulatory, commercial and other information that is obviously useful to
the development and commercialization of Licensed Products and that is either (i) known by XOMA as of the Effective Date, or (ii) becomes known by XOMA as a result of
activities related to a Clinical Trial (“Relevant Information”). Within [*] after the Signature Date, XOMA shall provide to Genentech a list of all such Relevant Information then
existing, and, promptly upon written request by Genentech thereafter, transfer to Genentech a copy of any such requested Relevant Information, including (if so requested) a
copy of XOMA’s own database of data from any and all Clinical Trials of a Licensed Product for which XOMA was responsible. XOMA shall transfer to Genentech copies of
additional Relevant Information at the end of any Clinical Trial and upon request by Genentech. Unless otherwise agreed, the Parties will use the same procedure regarding
transfer of Relevant Information as had been used in the most recent project. However, at the option of Genentech, Relevant Information shall be provided in a computer
readable format by XOMA, to the extent available, and XOMA shall also assist in the transfer to Genentech and the validation of data within Relevant Information.
 

8.2 Compliance with Privacy Laws. Notwithstanding Section 8.1, XOMA has no obligation to make disclosures prohibited by law or contract. XOMA shall use
Commercially Reasonable and Diligent Efforts to obtain all necessary consents required for disclosure of the data and reports which XOMA is required to provide to Genentech
pursuant to this Agreement. In the event that any such consent can not be obtained, XOMA shall provide to Genentech data and documentation that have been redacted to make
disclosure lawful.
 

8.3 Complaints. If XOMA receives any complaints with respect to any Licensed Product, then XOMA shall notify Genentech, providing sufficient detail, within [*] after
the event, and in any event in sufficient time to allow Genentech to comply with any and all regulatory requirements imposed upon it in any country.
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8.4 IND’s for Licensed Products. IND’s for Clinical Trials conducted under this Agreement, along with IND’s for any Licensed Product, will be held by Genentech and
not XOMA. To the extent XOMA currently holds any IND’s for Clinical Trials that are to be conducted by XOMA, it shall continue to hold those IND’s until the completion of
such Clinical Trial, after which XOMA will transfer such IND to Genentech and Genentech will hold such IND. To the extent XOMA currently holds any IND’s related to the
Licensed Product or to completed Clinical Trials, XOMA shall work with Genentech in good faith to transfer those IND’s to Genentech.
 

8.5 Adverse Drug Events. The Parties recognize that the holder of a Drug Approval Application may be required to submit information and file reports to various
governmental agencies on compounds under clinical investigation, compounds proposed for marketing or marketed drugs. Such information must be submitted at the time of
initial filing for investigational use in humans and at the time of a request for market approval of a new drug. In addition, supplemental information must be provided on
compounds at periodic intervals and adverse drug experiences must be reported at more frequent intervals depending on the severity of the experience. Consequently, XOMA
shall provide Genentech with the following information and reports of which it has knowledge:
 

(a) for initial and/or periodic submission to government agencies, significant information relating to Licensed Product from preclinical laboratory, animal
toxicology and pharmacology studies, as well as adverse drug experience reports from Clinical Trials and registries with a Licensed Product, to the extent XOMA has such
information in its possession or control;
 

(b) all adverse drug event information for any Licensed Product of which XOMA is or becomes aware;
 

(c) in connection with a Licensed Product in a Clinical Trial conducted for approval by a regulatory agency, reports of any Unexpected Adverse Event (defined
below) or Serious Adverse Event (defined below), within [*] of the initial receipt of a report of such event or sooner if required for Genentech to comply with regulatory
requirements; and
 

(d) for a Licensed Product that has received Regulatory Approval, a report of any adverse event for that Licensed Product that is a Serious Adverse Event and or
an Unexpected Adverse Event, within [*] of the initial receipt of a report or sooner if required for Genentech to comply with regulatory requirements.
 
“Serious Adverse Event” is any event that suggests a significant hazard, contraindication, side effect or precaution, or any event that is fatal or life threatening, is permanently
disabling, requires or prolongs inpatient hospitalization or is a congenital anomaly, cancer or overdose. An “Unexpected Adverse Event” is any adverse event not identified in
nature, specificity, severity or frequency in the current investigator brochure or the U.S. labeling for the Licensed Product.
 

ARTICLE 9: TERM AND TERMINATION
 

9.1 Term. This Agreement commences as of the Effective Date and continues until such time as no Licensed Product is any longer being developed or commercialized
anywhere in the world by Genentech, any Ex-U.S. Genentech Partner, or any sublicensees of the foregoing (such period, the “Term”).
 

9.2 No Termination for Material Breach. Upon the material failure of either Party to comply with any of its material obligations under this Agreement, all remedies in
law and in equity shall be available to the non-breaching Party, except that the non-breaching Party may not terminate this Agreement.
 

9.3 Consequences of Termination or Expiration.
 

(a) Licenses. The licenses granted to Genentech under this Agreement survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. Royalty obligations continue in
accordance with the terms of Article 3.
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(b) Ownership of Certain Materials. As between the Parties, Genentech will own (a) any investigational new drug applications for any Clinical Trials related to
Licensed Products, and (b) any data provided by XOMA to Genentech, including data required to be provided under Article 8.
 

(c) Surviving Rights. As of the end of the Term, all obligations and rights of the Parties under this Agreement terminate, except those obligations and rights
under the following Articles, Sections and subsections, which continue perpetually or in accordance with their terms: Article 3 (Loans, Payments and Royalties) (for the periods
indicated), Section 4.2 (License to Genentech), Section 4.3 (Sublicensing), Article 5 (Confidentiality) (for the period indicated), Section 6.1 (Ownership of Intellectual
Property), Article 7 (Representations and Warranties), Section 9.3 (Consequences of Termination or Expiration), Section 9.4 (Bankruptcy), Section 10.1 (Indemnification),
Section 10.2 (Limitation of Liability), Article 11 (Dispute Resolution), and Article 12 (Miscellaneous).
 

(d) No Prejudice. Termination, relinquishment or expiration of this Agreement for any reason shall be without prejudice to any payments which shall have
accrued to the benefit of either Party prior to such termination, relinquishment or expiration, including damages arising from any breach hereunder.
 

(e) Bankruptcy. Either Party may, in addition to any other remedies available to it by law or in equity, terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part as the
terminating Party may determine, by written notice to the other Party, in the event the other Party shall have become bankrupt, shall have made an assignment for the benefit of
its creditors or there shall have been appointed a trustee or receiver of the other Party or for all or a substantial part of its property or any case or proceeding shall have been
commenced or other action taken by or against the other Party in bankruptcy or seeking reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, winding-up, arrangement, composition or
readjustment of its debts or any other relief under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar act or law of any jurisdiction now or hereafter in effect and any
such event shall have continued for sixty (60) days undismissed, unbonded and undischarged. All rights and licenses granted under this Agreement by one Party to the other
Party are, and shall otherwise be deemed to be, for purposes of Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code, licenses of rights to “intellectual property” as defined under Section
101(56) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Parties agree that the licensing Party under this Agreement shall retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the
Bankruptcy Code in the event of a bankruptcy by the other Party. The Parties further agree that in the event of the commencement of a bankruptcy proceeding by or against one
Party under the Bankruptcy Code, the other Party shall be entitled to complete access to any such intellectual property pertaining to the rights granted in the licenses hereunder
of the Party by or against whom a bankruptcy proceeding has been commenced and all embodiments of such intellectual property.
 

ARTICLE 10: INDEMNIFICATION, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY, INSURANCE
 

10.1 Indemnification.
 

(a) Genentech hereby agrees to save, defend and hold XOMA and its agents and employees harmless from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities,
settlements, suits, claims, actions, demands, penalties, fines, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses) (collectively the “Losses”) resulting directly
from the manufacture, use, handling, storage, sale or other disposition of Licensed Products sold or used by Genentech, its Affiliates, agents or sublicensees, except to the extent
such Losses result from the negligence or willful misconduct of XOMA, and also except for any Losses resulting directly from XOMA’s use of Genentech’s processes or
technology which XOMA or its agents have modified without Genentech’s prior written consent.
 

(b) In the event that XOMA is seeking indemnification under subsection 10.1(a), it shall inform Genentech of a claim as soon as reasonably practicable after it
receives notice of the claim, shall permit Genentech to assume direction and control of the defense of the claim (including the right to settle the claim solely for monetary
consideration), and shall cooperate as reasonably requested (at the expense of Genentech) in the defense of the claim.
 

(c) XOMA hereby agrees to save, defend and hold Genentech and its agents and employees harmless from and against any and all Losses resulting directly from
XOMA’s activities under this Agreement, except
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to the extent such Losses result from the negligence or willful misconduct of Genentech, and also except for any Losses resulting directly from Genentech’s use of any of
XOMA’s processes or technology which Genentech or its agents have modified without XOMA’s prior written consent.
 

(d) In the event that Genentech is seeking indemnification under subsection 10.1(c), it shall inform XOMA of a claim as soon as reasonably practicable after it
receives notice of the claim, shall permit XOMA to assume direction and control of the defense of the claim (including the right to settle the claim solely for monetary
consideration), and shall cooperate as reasonably requested (at the expense of XOMA) in the defense of the claim.
 

10.2 Limitation of Liability. NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY OR TO ANY OF THE OTHER PARTY’S AFFILIATES FOR ANY
SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES (INCLUDING LOST PROFITS) SUFFERED BY THE OTHER PARTY OR ITS
AFFILIATES IN RELATION TO ANY SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WITH RESPECT TO PERFORMANCE
OF THIS AGREEMENT OR LACK THEREOF) UNDER ANY CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY,
EVEN IF SUCH PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH LOSS, DAMAGE, OR COST, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT IT
MAY BE REQUIRED TO INDEMNIFY THE OTHER PARTYAS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED HEREIN.
 

10.3 Insurance Matters.
 

(a) Each Party shall maintain, on an ongoing basis, Commercial General Liability (“CGL”) insurance, including contractual liability, in the minimum amount of
[*] dollars ($[*]) per occurrence and [*] dollars ($[*]) annual aggregate combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage liability. Each Party shall maintain on an
ongoing basis Products Liability (“PL”) insurance (including contractual liability) in the amount of at least [*] dollars ($[*]) per occurrence and annual aggregate combined
single limit for bodily injury and property damage liability.
 

(b) Upon request of the other Party, each Party shall provide to the other Party certificates evidencing all such required coverage hereunder; each such certificate
shall set forth the period of insurance and the limits of coverage and shall be provided each year. CGL and PL insurance policies shall be an occurrence form, but if only a
claims-made form is available, then it may be in a claims-made form, subject to compliance with all of the terms of this Section 10.3. Each of the above insurance policies shall
be primary insurance with respect to each Party’s own participation under this Agreement. The aggregate deductibles under such CGL and PL insurance policies shall be
reasonably satisfactory to the other Party. At the request of either Party, the Parties agree to review and discuss the requirements under this Section 10.3.
 

(c) Each Party shall procure and maintain at its own cost clinical trial insurance with minimum limits as required by law and/or country, for the duration of any
Clinical Trials conducted under this Agreement.
 

(d) All of the above insurance coverage shall be maintained with an insurance company or companies having an A.M. Best rating of X-VII or better.
 

ARTICLE 11: DISPUTE RESOLUTION
 

11.1 Disputes. The Parties recognize that disputes as to certain matters may from time to time arise during the term of this Agreement which relate to either Party’s
rights and/or obligations hereunder. It is the objective of the Parties to establish procedures to facilitate the resolution of disputes arising under this Agreement in an expedient
manner by mutual cooperation and without resort to litigation. To accomplish this objective, the Parties agree to follow the procedures set forth in this Article 11 if and when
any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach, termination or invalidity hereof (“Article 11 Disputes”). Article 11 Disputes first
will be referred to a Vice President or Senior Vice President of Genentech and the Chief
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Executive Officer or a Vice President of XOMA. If after sixty (60) days the dispute remains unresolved, the Parties agree to refer the matter to mediation pursuant to Section
11.2. If after forty-five (45) days the matter cannot be resolved by mediation, the Parties agree to submit to arbitration pursuant to Section 11.3.
 

11.2 Mediation. For Article 11 Disputes, except (a) disputes relating to intellectual property owned in whole or in part by XOMA or Genentech, or (b) claims for
equitable relief, the Parties shall try in good faith to resolve such dispute by mediation administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial
Mediation Rules. The mediation proceeding shall be conducted at the location of the Party not originally requesting resolution of the dispute. The Parties agree that they shall
share equally the cost of the mediation filing and hearing fees, and the cost of the mediator. Each Party must bear its own attorney’s fees and associated costs and expenses.
 

11.3 Arbitration. For Article 11 Disputes not resolved pursuant to Section 11.1 or Section 11.2 within the time periods provided, except (a) disputes relating to
intellectual property owned in whole or in part by XOMA or Genentech, or (b) claims for equitable relief, upon ten (10) days written notice, either Party may initiate arbitration
by giving notice to that effect to the other Party and by filing the notice with the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial Arbitration Rules. Such
dispute shall then be settled by arbitration in California in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association or other rules agreed to
by the Parties, by a panel of three (3) neutral arbitrators, who shall be selected by the Parties using the procedures for arbitrator selection of the American Arbitration
Association.
 

(a) The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce. Insofar as it applies, the United States Arbitration Act
shall govern the interpretation of, enforcement of, and proceedings pursuant to the arbitration clause in this Agreement. Except insofar as the United States Arbitration Act
applies to such matters, the agreement to arbitrate set forth in this Section 11.3 shall be construed, and the legal relations among the Parties shall be determined in accordance
with, the substantive laws of California.
 

(b) The panel shall render its decision and award, including a statement of reasons upon which such award is based, within thirty (30) days after the arbitration
hearing. The decision of the panel shall be determined by majority vote among the arbitrators, shall be in writing and shall be binding upon the Parties, final and non-
appealable. Judgment upon the award rendered by the panel may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof in accordance with Section 11.4.
 

(c) Except as provided under the United States Arbitration Act and with respect to the infringement, validity and/or enforceability of patent rights, no action at law
or in equity based upon any dispute that is subject to arbitration under this Section 11.3 shall be instituted.
 

(d) All expenses of any arbitration pursuant to this Section 11.3, including fees and expenses of the Parties’ attorneys, fees and expenses of the arbitrators, and fees
and expenses of any witness or the cost of any proof produced at the request of the arbitrators, shall be paid by the non-prevailing Party.
 

(e) For the purposes of Section 11.2 and Section 11.3, the Parties agree to accept the jurisdiction of the federal courts located in the Northern District of California
for the purposes of enforcing the agreements reflected in this Section 11.2 and 11.3.
 

11.4 Jurisdiction and Governing Law. For any disputes not subject to arbitration or mediation above, California law (excluding conflict of laws principles) governs and
the Parties accept the jurisdiction of the state courts geographically located in the Northern District of California or the federal courts within the Northern District of California.
 

11.5 Determination of Patents and Other Intellectual Property. Any dispute relating to the determination of validity of a Party’s Patents or other issues relating solely
to a Party’s intellectual property shall be submitted exclusively to the federal courts located in the Northern District of California, San Francisco Division, and the Parties hereby
consent to the jurisdiction and venue of such court.
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ARTICLE 12: MISCELLANEOUS
 

12.1 Assignment.
 

(a) XOMA may freely assign its rights to receive payment from Genentech under this Agreement, but shall provide notice to Genentech of such assignment
immediately upon such assignment. With respect to XOMA’s other rights and obligations hereunder, XOMA shall not assign or delegate such obligations (including by
operation of law, in connection with a change of control, merger or otherwise) without prior written consent of Genentech. Any purported or attempted assignment in violation
of the foregoing is void, and will be considered a material breach of this Agreement.
 

(b) Genentech may assign all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (a) freely in connection with a merger or reorganization or the sale of all or
substantially all of its assets to which this Agreement relates, or (b) with the prior written consent of XOMA. This Agreement shall survive any such merger or reorganization of
Genentech with or into, or such sale of assets to, another party and no consent (except as otherwise set forth above) for such merger, reorganization or sale shall be required
hereunder.
 

(c) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the Parties. Any assignment not in accordance with
this Agreement shall be void.
 

12.2 Retained Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit in any respect the right of either Party to conduct research and development with respect to and market
products outside the Field using such Party’s technology.
 

12.3 Force Majeure. Neither Party shall lose any rights hereunder or be liable to the other Party for damages or losses on account of failure of performance by the
defaulting Party if the failure is occasioned by government action, war, terrorism, fire, explosion, flood, earthquake, strike, lockout, embargo, act of God, or any other cause
beyond the control of the defaulting Party; provided that the Party claiming force majeure has exerted all Commercially Reasonable and Diligent Efforts to avoid or remedy
such force majeure; provided, however, that in no event shall a Party be required to settle any labor dispute or disturbance.
 

12.4 Further Actions. Each Party agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments, and to do all such other acts, as may be necessary or appropriate
in order to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.
 

12.5 Notices. All notices hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally or by facsimile transmission (receipt verified), telexed, mailed
by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), postage prepaid, or sent by express courier service, to the Parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for
a Party as shall be specified by like notice; provided that notices of a change of address shall be effective only upon receipt thereof).
 

If to XOMA,
 

addressed to: XOMA (US) LLC
2910 7th Street
Berkeley, California 94710
Attention: Company Secretary
Telephone: (510) 204-7200
Telecopy: (510) 649-7571

 
with a copy to: Chief Financial Officer
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If to Genentech,
 

addressed to: GENENTECH, INC.
1 DNA Way
South San Francisco, CA 94080
Attention: Corporate Secretary
Telephone: (650) 225-1000
Telecopy: (650) 952-9881

 
with a copy to the Vice President of Business Development
Telecopy: (650) 225-3009

 
12.6 Waiver. Except as specifically provided for herein, the waiver from time to time by either of the Parties of any of its rights or its failure to exercise any remedy shall

not operate or be construed as a continuing waiver of same or of any other of such Party’s rights or remedies provided in this Agreement.
 

12.7 Severability. If any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement or the application thereof to any Party or circumstance shall, to any extent, be held to be invalid
or unenforceable, then (i) the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term, covenant or condition to Parties or circumstances other than those as to which it is
held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and each term, covenant or condition of this Agreement shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted
by law; and (ii) the Parties hereto covenant and agree to renegotiate any such term, covenant or application thereof in good faith in order to provide a reasonably acceptable
alternative to the term, covenant or condition of this Agreement or the application thereof that is invalid or unenforceable, it being the intent of the Parties that the basic purposes
of this Agreement are to be effectuated.
 

12.8 Ambiguities. Ambiguities, if any, in this Agreement shall not be construed against either Party, irrespective of which Party may be deemed to have authorized the
ambiguous provision.
 

12.9 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.
 

12.10 Previous Activities. [*].
 

12.11 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including all Exhibits attached hereto, which are hereby incorporated herein by reference, together with the Common Stock
and Convertible Note Purchase Agreement dated as of April 22, 1996, as amended, sets forth all the covenants, promises, agreements, warranties, representations, conditions
and understandings between the Parties hereto and, as of the Effective Date, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the Parties, including but not limited
to the First Amended and Restated Agreement, the Note Agreement and the Security Agreement, except for the remaining obligations described in this Agreement. There are no
covenants, promises, agreements, warranties, representations, conditions or understandings, either oral or written, between the Parties regarding the subject matter herein other
than as set forth herein and therein. No subsequent alteration, amendment, change or addition to this Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties hereto unless reduced to
writing and signed by the respective authorized officers of the Parties.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Second Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement in duplicate originals by their proper officers as of
the Effective Date.
 
XOMA (US) LLC  GENETECH, INC.

By:
 

/s/ PETER B. DAVIS
 

By:
 

/s/ LOUIS J. LAVIGNE, JR.

  Peter B. Davis    Louis J. Lavigne, Jr.

Title:  Vice President, Finance and Chief  Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief
  Financial Officer    Financial Officer
 
With respect to the Recitals and Section 3.2 only:
XOMA Ltd.
 
By:

 

/s/ CHRISTOPHER J. MARGOLIN

  Christopher J. Margolin

Title:  Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
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Exhibit A
Anti-CD11a

 
Anti-CD11a Antibody Full Length Amino Acid Sequences

 
[*]



EXHIBIT B
 

The “Itakura/Riggs Patents” shall mean the following U.S. patents and any and all divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part of any application from which these
U.S patents claim priority, including reissues, reexaminations or extensions of these patents and foreign counterparts and supplementary protection certificates of the foregoing:
 
U.S. 4,356,270
U.S. 4,366,246
U.S. 4,425,437
U.S. 4,431,739
U.S. 4,563,424
U.S. 4,571,421
U.S. 4,704,362
U.S. 4,812,554
U.S. 5,221,619
U.S. 5,420,020
U.S. 5,583,013
 

The “Cabilly Coexpression Patents” shall mean U.S. Patent No. 6,331,415 issued December 18, 2001, and any and all patents issuing from divisionals, continuations, or
continuations-in-part of any application from which U.S. Patent No. 6,331,415 claims priority, including reissues, reexaminations or extensions of these patents and foreign
counterparts and supplementary protection certificates of the foregoing. Cabilly Coexpression Patents shall not include Cabilly Chimera Patents identified below.
 

“Cabilly Chimera Patents” shall mean (i) U.S. Patent No. 4,816,567, issued March 28, 1989, and (ii) any claims directed to chimeric antibodies which claims are found
in any patent(s) issuing from divisionals, continuations, or continuations-in-part of any application from which U.S. Patent No. 4,816,567 claims priority, or (iii) which claims
are found in any patents that are reissues, reexaminations, extensions, or foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing (i) or (ii).



Exhibit 10.53
 
ADB Contract Number: N01-AI-50004
 OMB Approval 2700-0042    

AWARD/CONTRACT
 1.  THIS CONTRACT IS A RATED ORDER

     UNDER DPAS (15 CFR 350)
 

 
Ø     
 

 RATING                                 PAGE    OF    PAGES

    1   22
2.  CONTRACT (Proc. Inst. Ident.) NO.
 

HHSN266200500004C
  

3.  EFFECTIVE DATE
 

March 8, 2005  

4.  REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQUEST/PROJECT NO.
 

RRCB-214
5.  ISSUED BY      CODE       6.  ADMINISTERED BY (If other than Item 6)  CODE      

 
National Institutes of Health
Contract Management Program, DEA, NIAID
6700-B Rockledge Drive, Room 3214, MSC 7612
Bethesda, MD 20892-7612

  

DMID/RRCB
 

RFP NIH-NIAID-DMID-PR2004-01

7.  NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (No. street, county, state and ZIP Code)  8.  DELIVERY
 

XOMA (US) LLC
2910 Seventh Street
Berkeley, CA 94710

 

¨ FOB ORIGIN    x OTHER (See below)

FOB Destination        
 9/ DISCOUNT FOR PROMPT PAYMENT
 N/A
 10.SUBMIT INVOICES  ITEM                

CODE  FACILITY CODE  ADDRESS SHOWN IN:     Article G.3.  
11.  SHIP TO/MARK FOR CODE  CODE     N/A  12. PAYMENT WILL BE MADE BY CODE  CODE     N/A

 
Article F.2.  See Article G.3.

13.  AUTHORITY FOR USING OTHER FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION:
 

¨  10 U.S.C. 2304(c)(  )                            ̈   41 U.S.C. 253(c)(  )  

14.  ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA
     EIN 1-522154069-A1    SOCC 25.55    CAN 5-8460924    $15,000,000

15A.  ITEM NO.  15B.  SUPPLIES/SERVICES  15C.  QUANTITY  15D.  UNIT  15E. UNIT PRICE  15F. AMOUNT
Title:  Neutralizing Monoclonal Antibodies for Type A Botulinum
            Neurotoxins
Period:  March 8, 2005 through September 7, 2006
Contract Type:  Firm Fixed-Price  

See Article B.2.

 

 

 

 

 

$15,000,000.00

15G. TOTAL AMOUNT OF CONTRACT      ØØ      $15,000,000    
16.    TABLE OF CONTENTS                
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such provisions, representations, certifications, and specifications, as are attached or incorporated by reference herein. (Attachments are listed herein.)  
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SECTION B—SUPPLIES OR SERVICES AND PRICES/COSTS
 
ARTICLE B.1. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES
 
This acquisition is being issued for services to develop and manufacture cGMP bulk drug substance for up to three human or human compatible mAbs with potency demonstrated in a standardized mouse protection bioassay for botulinum neurotoxins A1 and A2.
 
ARTICLE B.2. PRICES
 
a. The total fixed price of this contract is $15,000,000.00.
 
b. Upon delivery and acceptance of the items and/or services specified in SECTION F, ARTICLE F.2. and described in SECTION C, the Government shall make progress payments monthly, upon submission of proper invoices or vouchers, the prices stipulated

in this contract for work delivered or rendered and accepted, less 10 percent of the total amount of the payment. If satisfactory progress is achieved and upon completion of the contract, the Government shall release all withheld funds to the contractor.
 

MILESTONE PAYMENT SCHEDULE
 

Milestone

  

Price ($)

Project Management   1,021,900
1   1,586,600
2   2,355,900
3   2,342,100
4   407,900
5   123,400
6   2,322,900
7   123,500
8   25,100
9   2,930,800
10   1,161,000
11   598,900
   
Total   15,000,000
   

 
ARTICLE B.3. ADVANCE UNDERSTANDINGS
 
Other provisions of this contract notwithstanding, approval of the following items within the limits set forth is hereby granted without further authorization from the Contracting Officer.
 
a. cGMP Audit
 

A Pre-award site visit and cGMP audit was carried out at XOMA facilities on February 3-4, 2005 and recommendations were made by the auditors. Progress on these recommendations must be tracked in the monthly reports and through frequent formal
communication with NIAID Project Officer.

 
NIAID will require additional audits and inspections of Prime Contractor and Subcontractor’s facilities and documents throughout the performance period of the contract.

 
b. Written plan, timeline, Gantt Chart
 

XOMA is expected to provide a written plan, timeline, Gantt chart or other means of documenting all development activities that would designate the individual studies, outline (i.e. in a paragraph or two) how these studies would be
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conducted (e.g. a few paragraphs to describe the specifics for the study such as the number of replicates, conditions, numbers of samples, test to be conducted, etc.). The first written plan should be provided within two weeks of contract award and cover the
first three months of activities. Subsequent plans should be provided quarterly, and two weeks in advance of initiation of activities outlined in the plan. Modifications to plans should be discussed with NIAID prior to changes. These plans should allow NIAID
to be prospectively involved in the development of the product to better ensure that the resulting process will be robust, transferable, and meet long term FDA scrutiny. Specifically it is required that Analytical Development Reports, Process Development
Reports, Validation Protocols and Qualification Reports will be included as part of the final report, and the Technical Transfer Packages. Critical reagents and/or reagent production procedures are also required as part of the Technical Transfer Package. In
addition, the Batch Production Records are expected to contain sufficient detail to allow for technical transfer of the manufacturing process, either as part of the Batch Production Record itself or as an appendix to the Batch Production Record.

 
c. Subcontract – SRI International
 

A firm fixed-price type subcontract with SRI International at a fixed price of $934,051 for an eighteen month period of performance March 7, 2005 to September 6, 2006. A copy of the signed, approved subcontract must be provided to the Contracting Officer
within 30 calendar days after the effective date of the contract. The subcontractor may not begin performance until the subcontracting agreement has been executed by both parties.

 
d. Contract Number Designation
 

On all correspondence submitted under this contract, the contractor agrees to clearly identify the two contract numbers that appear on the face page of the contract as follows:
 

Contract No. HHSN266200500004C
ADB Contract No. N01-AI-50004

 
[End of Section B]
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SECTION C—DESCRIPTION/SPECIFICATIONS/WORK STATEMENT
 
ARTICLE C.1. STATEMENT OF WORK
 
Independently and not as an agent of the Government, the Contractor shall furnish all the necessary services, qualified personnel, material, equipment, and facilities, not otherwise provided by the Government as needed to perform the Statement of Work, SECTION J,
ATTACHMENT 1, dated March 8, 2005, attached hereto and made a part of this contract.
 
ARTICLE C.2. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
 
a. Technical Reports
 

In addition to those reports required by the other terms of this contract, the Contractor shall prepare and submit the following reports in the manner stated below and in accordance with ARTICLE F.2. DELIVERIES of this contract:
 

1. Monthly Technical Progress Reports
 

The Contractor shall submit a Monthly Technical Report that shall include the following specific information:
 
 a) Cover page that lists the contract number and title, the period of performance being reported, the contractor’s name and address, the author(s), and the date of submission;
 b) An introduction covering the purpose and scope of the contract effort;
 c) Detail, document, and summarize the results of work completed and cost incurred during the period covered in relation to proposed effort and budget.
 

These reports shall be in sufficient detail to explain comprehensively the results achieved. The description shall include pertinent data and/or conclusions resulting from analysis and scientific evaluation of data accumulated to date under the
project. Also to be included is a summary of the work proposed for the next reporting period.

 
The first report shall be submitted on or before April 22nd, 2005. Thereafter, reports shall be due on or before the 20th of the month following each monthly reporting period.

 
2. Milestone Reports

 
A milestone report will be provided after the completion of each Milestone unless otherwise agreed by the Principal Investigator and the Project Officer. Milestone reports and monthly reports may be combined if agreed by the Project Officer. These reports
shall be due on or before the 15th day after completion of each milestone.

 
3. Final Report

 
The contractor shall submit an original and one (1) copy of the Final Report that details, documents, and summarizes the results of the entire contract work for the period covered. This report shall be in sufficient detail to explain comprehensively the results
achieved. This Final Report shall be submitted on or before the completion date of the contract.

 
b. Reports Distribution
 

Copies of the technical reports shall be submitted to the Project Officer and Contracting Officer in accordance with ARTICLE F.2. DELIVERIES. If the Contractor is unable to deliver the reports specified hereunder within the period of performance because
of unforeseen difficulties, notwithstanding the exercise of good faith and diligent efforts in performance of the work, the Contractor shall give the Contracting Officer immediate written notice of anticipated delays, stating the reasons and providing the revised
delivery date. The revised submission date is subject to the approval of the Project Officer and Contracting Officer.
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ARTICLE C.3. INVENTION REPORTING REQUIREMENT
 
All reports and documentation required by [FAR Clause 52.227-11/FAR Clause 52.227-11 (Deviation)/FAR Clause 52.227-13] including, but not limited to, the invention disclosure report, the confirmatory license, and the government support certification, shall be
directed to the Extramural Inventions and Technology Resources Branch, OPERA, NIH, 6705 Rockledge Drive, Room 1040 A, MSC 7980, Bethesda, Maryland 20892-7980 (Telephone: 301-435-1986). In addition, one copy of an annual utilization report, and a
copy of the final invention statement, shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer. The final invention statement (see FAR 27.303(a)(2)(ii)) shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer on the expiration date of the contract.
 
The final invention statement (see FAR 27.303(a)(2)(ii)) shall be submitted on the expiration date of the contract to the following address:
 

Liem T. Nguyen
Contract Specialist
National Institutes of Health
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, DEA, CMP
6700B Rockledge Drive, Room 3214
Bethesda, Maryland 20892-7612

 
If no invention is disclosed or no activity has occurred on a previously disclosed invention during the applicable reporting period, a negative report shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer at the address listed above.
 
To assist contractors in complying with invention reporting requirements of the clause, the NIH has developed “Interagency Edison,” an electronic invention reporting system. Use of Interagency Edison is encouraged as it streamlines the reporting process and greatly
reduces paperwork. Access to the system is through a secure interactive Web site to ensure that all information submitted is protected. Interagency Edison and information relating to the capabilities of the system can be obtained from the Web
(http://www.iedison.gov), or by contacting the Extramural Inventions and Technology Resources Branch, OPERA, NIH.
 

[End of Section C]
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SECTION D—PACKAGING, MARKING AND SHIPPING
 
All deliverables required under this contract shall be packaged, marked and shipped in accordance with Government specifications. At a minimum, all deliverables shall be marked with the contract number and contractor name. The Contractor shall guarantee that all
required materials shall be delivered in immediate usable and acceptable condition.
 

[End of Section D]
 

8



Contract No. HHSN266200500004C
 

SECTION E—INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE
 
a. The Contracting Officer or the duly authorized representative will perform inspection and acceptance of materials and services to be provided.
 
b. For the purpose of this SECTION, the Project Officer identified in ARTICLE G.1. is the authorized representative of the Contracting Officer.
 
c. Inspection and acceptance will be performed at NIH, NIAID, DMID, 6610 Rockledge Drive, Room 4011, Bethesda, Maryland 20892.
 
    Acceptance may be presumed unless otherwise indicated in writing by the Contracting Officer or the duly authorized representative within 30 days of receipt.
 
d. This contract incorporates the following clause by reference, with the same force and effect as if it were given in full text. Upon request, the Contracting Officer will make its full text available.
 
    FAR Clause 52.246-4, INSPECTION OF SERVICES—FIXED PRICE (AUGUST 1996).
 

[End of Section E]
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SECTION F—DELIVERIES OR PERFORMANCE
 
ARTICLE F.1. PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE
 
The period of performance of this contract shall be from the date of award for a total period of 549 calendar days.
 
ARTICLE F.2. DELIVERIES
 
a. Satisfactory performance of this contract shall be deemed to occur upon performance of the work described in Article C.1. and upon delivery and acceptance by the Contracting Officer, or the duly authorized representative, of the items specified in the

Delivery Schedule which are described in SECTION C of this contract.
 
    The items specified below as described in SECTION C, ARTICLE C.2. will be required to be delivered F.O.B. Destination as set forth in FAR 52.247-35, F.O.B. DESTINATION, WITHIN CONSIGNEES PREMISES (APRIL 1984), and in accordance with

and by the date(s) specified below and any specifications stated in SECTION D, PACKAGING, MARKING AND SHIPPING, of the contract:
 
Deliverable

    

No. of Copies

    

Addressee/Distribution

    

Due Date

Monthly Technical Progress Reports
    

Original
2 Copies     

Contracting Officer
Project Officer     

On or before the 20th of the month following each monthly reporting period

Milestone Reports
    

Original
2 Copies     

Contracting Officer
Project Officer     

On or before the 15th day after completion date of each milestone

Written Plan

    

Original
2 Copies

    

Contracting Officer
Project Officer

    

First one due within 15 calendar days after the award date. Subsequence plans due
quarterly and 15 calendar days in advance of initiation of activities outlined in the
plan

Final Report
    

Original
1 Copy     

Contracting Officer
Project Officer     

On completion date of the contract

 
b. The above items shall be addressed and delivered to the address/addressee listed below:
 

Project Officer
Division of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases
NIAID, NIH, DHHS
6610 Rockledge Drive, Room 4011
BETHESDA MD 20892-6604

 
Contracting Officer
CMP, DEA, NIAID, NIH, DHHS
Room 3214
6700B Rockledge Drive, MSC 7612
Bethesda, MD 20892-7612

 
c. Unless otherwise specified, deliveries shall be made to the Delivery Point specified above Mondays through Fridays (excluding Federal Holidays) between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. EST only. Supplies or services scheduled for delivery on a

Federal holiday shall be made the following day.
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ARTICLE F.3. CLAUSES INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE, FAR 52.252-2 (FEBRUARY 1998)
 
This contract incorporates the following clause by reference, with the same force and effect as if it were given in full text. Upon request, the Contracting Officer will make its full text available. Also, the full text of a clause may be accessed electronically at this
address: http://www.arnet.gov/far/.
 
FEDERAL ACQUISITION REGULATION (48 CFR CHAPTER 1) CLAUSE:
 

52.242-15, Stop Work Order (AUGUST 1989) with ALTERNATE I (APRIL 1984).
 

[End of Section F]
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SECTION G—CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION DATA
 
ARTICLE G.1. PROJECT OFFICER
 
The following Project Officer will represent the Government for the purpose of this contract:
 

Katherine A. Taylor, Ph.D.
Division of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases
NIAID, NIH, DHHS
6610 Rockledge Drive, Room 4011
MSC 6604
Bethesda, Maryland 20892-6604
Phone: 301-451-5068
Email: kataylor@niaid.nih.gov

 
The Project Officer is responsible for: (1) monitoring the Contractor’s technical progress, including the surveillance and assessment of performance and recommending to the Contracting Officer changes in requirements; (2) interpreting the Statement of Work and
any other technical performance requirements; (3) performing technical evaluation as required; (4) performing technical inspections and acceptances required by this contract; and (5) assisting in the resolution of technical problems encountered during performance.
 
The Contracting Officer is the only person with authority to act as agent of the Government under this contract. Only the Contracting Officer has authority to: (1) direct or negotiate any changes in the Statement of Work; (2) modify or extend the period of
performance; (3) change the delivery schedule; (4) authorize reimbursement to the Contractor any costs incurred during the performance of this contract; or (5) otherwise change any terms and conditions of this contract.
 
The Government may unilaterally change its Project Officer designation.
 
ARTICLE G.2. KEY PERSONNEL
 
Pursuant to the Key Personnel clause incorporated in Section I of this contract, the following individual is considered to be essential to the work being performed hereunder:
 

Name  Title

Marc Better, Ph.D.  Principal Investigator
 
ARTICLE G.3. INVOICE SUBMISSION
 
a. Invoice Instruction for NIH Fixed-Price Type Contracts, NIH(RC)-2, are attached and made part of this contract. The invoice instructions and the following directions for the submission of invoices must be followed to meet the requirements of a Aproper@

invoice, pursuant to FAR 32.9.
 
 (1) Invoices shall be submitted as follows:
 
 (a) To be considered a “proper” invoice in accordance with FAR 32.9, Prompt Payment, each invoice shall clearly identify the two contract numbers that appear on the face page of the contract as follows:
 

Contract No. (This is the 17 digit number that appears in Block 2 of the SF-26, i.e. HHSN266200500004C.)
 

ADB Contract No. (This is the 10 digit number that appears in the upper left hand corner of the SF-26, i.e. N01-AI-50004.)
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 (b) An original and two copies to the following designated billing office:
 

Contracting Officer
CMP, DEA, NIAID, NIH, DHHS
6700B Rockledge Drive MSC 7612
Room 3214
BETHESDA MD 20892-7612

 
 (2) Inquiries regarding payment of invoices should be directed to the designated billing office, (301) 451-3687.
 
ARTICLE G.4. POST AWARD EVALUATION OF CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE
 
a. Contractor Performance Evaluations
 

Interim and final evaluations of contractor performance will be prepared on this contract in accordance with FAR 42.15. The final performance evaluation will be prepared at the time of completion of work. In addition to the final evaluation, interim
evaluations will be prepared annually to coincide with the anniversary date of the contract.

 
Interim and final evaluations will be provided to the Contractor as soon as practicable after completion of the evaluation. The Contractor will be permitted thirty days to review the document and to submit additional information or a rebutting statement. If
agreement cannot be reached between the parties, the matter will be referred to an individual one level above the Contracting Officer, whose decision will be final.

 
Copies of the evaluations, contractor responses, and review comments, if any, will be retained as part of the contract file, and may be used to support future award decisions.

 
b. Electronic Access to Contractor Performance Evaluations
 

Contractors that have Internet capability may access evaluations through a secure Web site for review and comment by completing the registration form that can be obtained at the following address:
 

http://ocm.od.nih.gov/cdmp/cps_contractor.htm
 

The registration process requires the contractor to identify an individual that will serve as a primary contact and who will be authorized access to the evaluation for review and comment. In addition, the contractor will be required to identify an alternate
contact who will be responsible for notifying the cognizant contracting official in the event the primary contact is unavailable to process the evaluation within the required 30-day time frame.

 
[End of Section G]
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SECTION H—SPECIAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS
 
ARTICLE H.1. CONTINUED BAN ON FUNDING OF HUMAN EMBRYO RESEARCH
 
a. Pursuant to Public Law(s) cited in paragraph b., below, NIH is prohibited from using appropriated funds to support human embryo research. Contract funds may not be used for (1) the creation of a human embryo or embryos for research purposes; or (2)

research in which a human embryo or embryos are destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of injury or death greater than that allowed for research on fetuses in uterus under 45 CFR 46.208(a)(2) and Section 498(b) of the Public Health Service
Act (42 U.S.C. 289g(b)). The term “human embryo or embryos” includes any organism, not protected as a human subject under 45 CFR 46 as of the date of the enactment of this Act, that is derived by fertilization, parthenogenesis, cloning, or any other
means from one or more human gametes or human diploid cells.

 
Additionally, in accordance with a March 4, 1997 Presidential Memorandum, Federal funds may not be used for cloning of human beings.

 
b.      Public Law and Section No.  Fiscal Year  Period Covered

 P.L. No. 108-447, Div. F, Sec. 509  2005  10/1/04—9/30/05
 
ARTICLE H.2. NEEDLE EXCHANGE
 
a. Pursuant to Public Law(s) cited in paragraph b., below, contract funds shall not be used to carry out any program of distributing sterile needles or syringes for the hypodermic injection of any illegal drug.
 
b.      Public Law and Section No.  Fiscal Year  Period Covered

 P.L. No. 108-447, Div. F, Sec. 505  2005  10/1/04—9/30/05
 
ARTICLE H.3. PUBLICATION AND PUBLICITY
 
The contractor shall acknowledge the support of the National Institutes of Health whenever publicizing the work under this contract in any media by including an acknowledgment substantially as follows:
 

“This project has been funded in whole or in part with Federal funds from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Department of Health and Human Services, under Contract No. HHSN266200500004C.”
 
ARTICLE H.4. PRESS RELEASES
 
a. Pursuant to Public Law(s) cited in paragraph b., below, the contractor shall clearly state, when issuing statements, press releases, requests for proposals, bid solicitations and other documents describing projects or programs funded in whole or in part with

Federal money: (1) the percentage of the total costs of the program or project which will be financed with Federal money; (2) the dollar amount of Federal funds for the project or program; and (3) the percentage and dollar amount of the total costs of the
project or program that will be financed by nongovernmental sources.

 
b.      Public Law and Section No.  Fiscal Year  Period Covered

 P.L. No. 108-447, Div. F, Sec. 506  2005  10/1/04—9/30/05
 
ARTICLE H.5. REPORTING MATTERS INVOLVING FRAUD, WASTE AND ABUSE
 
Anyone who becomes aware of the existence or apparent existence of fraud, waste and abuse in NIH funded programs is encouraged to report such matters to the HHS Inspector General=s Office in writing or on the Inspector General=s Hotline. The toll free number
is 1-800-HHS-TIPS (1-800-447-8477). All telephone calls will be handled confidentially. The e-mail address is Htips@os.dhhs.gov and the mailing address is:
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Office of Inspector General
Department of Health and Human Services
TIPS HOTLINE
P.O. Box 23489
Washington, D.C. 20026

 
ARTICLE H.6. ANTI-LOBBYING
 
a. Pursuant to Public Law(s) cited in paragraph c., below, contract funds shall only be used for normal and recognized executive-legislative relationships. Contract funds shall not be used, for publicity or propaganda purposes; or for the preparation, distribution,

or use of any kit, pamphlet, booklet, publication, radio, television, or video presentation designed to support or defeat legislation pending before the Congress or any State legislature, except in presentation to the Congress or any State legislature itself.
 
b. Contract funds shall not be used to pay salary or expenses of the contractor or any agent acting for the contractor, related to any activity designed to influence legislation or appropriations pending before the Congress or any State legislature.
 
c.      Public Law and Section No.  Fiscal Year  Period Covered

         for a., above: P.L. No. 108-447, Div. F, Sec. 503(a)  2005  10/1/04—9/30/05
         for b., above: P.L. No. 108-447, Div. F, Sec. 503(b)  2005  10/1/04—9/30/05
 
ARTICLE H.7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OPTION TO COLLABORATOR
 
NIAID may collaborate with an outside investigator who has proprietary rights to compounds which may be assigned under this contract. This collaborator will be identified by the Project Officer (PO) at the time of assignment and in this case, the following option
regarding Intellectual Property Rights will be applicable.
 
Contractor agrees to promptly notify the NIAID and “Collaborator” in writing of any inventions, discoveries or innovations made by the contractor’s principal investigator or any other employees or agents of the contractor, whether patentable or not, which are
conceived and/or first actually reduced to practice in the performance of this study using Collaborator’s Study Agent (hereinafter “Contractor Inventions”).
 
Contractor agrees to grant to Collaborator: (1) a paid-up nonexclusive, nontransferable, royalty-free, world-wide license to all Contractor Inventions for research purposes only; and (2) a time-limited first option to negotiate an exclusive world-wide royalty-bearing
license for all commercial purposes, including the right to grant sub-licenses, to all Contractor Inventions on terms to be negotiated in good faith by Collaborator and Contractor. Collaborator shall notify Contractor, in writing, of its interest in obtaining an exclusive
license to any Contractor Invention within six (6) months of Collaborator’s receipt of notice of such Contractor Invention(s). In the event that Collaborator fails to so notify Contractor or elects not to obtain an exclusive license, then Collaborator’s option shall expire
with respect to that Contractor Invention, and Contractor will be free to dispose of its interests in such Contractor Invention in accordance with its own policies. If Contractor and Collaborator fail to reach agreement within ninety (90) days, (or such additional period
as Collaborator and Contractor may agree) on the terms for an exclusive license for a particular Contractor Invention, then for a period of six (6) months thereafter, Contractor shall not offer to license the Contractor Invention to any third party on materially better
terms than those last offered to Collaborator without first offering such terms to Collaborator, in which case Collaborator shall have a period of thirty (30) days in which to accept or reject the offer.
 
Contractor agrees that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any inventions, discoveries or innovations, whether patentable or not, which are not Subject Inventions as defined in 35 U.S.C. 201(e),* arising out of any unauthorized use of the Collaborator’s
Study Agent shall be the property of the Collaborator (hereinafter “Collaborator Inventions”). Contractor will promptly notify the Collaborator in writing of any such Collaborator Inventions and, at Collaborator’s request and expense, Contractor will cause to be
assigned to Collaborator all right, title and interest in an to any such Collaborator Inventions and provide Collaborator with reasonable assistance to obtain patents (including causing the execution of any invention assignment or other documents). Contractor may also
be conducting other more basic research using Study Agent under the authority of a separate Material Transfer Agreement (MTA), or other such agreement with the Collaborator. Inventions arising thereunder shall be subject to the terms of the MTA, and not to this
clause.
 

15



Contract No. HHSN266200500004C
 
*35 U.S.C. (e): The term “subject invention” means any invention of the contractor conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the performance of work under a funding agreement: Provided, that in the case of a variety of plant, the date of determination (as
defined in section 41(d)(FOOTNOTE 1) of the Plant Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. 2401(d))) must also occur during the period of contract performance.
 

Protection of Proprietary Data
 
Data generated using an investigational agent proprietary to a Collaborator will be kept confidential and shared only with the NIAID and the Collaborator. The Contractor retains the right to publish research results subject to the terms of this contract.
 
ARTICLE H.8. OBTAINING AND DISSEMINATING BIOMEDICAL RESEARCH RESOURCES
 
Unique research resources arising from NIH-funded research are to be shared with the scientific research community. NIH provides guidance, entitled, ASharing Biomedical Research Resources: Principles and Guidelines for Recipients of NIH Research Grants and
Contracts,@ (Federal Register Notice, December 23, 1999 [64 FR 72090]), concerning the appropriate terms for disseminating and acquiring these research resources. This guidance, found at : http://ott.od.nih.gov/NewPages/64FR72090.pdf. is intended to help
contractors ensure that the conditions they impose and accept on the transfer of research tools will facilitate further biomedical research, consistent with the requirements of the Bayh-Dole Act and NIH funding policy.
 
Note: For the purposes of this Article, the terms, “research tools,” “research materials,” and “research resources” are used interchangeably and have the same meaning.
 
ARTICLE H.9. POSSESSION USE AND TRANSFER OF SELECT BIOLOGICAL AGENTS OR TOXINS
 
Work involving select biological agents or toxins shall not be conducted under this contract until the contractor and any affected subcontractor(s) are granted a certificate of registration or are authorized to work with the applicable agents.
 
For prime or subcontract awards to domestic institutions who possess, use, and/or transfer Select Agents under this contract, the institution must complete registration with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Department of Health and Human
Services (DHHS) or the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Services (APHIS), U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA), as applicable, before using NIH funds for research involving Select Agents. No NIH funds can be used for research involving Select Agents if
the final registration certificate is denied.
 
For prime or subcontract awards to foreign institutions who possess, use, and/or transfer Select Agents under this contract, the institution must provide information satisfactory to the NIH that a process equivalent to that described in 42 CFR 73
(http://www.cdc.gov/od/sap/docs/42cfr73.pdf) for U.S. institutions is in place and will be administered on behalf of all Select Agent work sponsored by these funds before using these funds for any work directly involving the Select Agents. The contractor must
provide information addressing the following key elements appropriate for the foreign institution: safety, security, training, procedures for ensuring that only approved/appropriate individuals have access to the Select Agents, and any applicable laws, regulations and
policies equivalent to 42 CFR 73. An NIAID-chaired committee of U.S. federal employees (including representatives of NIH grants/contracts and scientific program management, CDC, Department of Justice and other federal intelligence agencies, and Department of
State) will assess the policies and procedures for comparability to the U.S. requirements described in 42 CFR Part 73. When requested by the contracting officer, the contractor should provide key information delineating any laws, regulations, policies, and procedures
applicable to the foreign institution for the safe and secure possession, use, and transfer of Select Agents. This includes concise summaries of safety, security, and training plans, and applicable laws, regulations, and policies. For the purpose of security risk
assessments, the contractor must provide the names of all individuals at the foreign institution who will have access to the Select Agents and procedures for ensuring that only approved and appropriate individuals have access to Select Agents under the contract.
 

Listings of HHS select agents and toxins, biologic agents and toxins, and overlap agents or toxins as well as information about the registration process, can be obtained on the Select Agent Program Web site at http://www.cdc.gov/od/sap/
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ARTICLE H.10. PROHIBITION ON CONTRACTOR INVOLVEMENT WITH TERRORIST ACTIVITIES
 
The contractor acknowledges that U.S. Executive Orders and Laws, including but not limited to E.O. 13224 and P.L. 107-56, prohibit transactions with, and the provision of resources and support to, individuals and organizations associated with terrorism. It is the
legal responsibility of the contractor to ensure compliance with these Executive Orders and Laws. This clause must be included in all subcontracts issued under this contract.
 

[End of Section H]
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PART II—CONTRACT CLAUSES
 

SECTION I—CONTRACT CLAUSES
 
ARTICLE I.1. GENERAL CLAUSES FOR A NEGOTIATED FIXED-PRICE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT—FAR 52.252-2, CLAUSES INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE (FEBRUARY 1998)
 
This contract incorporates the following clauses by reference with the same force and effect as if they were given full text. Upon request, the Contracting Officer will make their full text available. Also, the full text of a clause may be accessed electronically at this
address: http://www.arnet.gov/far/.
 
a. FEDERAL ACQUISITION REGULATION (FAR)(48 CFR CHAPTER 1) CLAUSES:
 
FAR CLAUSE

      
NO.

  

DATE

  

TITLE

52.202-1   Jul 2004   Definitions

52.203-3   Apr 1984   Gratuities (Over $100,000)

52.203-5   Apr 1984   Covenant Against Contingent Fees (Over $100,000)

52.203-6   Jul 1995   Restrictions on Subcontractor Sales to the Government (Over $100,000)

52.203-7   Jul 1995   Anti-Kickback Procedures (Over $100,000)

52.203-8   Jan 1997   Cancellation, Rescission, and Recovery of Funds for Illegal or Improper Activity (Over $100,000)

52.203-10   Jan 1997   Price or Fee Adjustment for Illegal or Improper Activity (Over $100,000)

52.203-12   Jun 2003   Limitation on Payments to Influence Certain Federal Transactions (Over $100,000)

52.204-4   Aug 2000   Printed or Copied Double-Sided on Recycled Paper (Over $100,000)

52.204-7   Oct 2003   Central Contractor Registration

52.209-6
  

Jul 1995
  

Protecting the Government’s Interests When Subcontracting With Contractors Debarred,
Suspended, or Proposed for Debarment (Over $25,000)

52.215-2   Jun 1999   Audit and Records—Negotiation (Over $100,000)

52.215-8   Oct 1997   Order of Precedence—Uniform Contract Format

52.215-10   Oct 1997   Price Reduction for Defective Cost or Pricing Data

52.215-12   Oct 1997   Subcontractor Cost or Pricing Data (Over $500,000)

52.215-14   Oct 1997   Integrity of Unit Prices (Over $100,000)

52.215-15   Oct 2004   Pension Adjustments and Asset Reversions

52.215-18   Oct 1997   Reversion or Adjustment of Plans for Post-Retirement Benefits (PRB) other than Pensions

52.215-19   Oct 1997   Notification of Ownership Changes

52.215-21   Oct 1997   Requirements for Cost or Pricing Data or Information Other Than Cost or Pricing Data—Modifications
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52.219-8                  May 2004              Utilization of Small Business Concerns (Over $100,000)

52.219-9   Jan 2002   Small Business Subcontracting Plan (Over $500,000)

52.219-16   Jan 1999   Liquidated Damages—Subcontracting Plan (Over $500,000)

52.222-3   Jun 2003   Convict Labor

52.222-26   Apr 2002   Equal Opportunity

52.222-35   Dec 2001   Equal Opportunity for Special Disabled Veterans, Veterans of the Vietnam Era, and Other Eligible Veterans

52.222-36   Jun 1998   Affirmative Action for Workers with Disabilities

52.222-37   Dec 2001   Employment Reports on Special Disabled Veterans, Veterans of the Vietnam Era, and Other Eligible Veterans

52.223-6   May 2001   Drug-Free Workplace

52.223-14   Aug 2003   Toxic Chemical Release Reporting (Over $100,000)

52.225-1   Jun 2003   Buy American Act—Supplies

52.225-13   Dec 2003   Restrictions on Certain Foreign Purchases

52.227-1   Jul 1995   Authorization and Consent, Alternate I (Apr 1984)

52.227-2   Aug 1996   Notice and Assistance Regarding Patent and Copyright Infringement (Over $100,000)

52.227-11   Jun 1997   Patent Rights—Retention by the Contractor (Short Form) (Note: In accordance with FAR 27.303(a)(2), paragraph (f) is modified to include the requirements in FAR 27.303(a)(2)(i) through (iv). The frequency of reporting in (i) is annual.

52.229-3   Apr 2003   Federal, State and Local Taxes (Over $100,000)

52.232-2   Apr 1984   Payments under Fixed-Price Research and Development Contracts

52.232-9   Apr 1984   Limitation on Withholding of Payments

52.232-17   Jun 1996   Interest (Over $100,000)

52.232-23   Jan 1986   Assignment of Claims

52.232-25   Oct 2003   Prompt Payment

52.232-33   Oct 2003   Payment by Electronic Funds Transfer—Central Contractor Registration

52.233-1   Jul 2002   Disputes

52.233-3   Aug 1996   Protest After Award

52.233-4   Oct 2004   Applicable Law for Breach of Contract Claim

52.242-13   Jul 1995   Bankruptcy (Over $100,000)

52.243-1   Aug 1987   Changes—Fixed Price, Alternate V (Apr 1984)

52.244-2   Aug 1998   Subcontracts *If written consent to subcontract is required, the identified subcontracts are listed in ARTICLE B, Advance Understandings.
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52.245-2      May 2004      Government Property (Fixed-Price Contracts)

52.246-23   Feb 1997   Limitation of Liability (Over $100,000)

52.249-2   Sep 1996   Termination for the Convenience of the Government (Fixed-Price)

52.249-9   Apr 1984   Default (Fixed-Price Research and Development)(Over $100,000)

52.253-1   Jan 1991   Computer Generated Forms
       

b.      DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES ACQUISITION REGULATION (HHSAR) (48 CFR CHAPTER 3)
CLAUSES:
       

HHSAR
CLAUSE    
NO.

  

DATE    

  

TITLE

352.202-1   Jan 2001   Definitions

352.232-9   Apr 1984   Withholding of Contract Payments

352.270-4   Jan 2001   Pricing of Adjustments

352.270-6   Jul 1991   Publications and Publicity

352.270-7   Jan 2001   Paperwork Reduction Act
       

[ End of GENERAL CLAUSES FOR A NEGOTIATED FIXED-PRICE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT—Rev.
10/2004].
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ARTICLE I.2 AUTHORIZED SUBSTITUTION OF CLAUSES
 
ARTICLE I.1. of this SECTION is hereby modified as follows:
 

THERE ARE NO APPLICABLE CLAUSES IN THIS SECTION.
 
ARTICLE I.3. ADDITIONAL CONTRACT CLAUSES
 
This contract incorporates the following clauses by reference, with the same force and effect, as if they were given in full text. Upon request, the contracting officer will make their full text available.
 
a. FEDERAL ACQUISITION REGULATION (FAR) (48 CFR CHAPTER 1) CLAUSES
 

(1) FAR 52.219-4, Notice of Price Evaluation Preference for HUBZone Small Business Concerns (OCTOBER 2004).
 
 “(c) Waiver of evaluation preference
 
 ¨ Offeror elects to waive the evaluation preference.”
 

(2) ALTERNATE I (JUNE 2003), FAR Clause 52.219-23, Notice of Price Evaluation Adjustment for Small Disadvantaged Business Concerns (JUNE 2003).
 
b. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES ACQUISITION REGULATION (HHSAR) (48 CHAPTER 3) CLAUSES:
 
 THERE ARE NO APPLICABLE CLAUSES IN THIS SECTION.
 
c. NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH (NIH) RESEARCH CONTRACTING (RC) CLAUSES:
 

The following clauses are attached and made a part of this contract:
 

(1) NIH (RC)-7, Procurement of Certain Equipment (APRIL 1984) (OMB Bulletin 81-16).
 
ARTICLE I.4. ADDITIONAL FAR CONTRACT CLAUSES INCLUDED IN FULL TEXT
 
 THERE ARE NO APPLICABLE CLAUSES IN THIS SECTION.
 

[End of Section I]
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PART III
 

SECTION J—LIST OF ATTACHMENTS
 
The following documents are attached and incorporated in this contract:
 
1. Statement of Work, March 8, 2005, 2 pages.
 
2. Invoice Instructions for NIH Fixed-Price Contracts, NIH(RC)-2, (5/97), 1 page.
 
3. Safety and Health, HHSAR Clause 352.223-70, (1/01), 1 page.
 
 
 

END of the SCHEDULE
(CONTRACT)
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STATEMENT OF WORK
 

Neutralizing Monoclonal Antibodies for Type A Botulinum Neurotoxins
 
This acquisition is being issued for services to develop and manufacture cGMP bulk drug substance for up to three human or human compatible mAbs (starting material to be provided by the offeror) with potency demonstrated in a standardized mouse protection
bioassay for botulinum neurotoxins A1 and A2.
 
A. Scope of Work
 
 

The Contractor shall provide services to accomplish each of the following milestones for one to three mAbs:
 
 1. Develop and produce a minimum of 200 vials each of cGMP master and working cell banks for each mAb, including a certificate of analysis (Offeror should provide a template certificate of analysis with proposal);
 2. Conduct process development to optimize formulation, yield (recommended minimum 400 mg mAb/L) and purity for each mAb;
 3. Develop and qualify analytical methods for concentration, identity, integrity, specificity, purity, potency, sterility, stability, and contaminant identity and levels for testing bulk product;
 4. Transfer analytical methods to the government or its designee.
 5. Prepare master production records for non-GMP pilot lots for approval by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), prior to initiation of non-GMP pilot lots;
 6. Prepare up to three pilot lots of sterile and mycoplasma free non-GMP material using planned cGMP manufacturing process for each mAb;
 7. Prepare and submit batch production records for each non-GMP pilot lot;
 8. Prepare master production records for cGMP bulk drug substance for NIAID approval, prior to initiation of cGMP bulk drug substance manufacturing;
 9. Manufacture cGMP bulk drug substance (minimum total yield should be 7 g per mAb, at a minimum final concentration of 30 mg/ml), including a certificate of analysis (Offeror should provide a template certificate of analysis with proposal);
 10. Prepare the chemistry, manufacturing, and control (CMC) data to be used as part of an Investigational New Drug (IND) application submitted to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) by NIAID; and
 11. Demonstrate that either a single mAb or a cocktail of mAbs retain affinity and give protection for botulinum neurotoxins A1 and A2 in the standardized mouse protection bioassay according to protocols approved by NIAID.
 
B. Deliverables
 
 1. Two hundred vials each of cGMP master and working cell banks for each mAb, including a certificate of analysis.
 2. Technical transfer of analytical assays to the government of its designee.
 3. Master production records for non-GMP pilot lots prior to initiation of non-GMP pilot lot production.
 4. Sterile and mycoplasma free non-GMP material produced from pilot lots that are not needed by the Contractor for development of analytical assays.
 5. Batch production records for non-GMP material.
 
 
Statement of Work  ATTACHMENT 1
(3/8/05)  Page 1
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 6. Master production records for cGMP bulk drug substance prior to initiation of cGMP bulk drug substance manufacturing.
 7. cGMP bulk drug substance (BDS) (approximately 7 g at a minimum concentration of 30 mg/ml) for each mAb that has passed all bulk drug substance product characterization and release testing.
 8. A certificate of analysis for cGMP bulk substance for each mAb.
 9. Prepare and submit to NIAID the CMC section to be filed as part of the NIAID IND application for submission to the FDA and provide responses to FDA enquiries regarding the CMC.
 10. Data that demonstrates that a single mAb or a cocktail of up to three mAbs retain the affinity and toxin-neutralizing characteristics for botulinum neurotoxins A1 and A2 in the standardized mouse bioassay according to protocols approved by

NIAID.
 11. Ship vials of master and working cell banks and bulk drug substance under cGMP conditions to a facility designated by NIAID.
 
 
Statement of Work  ATTACHMENT 1
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INVOICE INSTRUCTIONS FOR NIH FIXED-PRICE CONTRACTS, NIH(RC)-2
 
General The contractor shall submit vouchers or invoices as prescribed herein.
 
Format Standard Form l034, Public Voucher for Purchases and Services Other Than Personal, and Standard Form l035, Public Voucher for Purchases and Services Other than Personal—Continuation Sheet, or the payee’s letterhead or self-designed form should be
used to submit claims for reimbursement.
 
Number of Copies As indicated in the Invoice Submission Clause in the contract.
 
Frequency Invoices submitted in accordance with the Payment Clause shall be submitted upon delivery of goods or services unless otherwise authorized by the contracting officer.
 
Preparation and Itemization of the Invoice The invoice shall be prepared in ink or typewriter as follows:
 
 (a) Designated Billing Office and address
 
 (b) Invoice Number
 
 (c) Date of Invoice
 
 (d) Both the contract number and the ADB number (which appears in the upper left hand corner of the face page of the contract), and date
 
 (e) Payee’s name and address. Show the contractor’s name ( as it appears in the contract), correct address, and the title and phone number of the responsible official to whom payment is to be sent. When an approved assignment has been made by the

contractor, or a different payee has been designated, then insert the name and address of the payee instead of the contractor.
 
 (f) Description of goods or services, quantity, unit price, (where appropriate), and total amount.
 
 (g) Charges for freight or express shipments other than F.O.B. destination. (If shipped by freight or express and charges are more than $25, attach prepaid bill.)
 
 (h) Equipment If there is a contract clause authorizing the purchase of any item of equipment, the final invoice must contain a statement indicating that no item of equipment was purchased or include a completed NIH Form entitled, “Report of

Government Owned, Contractor Held Property.”
 
Currency All NIH contracts are expressed in United States dollars. Where payments are made in a currency other than United States dollars, billings on the contract shall be expressed, and payment by the United States Government shall be made, in that other
currency at amounts coincident with actual costs incurred. Currency fluctuations may not be a basis of gain or loss to the contractor. Notwithstanding the above, the total of all invoices paid under this contract may not exceed the United States dollars authorized.
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HHSAR 352.223-70 SAFETY AND HEALTH (JANUARY 2001)
 

 
(a) To help ensure the protection of the life and health of all persons, and to help prevent damage to property, the Contractor shall comply with all Federal, State and local laws and regulations applicable to the work being performed under this contract.

These laws are implemented and/or enforced by the Environmental Protection Agency, Occupational Safety and Health Administration and other agencies at the Federal, State and local levels (Federal, State and local regulatory/enforcement
agencies).

 

 
(b) Further, the Contractor shall take or cause to be taken additional safety measures as the Contracting Officer in conjunction with the project or other appropriate officer, determines to be reasonably necessary. If compliance with these additional

safety measures results in an increase or decrease in the cost or time required for performance of any part of work under this contract, an equitable adjustment will be made in accordance with the applicable “Changes” Clause set forth in this
contract.

 

 

(c) The Contractor shall maintain an accurate record of, and promptly report to the Contracting Officer, all accidents or incidents resulting in the exposure of persons to toxic substances, hazardous materials or hazardous operations; the injury or death
of any person; and/or damage to property incidental to work performed under the contract and all violations for which the Contractor has been cited by any Federal, State or local regulatory/enforcement agency. The report shall include a copy of the
notice of violation and the findings of any inquiry or inspection, and an analysis addressing the impact these violations may have on the work remaining to be performed. The report shall also state the required action(s), if any, to be taken to correct
any violation(s) noted by the Federal, State or local regulatory/enforcement agency and the time frame allowed by the agency to accomplish the necessary corrective action.

 

 
(d) If the Contractor fails or refuses to comply promptly with the Federal, State or local regulatory/enforcement agency’s directive(s) regarding any violation(s) and prescribed corrective action(s), the Contracting Officer may issue an order stopping all

or part of the work until satisfactory corrective action (as approved by the Federal, State or local regulatory/enforcement agencies) has been taken and documented to the Contracting Officer. No part of the time lost due to any stop work order shall
be subject to a claim for extension of time or costs or damages by the Contractor.

 
 (e) The Contractor shall insert the substance of this clause in each subcontract involving toxic substances, hazardous materials, or operations. Compliance with the provisions of this clause by subcontractors will be the responsibility of the Contractor.
 

(End of clause)
 
Safety and Health Clause
HHSAR 352.223-70, (1/01)  1  
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Subsidiaries of the Company

   

Jurisdiction of Organization

XOMA (Bermuda) Ltd.    Bermuda
XOMA Ireland Limited    Ireland
XOMA Technology Ltd.    Bermuda
XOMA (US) LLC    Delaware
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
 
 1) Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-113643, 333-112161, 333-107929, 333-07263, 333-50134, 333-59241, 333-60503, 333-74205, 333-84585, 333-

85607, 333-87227, 333-93029 and 333-30370) of XOMA Ltd.
 

 
2) Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-108306, 333-66171 and 333-39155) pertaining to the XOMA Ltd. 1981 Share Option Plan, the XOMA Ltd.

Restricted Share Plan, the XOMA Ltd. Management Incentive Compensation Plan, the XOMA Ltd. 1992 Directors Share Option Plan, the XOMA Ltd. 2002
Director Share Option Plan and the XOMA Ltd. 1998 Employee Share Purchase Plan

 
of our reports dated March 11, 2005, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of XOMA Ltd., XOMA Ltd. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of XOMA Ltd., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the
year ended December 31, 2004.
 

/s/    ERNST & YOUNG LLP
 
Palo Alto, California
March 11, 2005
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Certification
Pursuant to Section 302 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(A) And (B))
 
I, John L. Castello, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of XOMA Ltd.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f))) for the registrant and we have:
 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: March 14, 2005

 

/S/    JOHN L. CASTELLO        

 

 

John L. Castello
Chairman of the Board, President and

Chief Executive Officer
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Certification
Pursuant to Section 302 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(A) And (B))
 
I, Peter B. Davis, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of XOMA Ltd.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f))) for the registrant and we have:
 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: March 14, 2005

 

/S/    PETER B. DAVIS        

 

 

Peter B. Davis
Vice President, Finance and

Chief Financial Officer
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Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(A) And (B))
 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(a) and (b)), the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as an officer
of XOMA Ltd. (the “Company”) that the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the end of and for the periods covered by such Report.
 
Date: March 14, 2005

 

/S/    JOHN L. CASTELLO        

 

 

John L. Castello
Chairman of the Board, President and

Chief Executive Officer
 
This certification will not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such certification
will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates
it by reference.
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Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(A) And (B))
 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(a) and (b)), the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as an officer
of XOMA Ltd. (the “Company”) that the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the end of and for the periods covered by such Report.
 
Date: March 14, 2005

 

/S/    PETER B. DAVIS        

 
 

Peter B. Davis
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

 
This certification will not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such certification
will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates
it by reference.
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XOMA Reports 2004 Year-end Financial Results

*********************************************************************
RAPTIVA® Approved in EU, Launched Worldwide,

Chiron Oncology Collaboration IND Filed
 
Berkeley, CA – March 14, 2005 — XOMA Ltd. (Nasdaq: XOMA), a biopharmaceutical company that develops antibody and protein-based drugs for cancer, immunological
disorders and infectious diseases, today announced its financial results for the year ended December 31, 2004.
 
For the year 2004, the Company recorded a net loss of $78.9 million or $0.93 per share, compared with $58.7 million or $0.78 per share in 2003. The higher operating losses in
2004 are largely due to XOMA’s share of increased sales and marketing expenses associated with the first full year of product launch of RAPTIVA® in the United States. Total
revenues for 2004 were negatively impacted by the termination of agreements with Baxter and Onyx in the second half of 2003. These factors more than offset reductions in
R&D expenses from 2003 to 2004.
 
As of December 31, 2004, XOMA held $24.3 million in cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments, compared with $85.2 million at December 31, 2003. This reflects a
cash outflow from operations of $44.8 million and loan payments to Genentech, Inc. (NYSE: DNA) and Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (NASDAQ: MLNM) of $18.2
million. A $60 million convertible note offering was completed in February of 2005.
 
A more detailed discussion of the financials is provided below and in XOMA’s 10-K filing.
 
“2004 was a very challenging year,” said John L. Castello, president, chairman and CEO of XOMA, “but at the same time, we’ve made solid progress in our business strategy.
In addition to Genentech’s first full year of US RAPTIVA® sales for psoriasis, Serono gained EU approval and has launched the product in multiple countries with growing
worldwide sales. We entered into a major oncology collaboration with Chiron Corporation with a first IND filed in December of 2004, and we entered into another cancer-
related agreement with Aphton Corporation. Finally, we outlicensed our BPI and ING-1 products to development partners. These transactions strengthen our pipeline, bring
financial benefits and diversify our development risks.”
 
Key 2004 events:
 
•  XOMA initiated a worldwide, exclusive, multi-product, collaborative agreement with Chiron Corporation (NASDAQ: CHIR) to develop and commercialize antibody

products for the treatment of cancer. In December of 2004, XOMA and Chiron filed an IND for the first investigational drug developed from this program.
 
•  XOMA and Aphton Corporation (NASDAQ: APHT) signed a collaboration agreement to develop treatments for gastrointestinal cancers using anti-gastrin monoclonal

antibodies.
 
•  XOMA restructured its arrangement with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on MLN2222 so that XOMA will not participate in development costs after the completion of

Phase I clinical testing. XOMA will continue to manufacture product at Millennium’s request and cost and will be entitled to potential milestones and a royalty on sales if
the product is marketed.
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•  The Company outlicensed two product candidates in 2004. Zephyr Sciences, Inc. in-licensed XOMA’s BPI platform, including NEUPREX®, but not including BPI-derived

peptide compounds. Triton BioSystems, Inc. in-licensed the ING-1 antibody for cancer to use as a targeting molecule with its Targeted Nano-Therapeutics™ (TNT™)
System.

 
•  Serono, SA (virt-x: SEO and NYSE: SRA) received European Commission Marketing Authorisation for RAPTIVA®, bringing the total number of countries in which

RAPTIVA® is approved to more than 30. In late 2004, Serono began selling the drug in more than a dozen countries worldwide.
 
•  For the first full year of US FDA approval, worldwide sales of RAPTIVA® totaled approximately $57 million.
 
•  A Phase II trial of RAPTIVA® in psoriatic arthritis patients showed the drug to be safe and well tolerated, but failed to show a statistically significant benefit after 12

weeks of treatment.
 
•  Preliminary results of a Phase II trial of the XMP.629 acne gel failed to demonstrate a statistically significant clinical benefit, despite promising results in Phase I studies.

Although the drug appeared safe and well-tolerated, there was no statistically meaningful dose response and response in the placebo vehicle group was higher than
expected. XOMA is analyzing the data further before deciding how to proceed.

 
Key events of early 2005
 
•  In January, XOMA restructured its US RAPTIVA® arrangement with Genentech (NYSE: DNA), replacing its US profit and loss sharing arrangement with a royalty on

sales beginning in 2005. Genentech also discharged XOMA’s $40.9 million long-term note obligation, which XOMA will recognize as other income in the first quarter of
2005. This revised agreement is effective January 1, 2005, and as a result, RAPTIVA® will become immediately profitable for XOMA beginning in the first quarter of
2005.

 
•  In February, XOMA completed a $60.0 million convertible senior notes financing to qualified institutional buyers. The company estimates that it now has sufficient cash

resources to meet its net cash needs through at least the end of 2008. Any significant revenue shortfalls, increases in planned spending or development programs, lower
sales of RAPTIVA®, additional licensing arrangements, collaborations or financing arrangements could potentially shorten or extend this period.

 
•  Final results of a three-year study of RAPTIVA® in moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis patients, which were presented at the American Association of Dermatologists

meeting in February, provided additional confirmation of the long-term safety and continued treatment benefit of the product. Furthermore, Genentech has recently
disclosed its intention to initiate clinical testing in atopic dermatitis.

 
•  In March, XOMA was awarded a $15.0 million contract from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), a part of the National Institutes of Health

(NIH), to produce three botulism neurotoxin monoclonal antibodies designed to protect US citizens against the harmful effects of biological agents used in bioterrorism.
 
“The Genentech restructuring is an important step in our goal of achieving profitability over the next few years, while further strengthening our development pipeline,” said
Peter B. Davis, XOMA’s vice president of finance and chief financial officer. “Our objective with the recent financing is to have sufficient funding to see us through to
profitability. These objectives are challenging, but the recent award from NIAID indicates that we’re off to a good start.”
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Financial Discussion
 
Revenues:
 
Total revenues for 2004 were $3.7 million compared with $24.4 million in 2003. License and collaborative fees revenues were $3.6 million in 2004 compared with $18.9 million
in 2003. The 2003 figure reflects a $10.0 million dollar fee from Baxter as a result of the termination of agreements related to the licensing and development of the NEUPREX®

product, as well as license fees from several bacterial cell expression technology license arrangements. Revenues from contract and other revenues were $0.1 million in 2004,
compared with $5.5 million in 2003, reflecting the impact of the termination of agreements with Baxter and Onyx. The $10.0 million upfront payment received from Chiron
related to a collaboration agreement in oncology that was initiated in February of 2004 is being recognized as revenue over the five year expected term of the agreement.
 
Revenues for the next several years will be largely determined by the timing and extent of royalties generated by worldwide sales of RAPTIVA® and by the establishment and
nature of future manufacturing, outlicensing and collaboration arrangements.
 
Expenses:
 
In 2004, research and development expenses were $49.8 million, compared with $61.1 million in 2003. The $11.3 million decrease in 2004 compared with 2003 primarily
reflects reduced spending on RAPTIVA® following its US psoriasis approval and the discontinuation of the Millennium collaboration product MLN2201, as well as smaller
decreases in spending on MLN2222, ING-1 and NEUPREX®. These reductions were partially offset by increased spending on the oncology collaboration with Chiron, the TPO-
mimetic antibody collaboration with Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (NASDAQ: ALXN), the Aphton anti-gastrin antibody collaboration, the XMP.629 acne compound, and new
product research. Beyond this, the scope and magnitude of future research and development expenses are difficult to predict at this time.
 
In 2004, general and administrative expenses were $15.6 million compared with $13.4 million in 2003. This $2.2 million increase resulted primarily from higher business
development expenses and costs associated with implementing procedures and staffing necessary to meet the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 
In 2004, collaborative arrangement expenses (relating exclusively to RAPTIVA®) were $16.4 million compared with $7.5 million in 2003. These amounts reflect XOMA’s 25%
share of commercialization costs for RAPTIVA® in excess of Genentech’s revenues less cost of goods sold, research and development cost sharing adjustments, and royalties on
sales outside the US. Because of the restructuring of the arrangement with Genentech, from 2005 forward, XOMA will not share in operating costs or R&D expenses relating to
this product, but will receive royalties on worldwide sales.
 
Long-term Debt
 
At December 31, 2004, XOMA’s balance sheet reflected a $40.9 million long-term note due to Genentech, which was extinguished under the restructuring announced in
January 2005. In February of 2005, XOMA issued $60 million of 6.5% convertible senior notes due in 2012.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31, 2004, were $24.3 million compared with $85.2 million at December 31, 2003. This $60.9 million decrease
primarily reflects cash used in operations of $44.8 million, a $13.2 million payment on the short-term loan obligation to Genentech, a $5.0 million cash payment of convertible
debt to Millennium and a $2.6 million investment in property and equipment which were partially offset by proceeds from issuance of common shares of $5.1 million.
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Net cash used in operating activities was $44.8 million in 2004, compared with $47.8 million in 2003. This decrease reflected a higher net loss that was offset by a $10.0 million
termination payment received in January of 2004 from Baxter and $8.3 million in deferred revenue remaining from the $10.0 million received from Chiron in 2004 related to
the initiation of the collaboration agreement in oncology in February of 2004.
 
Product Highlights
 
RAPTIVA® (Efalizumab): Collaboration with Genentech, Inc.
 
RAPTIVA® was developed in the US through a partnership between Genentech and XOMA, and received FDA approval in October of 2003 as the first FDA-approved biologic
therapy to provide continuous control of chronic moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis in adults age 18 or older who are candidates for systemic therapy or phototherapy. Patients
can self-administer the drug as a single, once weekly subcutaneous injection after training by a healthcare professional. US sales of RAPTIVA® in 2004 were approximately $57
million.
 
A Phase II trial of RAPTIVA® in psoriatic arthritis patients failed to show a statistically significant benefit after 12 weeks of treatment. These results point to a disease
mechanism for psoriatic arthritis different from that addressed by RAPTIVA® in psoriasis. Genentech is continuing clinical testing of RAPTIVA® in psoriasis patients and has
disclosed its intention to initiate clinical testing in atopic dermatitis.
 
Outside the United States and Japan, RAPTIVA® is sold by Serono, which announced in October of 2004 that it had received European Commission Marketing Authorisation
for RAPTIVA® in patients with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis for whom other systemic treatments or phototherapy have been inadequate or inappropriate. Serono
received additional international approvals in 2004 and is now marketing the product in over a dozen countries worldwide.
 
Oncology Therapeutic Antibodies Program: Collaboration with Chiron Corporation
 
In March of 2004, Chiron and XOMA announced a worldwide, exclusive, multiple product, collaborative agreement to develop and commercialize antibody products for the
treatment of cancer. Under the agreement, the companies will jointly research, develop, and commercialize multiple antibody product candidates, sharing development and
commercialization expenses, as well as revenues, generally on a 70-30 basis, with XOMA’s share being 30 percent.
 
Financial terms include an initial payment to XOMA of $10.0 million and a loan facility of up to $50.0 million to fund up to 75 percent of XOMA’s share of development
expenses. Chiron’s profit share is subject to a limited upward adjustment, which in turn may be reduced if XOMA achieves certain milestones or if Chiron elects to extend the
program.
 
An IND for CHIR 12.12, an anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody was filed in December of 2004. This is the first drug candidate emerging from this program, and Phase I testing is
expected to begin in the first quarter of 2005. In December of 2004, data on CHIR 12.12 were presented at the American Society of Hematologists (ASH) from several
preclinical studies that showed potent anti-tumor effects through blockade of CD40 signaling and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), in preclinical models of
multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin’s B-cell lymphoma. In addition, these studies demonstrate the ability of CHIR 12.12 to work synergistically with rituximab and to ablate
rituximab-resistant tumors. The results from preclinical toxicology testing so far have been very encouraging.
 
BPI Program: NEUPREX® licensed to Zephyr Sciences, Inc.
 
In November of 2004, XOMA entered into an exclusive worldwide licensing agreement with Zephyr Sciences, Inc. for the research, development and commercialization of
products related to BPI, including the NEUPREX® product. Under the terms of the agreement, XOMA will be entitled to receive license fees totaling up to $11.0 million and
milestones totaling up to $61.9 million, as
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well as royalties on sales of future sales of products developed and approved under the agreement. The agreement includes due diligence provisions related to the development
of BPI in multiple indications, and Zephyr will fund all future research and development activities. The agreement does not cover BPI-derived peptide products.
 
MLN2222: Collaboration with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 
XOMA and Millennium are continuing to develop MLN2222 (formerly CAB-2), a complement inhibitor, to reduce the incidence of complications in patients undergoing
surgical procedures involving the use of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) and a heart-lung bypass machine. MLN2222 is a novel, proprietary recombinant protein that blocks
both C3 and C5 convertases, which are essential components of the complement activation pathway.
 
A Phase I study initiated in December of 2003 is the first of two planned Phase I trials to evaluate the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of
MLN2222 in healthy volunteers. The overall Phase I program, being conducted in the United States, will involve approximately 100 healthy volunteers and CABG surgery
patients and is expected to continue throughout 2005.
 
Anti-gastrin Mab with Aphton
 
In September of 2004, we announced a worldwide collaboration with Aphton Corporation to develop treatments for gastrointestinal (“GI”) and other gastrin-sensitive cancers
using anti-gastrin monoclonal antibodies. Antibodies to be developed under the collaboration will bind and neutralize the hormone gastrin 17 that is believed to be involved in
tumor progression in GI cancers. Gastrin expression and the appearance of gastrin receptors have been associated with increasing malignant characteristics of GI tumors and
with poorer prognostic outcomes. Specifically, gastrin has been shown to be involved in the progression of colorectal, stomach, liver and pancreatic cancers, and thus, inhibiting
gastrin may inhibit such growth.
 
ING-1 Licensed to Triton
 
In October of 2004, Triton BioSystems, Inc. and XOMA announced that Triton had in-licensed the exclusive worldwide rights to commercially use XOMA’s proprietary anti-
tumor ING-1 monoclonal antibody with Triton’s Targeted Nano-Therapeutics™ (TNT™) System. The TNT™ System ablates tumors while sparing surrounding normal tissue, by
using tiny magnetic spheres delivered systemically with antibodies. The tiny spheres within the tumors are induced to heat by a localized externally applied magnetic field. ING-
1, a Human Engineered™ monoclonal antibody with high affinity to the Ep-CAM antigen, is expressed in high concentrations on many adenocarcinoma tumor cells. The
combination of the ING-1 antibody with the TNT™ System is intended to create a novel, highly selective, safe, and effective treatment for adenocarcinomas, such as breast,
colorectal, lung, ovary and prostate cancers.
 
XMP.629 for acne
 
Despite previous positive preclinical and Phase I studies, preliminary results of a Phase II trial with XMP.629 gel in 262 mild-to-moderate acne patients showed an inconclusive
clinical benefit of XMP.629 compared to vehicle gel. There was no discernable dose response and the vehicle (placebo) response was higher than anticipated. The drug appeared
safe and well-tolerated. XOMA is conducting additional preclinical studies to determine how to proceed.
 
TPO Mimetic: Collaboration with Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 
Alexion (NASDAQ: ALXN) and XOMA have undertaken a collaboration to develop and commercialize a rationally designed human TPO mimetic antibody as a treatment for
chemotherapy-induced thrombocytopenia. The original antibody, discovered at Alexion Antibody Technologies (AAT), a wholly owned subsidiary of Alexion, was designed to
mimic the activity of human thrombopoietin (TPO), a naturally occurring protein responsible for platelet production, but without inducing the immunological response seen with
recombinant TPO. In preclinical studies
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the original drug candidate did not meet pre-set criteria for further development, so XOMA and Alexion are screening other potential antibodies for possible further
development.
 
Investor Conference Call
 
XOMA has scheduled an investor conference call regarding this announcement to be held today, March 15, 2005, beginning at 4:00 PM EST (1:00 P.M. PST). Investors are
invited to listen to the conference call by phone or via XOMA’s website, http://www.xoma.com/. The domestic dial-in number (U.S./Canada) for the live call is 1-877-869-7222
and the conference ID number is 4092619. The international dial-in number is 1-706-679-5933 and uses the same dial-in conference I.D. number. To listen to the call via the
Internet, go to XOMA’s website a few minutes before the start of the call to register, download, and install any necessary audio software. The audio replay of the call will be
available beginning two hours following the conclusion of the webcast through 6:00 p.m. EST (3:00 p.m. PST) on April 15, 2005. Access numbers for the replay are 1-800-642-
1687 (U.S./Canada) or 1-706-645-9291 (International); Conference I.D. 4092619.
 
About XOMA
 
XOMA develops and commercializes antibody and other protein-based biopharmaceuticals for cancer, immune disorders and infectious diseases. The company pipeline
includes collaborative product development programs with Chiron Corporation, Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Aphton Corporation and Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and
also includes RAPTIVA®, a product marketed worldwide that came from a collaboration with Genentech, Inc. For more information about XOMA’s product pipeline and
antibody product development capabilities and technologies, please visit XOMA’s website at http://www.xoma.com/.
 
Certain statements contained herein related to the sufficiency of XOMA’s cash resources, the company’s potential for profitability, future revenues and future sales and
development of RAPTIVA® , as well as other statements related to the progress and timing of product development, present or future licensing, collaborative or financing
arrangements or that otherwise relate to future periods, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements are based on assumptions that may not prove accurate. Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated due to
certain risks inherent in the biotechnology industry and for companies engaged in the development of new products in a regulated market.
 
Among other things, the sufficiency of cash resources could be shortened if expenditures are made earlier or in larger amounts than anticipated or are unanticipated or if funds
are not available on acceptable terms; the Company’s ability to achieve profitability will depend on the success of the sales efforts for RAPTIVA®, the Company’s ability to
effectively anticipate and manage its expenditures and the availability of capital market and other financing; future revenues will be largely determined by the timing and extent
of royalties generated by worldwide sales of RAPTIVA® and by the establishment and nature of future manufacturing, outlicensing and collaboration arrangements; the sales
efforts for RAPTIVA® may not be successful if Genentech or its partner, Serono SA, fails to meet its commercialization goals, due to the strength of the competition, if
physicians do not adopt the product as treatment for their patients or if any important remaining regulatory approvals are not obtained; and future development of RAPTIVA®

may not be successful for reasons related to safety or efficacy.
 
These and other risks, including those related to the results of pre-clinical testing, the timing or results of pending and future clinical trials (including the design and progress
of clinical trials; safety and efficacy of the products being tested; action, inaction or delay by the FDA, European or other regulators or their advisory bodies; and analysis or
interpretation by, or submission to, these entities or others of scientific data), changes in the status of the existing collaborative relationships, availability of additional
licensing or collaboration opportunities, the ability of collaborators and other partners to meet their obligations, market demand for products, scale up and marketing
capabilities, competition, international operations, share price volatility, XOMA’s financing needs and opportunities, uncertainties regarding the status of biotechnology
patents, uncertainties as to the cost of protecting intellectual property and risks associated with XOMA’s status as a Bermuda company, are described in more detail in the
Company’s most recent annual report on Form 10-K and in other SEC filings.
 

Condensed Financial Statements Follow
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XOMA Ltd.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

 
ASSETS        

Current assets:          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,808  $ 84,812 
Short-term investments    511   436 
Receivables    707   10,625 
Related party receivables    167   94 
Prepaid expenses    1,414   1,267 

    
Total current assets    26,607   97,234 

Property and equipment, net    19,306   21,337 
Related party receivables—long-term    188   120 
Deposits    159   159 
    

Total assets   $ 46,260  $ 118,850 
    

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
(NET CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)        

Current liabilities:          
Accounts payable   $ 1,919  $ 5,058 
Accrued liabilities    19,331   6,163 
Notes payable    116   13,343 
Capital lease obligations    237   520 
Deferred revenue    2,000   90 
Convertible note    —     5,284 

    
Total current liabilities    23,603   30,458 

Capital lease obligations—long-term    —     272 
Deferred revenue—long-term    6,333   —   
Interest bearing obligation—long-term    40,934   39,906 
    

Total liabilities    70,870   70,636 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)          

Shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency):          
Preference shares, $.05 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized          

Series A, 135,000 designated, no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003    —     —   
Series B, 8,000 designated, 2,959 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003; aggregate liquidation preference of

$29.6 million    1   1 
Common shares, $.0005 par value, 135,000,000 shares authorized, 85,587,174 and 83,998,697 shares outstanding at December 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively    43   42 
Additional paid-in capital    653,537   647,534 
Accumulated comprehensive income    280   166 
Accumulated deficit    (678,471)  (599,529)

    
Total shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency)    (24,610)  48,214 

    
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (net capital deficiency)   $ 46,260  $ 118,850 
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XOMA Ltd.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2003

  

2002

 
Revenues:              

License and collaborative fees   $ 3,573  $ 18,946  $ 16,850 
Contract and other revenues    92   5,466   13,099 

     
Total revenues    3,665   24,412   29,949 

     
Operating costs and expenses:              

Research and development    49,784   61,063   42,817 
General and administrative    15,604   13,436   16,491 
Collaboration arrangement    16,373   7,451   2,718 

     
Total operating costs and expenses    81,761   81,950   62,026 

     
Loss from operations    (78,096)  (57,538)  (32,077)

Other income (expense):              
Investment and interest income    499   461   871 
Interest expense    (1,229)  (1,875)  (2,041)
Other income (expense)    (116)  299   —   

     
Net loss   $(78,942) $(58,653) $(33,247)

     

Basic and diluted net loss per common share   $ (0.93) $ (0.78) $ (0.47)
     
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share    84,857   75,070   70,355 
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